
 

 
 
 

 
Monday, 5 March 2018 

 
TO: COUNCILLORS 
 

I MORAN, Y GAGEN, C COOPER, J FORSHAW, J HODSON, 
K WILKIE, K WRIGHT AND A YATES 
 

 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held in the CABINET/COMMITTEE ROOM, 52 DERBY 
STREET, ORMSKIRK L39 2DF on TUESDAY, 13 MARCH 2018 at 7.00 PM at which your 
attendance is requested. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Kim Webber 
Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
(Open to the Public) 

 
1.   APOLOGIES   

 
 

2.   SPECIAL URGENCY (RULE 16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES)/URGENT BUSINESS  
If, by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken, it has not 
been possible to follow Rule 15 (i.e. a matter which is likely to be the 
subject of a key decision has not been included on the Forward Plan) 
then the decision may still be taken if: 
 

a) The Borough Solicitor, on behalf of the Leader, obtains the 
agreement of the Chairman of the Executive Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that the making of the decision cannot be 

 

Kim Webber B.Sc. M.Sc. 
Chief Executive 
 

52 Derby Street 
Ormskirk 
West Lancashire 
L39 2DF 
 



 

reasonably deferred, 
 

b) The Borough Solicitor, on behalf of the Leader, makes available 
on the Council’s website and at the offices of the Council, a 
notice setting out the reasons that the decision is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

If a member requires advice on Declarations of Interest, he/she is 
advised to contact the Borough Solicitor in advance of the meeting.  
(For the assistance of members a checklist for use in considering their 
position on any particular item is included at the end of this agenda 
sheet.) 
 

1283 - 1284 

4.   PUBLIC SPEAKING  
Residents of West Lancashire, on giving notice, may address the 
meeting to make representations on any item on the agenda except 
where the public and press are to be excluded during consideration of 
the item.  The deadline for submissions is 10.00am on Friday 9 March 
2018.  
 

1285 - 1288 

5.   MINUTES  
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings of 
Cabinet 
 

 9 January 2018 

 28 February 2018 (Extraordinary)  
 

1289 - 1304 

6.   ITEM REFERRED FROM THE CORPORATE & ENVIRONMENTAL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - FLOODING IN THE 
BOROUGH   
(Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor J Hodson) 
 

 
 
 

1305 - 1308 

7.   MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS   
 

 

7a Use of S106 Monies in Skelmersdale  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Y Gagen) 
 

1309 - 1316 

7b Risk Management  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor A Yates) 
 

1317 - 1336 

7c General Revenue Account Budget Monitoring  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor A Yates) 
 

1337 - 1340 

7d HRA Revenue and Capital Monitoring  
(Relevant Portfolio Holders: Councillor J Forshaw and A Yates) 
 

1341 - 1348 

7e Developing an Ormskirk Business Improvement District  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran) 
 

1349 - 1392 

7f Quarterly Performance Indicators (Q3 2017/18)  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran) 

1393 - 1412 



 

 
7g Corporate Performance Management 2018/19  

(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran) 
 

1413 - 1424 

7h Council Plan 2018/19 - 2020/2021  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran) 
 

1425 - 1450 

7i Ormskirk Night Markets and Town Centre Events  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor J Hodson) 
 

1451 - 1456 

7j Property Compliance Policies  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor J Forshaw) 
 

1457 - 1514 

7k Homelessness Reduction Act 2017  
(Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor K Wright) 
 

1515 - 1530 

 
 
 
 
We can provide this document, upon request, on audiotape, in large print, in Braille 
and in other languages.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE: Please see attached sheet. 
MOBILE PHONES: These should be switched off or to ‘silent’ at all meetings. 
 
For further information, please contact:- 
Sue Griffiths on 01695 585097 
Or email susan.griffiths@westlancs.gov.uk 



 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE FOR: 
COUNCIL MEETINGS WHERE OFFICERS ARE PRESENT  

(52 DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK) 
 

PERSON IN CHARGE:  Most Senior Officer Present 
ZONE WARDEN:   Member Services Officer / Lawyer 
DOOR WARDEN(S)  Usher / Caretaker 

 
IF YOU DISCOVER A FIRE 

 
1.  Operate the nearest FIRE CALL POINT by breaking the glass. 
2.  Attack the fire with the extinguishers provided only if you have been trained and it is 

safe to do so. Do not take risks. 
 

ON HEARING THE FIRE ALARM 
 

1.  Leave the building via the NEAREST SAFE EXIT. Do not stop to collect personal 
belongings. 

2.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT on the car park and report your presence to the 
PERSON IN CHARGE. 

3.  Do NOT return to the premises until authorised to do so by the PERSON IN 
CHARGE. 

 
NOTES: 
Officers are required to direct all visitors regarding these procedures i.e. exit routes and 
place of assembly. 
The only persons not required to report to the Assembly Point are the Door Wardens. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR PERSON IN CHARGE 
 

1.  Advise other interested parties present that you are the person in charge in the event 
of an evacuation. 

2. Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire escape routes and informed any 
interested parties of the escape routes. 

3.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the assembly point and informed any 
interested parties of that location. 

4.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire alarm and detection control panel. 
5.  Ensure that the zone warden and door wardens are aware of their roles and 

responsibilities. 
6.  Arrange for a register of attendance to be completed (if considered appropriate / 

practicable). 
 

IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE, OR THE FIRE ALARM BEING SOUNDED 
 

1.  Ensure that the room in which the meeting is being held is cleared of all persons. 
2.  Evacuate via the nearest safe Fire Exit and proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT in the 

car park. 
3.  Delegate a person at the ASSEMBLY POINT who will proceed to HOME CARE LINK 

in order to ensure that a back-up call is made to the FIRE BRIGADE. 
4.  Delegate another person to ensure that DOOR WARDENS have been posted outside 

the relevant Fire Exit Doors. 



 

5.  Ensure that the ZONE WARDEN has reported to you on the results of his checks, i.e. 
that the rooms in use have been cleared of all persons. 

6.  If an Attendance Register has been taken, take a ROLL CALL. 
7.  Report the results of these checks to the Fire and Rescue Service on arrival and 

inform them of the location of the FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL. 
8.  Authorise return to the building only when it is cleared to do so by the FIRE AND 

RESCUE SERVICE OFFICER IN CHARGE. Inform the DOOR WARDENS to allow 
re-entry to the building. 

 
NOTE: 
The Fire Alarm system will automatically call the Fire Brigade. The purpose of the 999 
back-up call is to meet a requirement of the Fire Precautions Act to supplement the 
automatic call. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR ZONE WARDEN 
 

1.  Carry out a physical check of the rooms being used for the meeting, including 
adjacent toilets, kitchen. 

2.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS, both officers and members of the public are made 
aware of the FIRE ALERT. 

3.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS evacuate IMMEDIATELY, in accordance with the FIRE 
EVACUATION PROCEDURE. 

4.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT and report to the PERSON IN CHARGE that the 
rooms within your control have been cleared. 

5.  Assist the PERSON IN CHARGE to discharge their duties. 
 
It is desirable that the ZONE WARDEN should be an OFFICER who is normally based in 
this building and is familiar with the layout of the rooms to be checked. 
 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR DOOR WARDENS 
 

1.  Stand outside the FIRE EXIT DOOR(S) 
2.  Keep the FIRE EXIT DOOR SHUT. 
3.  Ensure that NO PERSON, whether staff or public enters the building until YOU are 

told by the PERSON IN CHARGE that it is safe to do so. 
4.  If anyone attempts to enter the premises, report this to the PERSON IN CHARGE. 
5.  Do not leave the door UNATTENDED. 
 
 





MEMBERS INTERESTS 2012 

A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter considered at a meeting must disclose the interest to 
the meeting at which they are present, except where it has been entered on the Register. 
A Member with a non pecuniary or pecuniary interest in any business of the Council must disclose the existence and 
nature of that interest at commencement of consideration or when the interest becomes apparent. 
Where sensitive information relating to an interest is not registered in the register, you must indicate that you have an 
interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information. 

Please tick relevant boxes         Notes 

 General    

1. I have a disclosable pecuniary interest.  You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 below 

2. I have a non-pecuniary interest.  You may speak and vote 

3. I have a pecuniary interest because 

it affects my financial position or the financial position of a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

or 

it relates to the determining of any approval consent, 
licence, permission or registration in relation to me or a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

4. 

 

I have a disclosable pecuniary interest (Dispensation 
20/09/16) or a pecuniary interest but it relates to the 
functions of my Council in respect of: 

  

(i) Housing where I am a tenant of the Council, and those 
functions do not relate particularly to my tenancy or lease. 

 You may speak and vote 

(ii) school meals, or school transport and travelling expenses 
where I am a parent or guardian of a child in full time 
education, or are a parent governor of a school, and it does 
not relate particularly to the school which the child attends. 

 

 

 

You may speak and vote 

(iii) Statutory sick pay where I am in receipt or entitled to receipt 
of such pay.  

 You may speak and vote 

(iv) An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(v) Any ceremonial honour given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(vi) Setting Council tax or a precept under the LGFA 1992  You may speak and vote 

5. A Standards Committee dispensation applies (relevant lines 
in the budget – Dispensation 20/09/16 – 19/09/20) 

 See the terms of the dispensation 

6. I have a pecuniary interest in the business but I can attend 
to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
as the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the 
same purpose 

 You may speak but must leave the 
room once you have finished and 
cannot vote 

‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ (DPI) means an interest of a description specified below which is your 
interest, your spouse’s or civil partner’s or the interest of somebody who you are living with as a husband 
or wife, or as if you were civil partners and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

Interest Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant 
authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of 
M. Page 1283

Agenda Item 3



 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)— 

 (a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body 

corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant 

person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income; “M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives notice to the Monitoring Officer of a DPI; 

“relevant person” means M or M’s spouse or civil partner, a person with whom M is living as husband or wife or a person with 

whom M is living as if they were civil partners;  

 “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the 

meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited 

with a building society. 

‘non pecuniary interest’ means interests falling within the following descriptions: 
10.1(1)(i) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and 

to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
 (ii) Any body (a) exercising functions of a public nature; (b) directed to charitable purposes; or (c) 

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union), of which you are a member or in a position of 
general control or management; 

 (iii) Any easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right 
for you (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income. 

10.2(2) A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-
being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a connected person to a 
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision. 

‘a connected person’ means  
(a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association, or 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner, or any company of which they are directors; 
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 

exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 10.1(1)(i) or (ii). 
‘body exercising functions of a public nature’ means 
Regional and local development agencies, other government agencies, other Councils, public health 
bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions, arms length management organisations 
carrying out housing functions on behalf of your authority, school governing bodies. 
A Member with a personal interest who has made an executive decision in relation to that matter must 
ensure any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest. 
NB  Section 21(13) of the LGA 2000 overrides any Code provisions to oblige an executive member to 
attend an overview and scrutiny meeting to answer questions. 

Page 1284



 

PUBLIC SPEAKING – PROTOCOL 

(For meetings of Cabinet, Overview & Scrutiny Committees, Audit & 

Governance Committee and Standards Committee) 

1.0 Public Speaking 

1.1 Residents of West Lancashire may, on giving notice, address any of the 
above meetings to make representations on any item on the agenda for those 
meetings, except where the public and press are to be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the item. 

 
1.2 The form attached as an Appendix to this Protocol should be used for 

submitting requests. 

2.0 Deadline for submission 

2.1 The prescribed form should be received by Member Services by 10.00 am on 
the Friday of the week preceding the meeting.  This can be submitted by e-
mail to member.services@westlancs.gov.uk or by sending to: 

Member Services 
West Lancashire Borough Council 
52 Derby Street 
Ormskirk 
West Lancashire  
L39 2DF  

 

2.2 Completed forms will be collated by Member Services and circulated via e-
mail to relevant Members and officers and published on the Council website 
via Modgov.  Only the name of the resident and details of the issue to be 
raised will be published. 

 
2.3 Groups of persons with similar views should elect a spokesperson to speak 

on their behalf to avoid undue repetition of similar points.  Spokespersons 
should identify in writing on whose behalf they are speaking. 

 

3.0 Scope 

3.1 Any matters raised must be relevant to an item on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
3.2 The Borough Solicitor may reject a submission if it: 

(i)  is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
(ii)  is substantially the same as representations which have already been 

submitted at a previous meeting; or 
(iii)  discloses or requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt 

information. 
 

 

Page 1285

Agenda Item 4

mailto:member.services@westlancs.gov.uk


 

 

4.0 Number of items 

 

4.1 A maximum of one form per resident will be accepted for each Agenda Item. 
 
4.2 There will be a maximum of 10 speakers per meeting. Where there are more 

than 10 forms submitted by residents, the Borough Solicitor will prioritise the 
list of those allowed to speak.  This will be considered having regard to all 
relevant matters including: 

 
a. The order in which forms were received. 
b. If one resident has asked to speak on a number of items, priority will be 

given to other residents who also wish to speak 
c. Whether a request has been submitted in relation to the same issue. 

 
4.3 All submissions will be circulated to Members of the relevant body and officers 

for information, although no amendments will be made to the list of speakers 
once it has been compiled (regardless of withdrawal of a request to speak).  

 

5.0 At the Meeting 

 

5.1 Speakers will be shown to their seats.  At the commencement of 
consideration of each agenda item the Leader/Chairman will invite members 
of the public to make their representations.  Residents will have up to 3 
minutes to address the meeting.   The address must reflect the issue included 
on the prescribed form submitted in advance.   

 
5.2 Members may discuss what the speaker has said along with all other 

information, when all public speakers on that item have finished and will then 
make a decision.  Speakers should not circulate any supporting 
documentation at the meeting and should not enter into a debate with 
Councillors.   

 
5.4 If residents feel nervous or uncomfortable speaking in public, then they can 

ask someone else to do it for them.  They can also bring an interpreter if 
they need one.  They should be aware there may be others speaking as 
well. 

 
5.5 Speakers may leave the meeting at any time, taking care not to disturb the 

meeting. 

 

(Please see attached form.) 

Page 1286



 

 

REQUEST FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING AT MEETINGS 

 

 

MEETING & DATE ………………………………………………………………… 

 

NAME   …………………………………………………………………………. 

ADDRESS …………………………………………………………………………. 

  …………………………………………………………………………. 

  Post Code …………………………………………. 

PHONE ……………………………………………………… 

Email  ……………………………………………………… 

 

 

Please indicate if you will be in attendance at the  
meeting 
     

   
 

Note:  This page will not be published. 

 

                                                  (P.T.O.) 

 
 
 
 

YES/NO* 

*delete as applicable 

 

Page 1287



PLEASE PROVIDE DETAILS OF THE MATTER YOU WISH TO RAISE 
 
Agenda Item  Number …………………. 
    

Title …………………………………………………….. 
 
Details   ……………………………………………………………. 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Name …………………………………            Dated ……………………… 
 
 
Completed forms to be submitted by 10.00am on the Friday of the week 
preceding the meeting to:- 
 
Member Services, West Lancashire Borough Council, 52 Derby Street, 
Ormskirk, Lancashire, L39 2DF or 
Email: member.services@westlancs.gov.uk 
 
If you require any assistance regarding your attendance at a meeting 
(including access) or if you have any queries regarding your submission 
please contact Member Services on 01695 585065 
 
Note:  This page will be published. 

Page 1288

mailto:member.services@westlancs.gov.uk


 

 

 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 Start: 7.00pm 
 Finish: 7.15pm 
 
 
PRESENT:   Councillor Ian Moran (Leader 
    In the Chair) 
 
 
Councillors:  Portfolio 
   
 Councillor Yvonne Gagen Deputy Leader of the Council and 

Portfolio Holder for Leisure & 
Human Resources 

 Councillor Claire Cooper Portfolio Holder for Communities 
and Older People 

 Councillor Jenny Forshaw Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Landlord Services 

 Councillor John Hodson Portfolio Holder for Planning 
 Councillor Kevin Wilkie Portfolio Holder for Street Scene 
 Councillor Kevin Wright Portfolio Holder for Health and 

Community Safety 
 Councillor Adam Yates Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
In attendance: Councillor A Owens 
Councillors  
 
Officers: Kim Webber, Chief Executive 

Dave Tilleray, Director of Leisure and Wellbeing 
Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey, Director of Housing and Inclusion 
John Harrison, Director of Development and Regeneration 
Terry Broderick, Borough Solicitor 
Heidi McDougall, Director of Street Scene 
Marc Taylor, Borough Treasurer 
Chris Twomey, Deputy Director of Housing & Inclusion 
Sue Griffiths, Principal Member Services Officer 
 

 
54   APOLOGIES  

 
 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
55   LEADER'S OPENING REMARKS  

 
 The Leader announced that it was the last meeting to be attended by Dave Tilleray, 

Director of Leisure and Wellbeing and expressed his thanks for his service to the 
Council.   
 

Page 1289

Agenda Item 5



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

56   SPECIAL URGENCY (RULE 16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE 
RULES)/URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 There were no items of special urgency. 
 

57   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 1. Councillor Cooper declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 6(a) 
(Funding of Voluntary Bodies and Other Organisations Working Group) in 
relation to applications for revenue funding received from Learning Stars and 
the Burscough Community Farm due to her association with these 
organisations.  

 
2. Councillors Forshaw and Wilkie (tenants of Council accommodation) and 

Wright (connected person tenant of Council accommodation) declared 
disclosable pecuniary/pecuniary interests in agenda items 6(c) (Draft Housing 
Allocations and Pet Policy) and 6(g) (Housing Account – Revenue and Capital 
Programme) but considered they were entitled to speak and vote by virtue of 
an exemption as nothing in the report relates particularly to the relevant 
tenancy or lease. 

 
3. Councillor Moran declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 6(a) 

(Funding of Voluntary Bodies and Other Organisations Working Group) due to 
his appointment on the Lancashire West CAB by the Council. 

 
58   PUBLIC SPEAKING  

 
 It was noted that the two residents who had previously given notice to speak in 

relation to agenda item 6(a) – Funding of Voluntary Bodies & Other Organisations 
Cabinet Working Group had indicated that they would not be attending the meeting.   
 

59   MINUTES  
 

 RESOLVED That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 November 
2017 be received as a correct record and signed by the Leader. 

 
 

60   MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS  
 

 Consideration was given to the report relating to the following matters requiring 
decisions as circulated and contained on pages 913 - 1158 of the Book of Reports. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1290



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

 
61   FUNDING OF VOLUNTARY BODIES & OTHER ORGANISATIONS CABINET 

WORKING GROUP  
 

 Councillor Cooper introduced the report of the Director of Housing and Inclusion 
which advised Cabinet of the recommendations of the Funding of Voluntary & Other 
Organisations Cabinet Working Group in respect of the monitoring arrangements for 
the current grant recipients and the applications for one year revenue funding for 
2018/19. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That subject to (B) below, the recommendations arising from the 

scoring of the applications received from voluntary organisations 
for one year revenue funding from April 2018 by the Funding of 
Voluntary Bodies and Other Organisations Working Group at its 
meeting on 13 December 2017 be endorsed as detailed in the 
minutes of the meeting attached at Appendix 3 to the report. 

 
 (B) That the applicants be advised of Cabinet’s recommendations 

and that funding is not guaranteed but will form part of 
considerations when the Council’s budget is finalised on 28 
February 2018.  

 
62   COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) FUNDING PROGRAMME 2018/19  

 
 Councillor J Hodson introduced the report of the Director of Development and 

Regeneration which advised on the outcome of the consultation on the options for 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Funding Programme 2018/19 and proposed 
recommendations for this Programme based on the CIL monies anticipated to have 
been collected by the Council by 31 March 2018. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the consultation feedback report provided at Appendix 1 to 

the report be noted. 
 
  (B) That £125,000 of CIL monies be allocated to the delivery of the 

following projects in 2018/19: 

 Chequer Lane Playing Fields (£60,000) 

 Whittle Drive Playing Fields (£40,000) 

 Mere Sands Wood Visitor Centre Phase II (£25,000) 
 
 
 
 

Page 1291



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

 (C) That the remaining “strategic” CIL monies collected by 31 March 
2018 (i.e. those not allocated on the projects agreed under 
recommendation (B)) be “saved” and allocated toward more 
significant strategic infrastructure projects to be drawn down from 
as necessary as such significant projects are identified and 
approved. 

 
  (D) That £300,000 of the "strategic" CIL monies saved from previous 

years be allocated to the implementation of actions in the Tawd 
Valley Park Masterplan in order to help lever in match-funding 
from other sources to complete all actions in the Masterplan. 

 
 (E) That for all CIL monies collected each financial year from 1 April 

2018 onwards, up to a maximum of £100,000 be allocated 
through the CIL Funding Programme each financial year toward 
projects requiring £100,000 of CIL funding or less, and that the 
remainder of "strategic" CIL monies collected each financial year 
be saved towards more significant strategic infrastructure projects 
(requiring more than £100,000 of CIL funding) to be drawn down 
from as necessary as such significant projects are identified and 
approved. 

 
 

63   DRAFT HOUSING ALLOCATIONS AND PET POLICY  
 

 Councillor Forshaw introduced the report of the Director of Housing and Inclusion 
which considered a draft Housing Allocations Policy and draft Pet Policy for 
consultation. 
 
Minute no. 19 of the Landlord Services Committee (Cabinet Working Group) held on 
3 January 2018 was circulated at the meeting. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the Minute of the Landlord 
Services Committee (Cabinet Working Group) and the details as set out in the report 
before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the Draft Housing Allocations and Pet Policy 2017 attached to 

Appendix 1 & 2 of the report be approved for consultation.  
 

(B) That the Director of Housing and Inclusion, in consultation with 
the relevant Portfolio Holder, be given delegated authority to 
make any minor changes to the Draft Housing Allocations Policy 
and Pet Policy 2017 where appropriate following public 
consultation, and to implement and deliver the policy. 

 
(C) That the call-in procedure is not appropriate for this item as the 

report will be submitted to the meeting of the Executive Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 25 January 2018. 

Page 1292



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

 
64   CORPORATE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Q2 2017-18  

 
 The Leader introduced the report of the Director of Housing and Inclusion which 

presented performance monitoring data for the quarter ended 30 September 2017. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the Council’s performance against the indicator set for the 

quarter ended 30 September 2017 be noted. 
 

(B) That the call-in procedure is not appropriate for this item as the 
report was submitted to the meeting of the Corporate & 
Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 4 January 
2018. 

 
65   DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2018-2019  

 
 Councillor Yates introduced the report of the Borough Treasurer which provided a 

summary of the current General Revenue Account budget position. 
 
Additional information from the Borough Treasurer was circulated at the meeting 
(pages 1157-1158 of the Book of Reports). 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the additional information and 
the details as set out in the report before it and accepted the reasons contained 
therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the financial position for 2018-19 and later years be noted, 

and consideration given to how a balanced budget can be 
achieved. 

 
 (B) That the Portfolio Holder for Finance be given delegated authority 

to submit firm proposals to Council on 28 February 2018 to 
enable the budget to be set. 

 
(C) That call-in is not appropriate for this item as it is to be submitted 

to the next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 25 January 2018. 

 
66   MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME  

 
 Councillor Yates introduced the report of the Borough Treasurer which set out 

details on the GRA medium term capital programme position for the next 3 years. 
 
 

Page 1293



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the medium term financial position be noted, and 

consideration given to how a balanced capital programme can be 
achieved. 

 
(B) That the Portfolio Holder for Finance be given delegated authority 

to submit firm proposals to Council on 28 February 2018 to 
enable the capital programme to be set. 

 
(C) That call-in is not appropriate for this item as it is to be submitted 

to the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 25 January 
2018. 

 
 

67   HOUSING ACCOUNT - REVENUE AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 

 Councillor Forshaw introduced the joint report of the Director of Housing and 
Inclusion and Borough Treasurer which provided a summary of the Housing 
Account’s financial position. 
 
It was reported that Appendix B to the report (draft HRA estimates) would be 
available for consultation purposes prior to the Council considering the matter in 
February 2018. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the financial position be noted. 
 

(B) That the use of the Director of Housing and Inclusion’s delegated 
authority in relation to rent and service charge changes be noted 
and endorsed. 

 
(C) That this report be used for consultation purposes prior to the 

Council considering this matter in February 2018. 
 

(D) That the Housing Portfolio Holder be given delegated authority to 
submit firm proposals to Council on 28 February 2018 to enable 
the budget to be set. 

 
(E)  That call-in is not appropriate for this item as it is to be submitted 

to the next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 25 January 2018. 

 
 

Page 1294



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

 
68   EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY UPDATE  

 
 Councillor Gagen introduced the report of the Borough Treasurer which provided an 

update on Equality and Diversity matters and sought approval for a number of 
changes to equality policies and objectives. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the revised Equality Statement and Equality in Employment 

Statement, at Appendix A and B to the report respectively, be 
agreed. 

 
(B) That the revised Equality Objectives 2015-2018 document at 

Appendix C be agreed. 
 

(C) That progress against the Equality Objectives, that they now form 
part of the relevant Service Action Plans, and that the actions are 
recorded and monitored as part of core business, be noted. 

 
69   GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS  

 
 The Leader introduced the report of the Borough Solicitor which advised on the 

forthcoming General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and sought approval for 
necessary actions and resources to ensure compliance with the requirements. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the report be noted. 
 
 (B) That the necessary actions being taken to achieve compliance 

with GDPR and continuing to ensure the Council maintains high 
standards in the processing of personal data be supported. 

 
  (C ) That a budget of £15,000 be provided to support compliance with 

GDPR from underspends in the current year (up to 31 March 
2018) to meet the resource requirements set out at paragraph 6 
of the report and it be recommended that Council give further 
consideration to the additional resources for 2018/19 and beyond 
through the budget setting process. 

 
  (D) That the Borough Solicitor be authorised to designate a 

 Data Protection Officer. 
 
 
 

Page 1295



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 9 January 2018 
 

 

 

  (E) That call-in is not appropriate for this item as this matter is one 
where urgent action is required as early progress needs to be 
made to ensure services are prepared for the impending deadline 
for implementation of GDPR notwithstanding delays in issue of 
legislation and guidance. 

 
 
 
 

……….……………………….. 
Leader 

 

Page 1296



 

 

 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 Start: 6.00pm 
 Finish: 6.12pm 
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Ian Moran (Leader, 
 In the Chair) 
 
  Portfolio 
 
Councillors Councillor Yvonne Gagen Deputy Leader of the Council and 

Portfolio Holder for Leisure & 
Human Resources 

 Councillor Claire Cooper Portfolio Holder for Communities 
and Older People 

 Councillor Jenny Forshaw Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Landlord Services 

 Councillor John Hodson Portfolio Holder for Planning 
 Councillor Kevin Wilkie Portfolio Holder for Street Scene 
 Councillor Kevin Wright Portfolio Holder for Health and 

Community Safety 
 Councillor Adam Yates Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
In attendance: G Hodson, D Westley 
Councillors  
 
Officers: Kim Webber, Chief Executive 

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey, Director of Housing and Inclusion 
John Harrison, Director of Development and Regeneration 
Terry Broderick, Borough Solicitor 
Heidi McDougall, Director of Leisure & Environment 
Marc Taylor, Borough Treasurer 
Chris Twomey, Deputy Director of Housing & Inclusion 
Sue Griffiths, Principal Member Services Officer 
 

 
70   APOLOGIES  

 
 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
71   SPECIAL URGENCY (RULE 16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE 

RULES)/URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 There were no items of special urgency. 
 

72   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 Councillor Wright declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 5(c) (Review of 

Page 1297



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 

 

Pay and Display Parking and Charges) in view of him being a blue badge holder. 
 

73   PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 

 There were no items under this Heading. 
 

74   MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS  
 

 Consideration was given to the report relating to the following matters requiring 
decisions as circulated and contained on pages 1165 to 1271 and 1279 – 1281 of 
the Book of Reports. 
 

75   SUSTAINABLE ORGANISATION REVIEW  
 

 The Leader introduced the report of the Chief Executive which sought agreement for 
a review of the Council’s operating model and identification of opportunities for 
further income generation and efficiencies with the aim of ensuring delivery of the 
Council’s vision, key priorities, maintenance of service provision and financial 
sustainability beyond 2020/2021. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the Council’s financial position be noted. 
 
 (B) That a Sustainable Organisation Review be undertaken 

adopting Option 3 at paragraph 6.1 of the report as the preferred 
approach. 

 
(C) That a Sustainable Organisation Review Cabinet Working 

Group be established, with the membership and functions set 
out at Appendix 1 to the report, and the respective Leaders 
provide to the Borough Solicitor details of named Councillors to 
fill the positions agreed. 

 
(D) That the Chief Executive be given delegated authority in 

consultation with the Sustainable Organisation Review Cabinet 
Working Group, to take all necessary steps to procure a 
suitable contractor or contractors to support the Sustainable 
Organisation Review, in accordance with paragraphs 5.1-5.3, 
9.1 and 9.3 of the report.  

 
(E) That the Governance Arrangements set out at paragraphs 7.1-

7.2 of the report be noted, and that the Chief Executive report 
on the Sustainable Organisation Review as set out at paragraph 
7.1 of the report. 

 
 

Page 1298



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 

 

76   FORMING A DEVELOPMENT COMPANY - OPTIONS APPRAISAL  
 

 Councillor Forshaw introduced the report of the Director of Housing and Inclusion 
which sought authority for further preparation for the formation of a Development 
Company in order to drive forward the commercial ambitions of the Council. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the Development Objectives set out in paragraph 3.2 of the 

report be approved.  
 
 (B) That the formation of a single Development Company (Option 2 at 

paragraph 4.2 of the report) be endorsed as the best approach to 
delivering the Development Objectives set out in paragraph 3.2 of 
the report. 

 
(C) That the indicative implementation plan to establish a proposed 

Development Company set out in Appendix 5 to the report be 
endorsed.  

 
  (D) That the Director of Housing and Inclusion in consultation with the 

relevant Portfolio Holders be authorised to put in place 
arrangements to form a Development Company in shadow format 
as identified at paragraph 7.8 of the report. 

 
(E) That a further report be presented to Council to consider finalising 

the establishment of the Development Company including  
presentation of a full business case and proposals for 
appointment of Directors to the Company. 

 
 

77   REVIEW OF PAY AND DISPLAY PARKING AND CHARGES  
 

 Councillor J Hodson introduced the report of the Director of Development and 
Regeneration which considered proposed changes to the existing charging structure 
of the Council’s pay and display car parks in Ormskirk Town Centre. 
 
A motion was circulated by Councillor J Hodson and the Director of Development 
and Regeneration submitted additional information in relation to the motion. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the motion from Councillor J 
Hodson, the additional information from the Director of Development and 
Regeneration and the details as set out in the report before it and accepted the 
reasons contained therein. 
 
 
 

Page 1299



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 

 

RESOLVED (A) That the Director of Development and Regeneration be 
authorised to make an order to introduce revised pay and display 
and parking permit charges on the Council's pay and display car 
parks in Ormskirk Town Centre as set out below:- 

 
Short stay car parks (except Park Road) 

 
                 Existing      Proposed 

    
Up to 1 hour   £0.70  

   Up to 2 hours  £1.10 
   Up to 3 hours  £1.60   £1.00 

Up to 4 hours  £2.00   £2.00 
 
Park Road 

               Existing      Proposed 
    

Up to 1 hour   Free  
   Up to 2 hours  £1.10 
   Up to 3 hours  £1.60   £1.00 

Up to 4 hours  £2.00   £2.00 
 

Long stay car parks (except Hants Lane) 
 
             Existing   Proposed 
  

Up to 1 hour   £0.70 
   Up to 2 hours  £1.10 
   Up to 3 hours  £1.60   £1.00 

Up to 4 hours  £2.00   £2.00 
  Up to 9 hours  £3.00   £3.00 
 
 

   Hants Lane 
       Existing  Proposed  

Up to 1 hour   40p 
   Up to 2 hours  60p 
   Up to 3 hours  £1.00   £1.00 

  Up to 9 hours  £1.70   £2.00 
 
 

(B) That the annual cost of car parking permits be increased from 

£195 to £250. 

 
(C) That the provision of 3 hours free parking in marked disabled 

spaces for Blue Badge Holders be continued. 
 

Page 1300



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 

 

 
(D) That the Director of Development and Regeneration, in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder, be given delegated 

authority to consider and determine any objections received to 

the Order made. 

 
(E) That the new charging structure for the Council’s pay and display 

car parks in Ormskirk Town Centre be monitored over a 12 month 
period in order to assess the outcomes. 

 
 
 

78   REVIEW OF GROUNDS MAINTENANCE AND STREET CLEANSING  
 

 Councillor Wilkie introduced the report of the Director of Leisure and Environment 
which provided an update on the progress of the grounds maintenance and street 
cleansing review and proposed a way forward in order to deliver an action plan to 
achieve the proposed savings. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the findings of the review, attached in Appendix 1 to the 

report are noted. 
 
 (B) That the action plan attached in Appendix 2 to the report is 

agreed and Council be requested to provide funding for the 
capital items outlined. 

 
 (C) That the efficiency savings of £30,000 in 2018/19 are agreed and 

a future report be brought to Cabinet and Council on completion 
of further works to outline the savings for 2019/20. 

 
 (D) That delegated authority be given to the Director of Leisure and 

Environment to take all necessary steps to implement the 
recommendations of the review outlined in the action plan and 
section 8 of the APSE report in consultation with the relevant 
Portfolio Holder. 

 
 (E) That this item is not appropriate for call-in due to the need to 

procure and implement a computer system and that this policy 
option was agreed through the budget process and it is being 
considered by Council. 

 
 
 
 

Page 1301



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 

 

79   RECYCLING/GARDEN WASTE BIN INITIATIVE  
 

 Councillor Wilkie introduced the report of the Director of Leisure and Environment 
which sought agreement to the change of use of the green garden waste bin for 
paper/cardboard and the introduction of a brown bin for garden waste in order to 
improve the recycling and garden waste service for residents and improve the future 
efficiency of the service.   
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That from 4 June 2018 the current green bin be used for the 

collection of cardboard/paper and a new brown bin be 
introduced as set out in sections 6, 7 and 8 of the report, for use 
by those residents that sign up to the garden waste service. 

 
 (B) That the new charge of £25 for a wheeled bin, agreed in the 

policy options report at Council in December 2017 be 
implemented earlier than 1 April 2018, on 12 March 2018 to 
coincide with the launch of the garden waste service for 
2018/19. 

 
 (C) That delegated authority be given to the Director of Leisure and 

Environment in consultation with the relevant portfolio holder to 
take all necessary steps to implement this scheme. 

 
(D) That this item is not appropriate for call-in due to the timescales 

involved in the launch of the new scheme, in time for the new 
growing season. 

 
 

80   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 RESOLVED That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 
3 (financial/business affairs) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of that 
Act and as, in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption under Schedule 12A 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
81   MATTER REQUIRING DECISION  

 
 Consideration was given to the private & confidential report relating to the following 

matter requiring a decision as contained on pages 1273 – 1277 of the Book of 
Reports. 
 

Page 1302



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Wednesday, 28 February 2018 
 

 

 

82   LAND TO THE SOUTH OF DEGRAVE HOUSE, WHITEMOSS BUSINESS PARK, 
SKELMERSDALE  
 

 The Leader introduced the report of the Director of Development and Regeneration 
which provided an understanding of the reasons for the acquisition of the subject 
land and sought authority to purchase said land. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the 
report before it and accepted the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED (A) That the Director of Development and Regeneration be 

authorised to take all necessary steps to proceed with the 
acquisition of the subject land as set out at paragraph 5.2 of the 
report. 

 
 (B) That this item is not appropriate for call-in due to the need to 

expedite the proposed acquisition of the site for the reasons set 
out at paragraph 7.1 of the report. 

 
 
 
 

……….……………………….. 
Leader 

 

Page 1303



Page 1304



 

 
 

 
 
CABINET:  13 MARCH 2018  
 

 
 

 
Report of: Borough Solicitor  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor J Hodson  
 
Contact for further information: Mrs J Denning (Extn. 5384)  
    (E-mail: Jacky.Denning@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:   ITEM REFERRED FROM THE CORPORATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL  

 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – FLOODING IN THE 
BOROUGH 

 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To advise on the decision of the Corporate and Environmental Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting held on 4 January 2018, during consideration 
of the presentation from United Utilities 'Flooding in the Borough". 

  
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the recommendation from the Corporate and Environmental Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee in relation to 'Flooding in the Borough', as detailed at 
paragraph 3.1 (B) below, be considered together with the comments of the 
Director Development and Regeneration  as set out in paragraph 4 below. 

 
2.2 That Call In is not appropriate as it relates to an item already considered by the 

Corporate and Environmental Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 Minute 48 below provides details of the presentation, discussion and decision of 

the Corporate & Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee and sets out the 
recommendation to Cabinet in relation to Flooding in the Borough.  Should 
Cabinet agree with the recommendation, a report will be submitted to Council on 
25 April 2018.  

 
 
 

Page 1305

Agenda Item 6



"48. FLOODING IN THE BOROUGH   (STILL DRAFT) 
 

 The Committee received a presentation from Mr Steve Howell, Asset 
Manager, United Utilities, in relation to flooding and the wastewater network 
operations and services in the Borough, requested by the Committee to 
attend following consideration of a Members Item raised on Hurlston Brook 
Flood Risk study.  The presentation referred to the following: 
 

1. The waste water network – managing flood risk and who is 
responsible for what:  

 Lancashire County Council – Developing, maintaining and 
applying a strategy for local flood risk management; managing 
the risk of flooding from surface water, groundwater and 
ordinary watercourses; and providing and maintaining highway 
drainage such as road gullies/grids 

 Environment Agency – Responsible for taking a strategic 
overview of all sources of flooding and managing the risk of 
flooding from main rivers 

 West Lancashire Borough Council – Managing the risk of 
flooding on its land and approving planning applications and 
ensuring it's drained in a sustainable way 

 United Utilities – Managing the risk of flooding from surface 
water, foul and combined sewer systems that provide drainage 
from buildings and yards  
 

2. An overview of the wastewater system, including the sewers, 
pumping stations and treatment works.  

3. West Lancashire drainage area, including inspections, planned 
maintenance visits and cleaning of sewers.  

4. Performance statistics in relation to customer satisfaction, internal 
flooding and pollution incidents and spend on operating, maintaining 
and enhancing the wastewater network  

5. Sewer flooding strategies and the calculation for ongoing risk analysis  
6. Developers and development and the pressure on existing sewerage 

infrastructure, given their legal right to connect to both foul and 
surface water and to choose the point of connection  

7. Partnership working:  

 Attendance at the Lead Local Flood Authority Making Space 
for Water meetings 

 Working closely with Local Authority Planning Departments 
and developers 

 Meet with Flood Action Groups such as ARRCCHS 

 Meetings with Councillors and MPs 
 

8. Problems associated with flushing oil/fats, wipes and cotton buds  
 

9. Reactive resolution units availability  
 
Comments and questions were raised in respect of the following: 

 The size of the sewerage pipes  

 Closure of pumping stations  

 The amount spent on improvements in the West Lancs area  

Page 1306



 The programme or works for cleaning pipes  

 Surface water outlets  

 Problems associated with flushing oil/fats, wipes and cotton buds and 
campaigns to reduce this  

 Hurlston Brook Flood Risk study  

 Disruption to footpaths/surfaces during works  
 
Steve Howell gave an undertaking to find out: 

(i) What the level of investment is in the West Lancs area 
(ii) If a programme of work for cleaning sewerage pipes is available to 

circulate to members 
 
RESOLVED: A. That Steve Howell from United Utilities be thanked for his 

informative presentation and be asked to return once the 
report on Hurlston Brook Flood Risk study had been 
published. 

 
 B. That in view of the pressure placed on local authorities to 

meet government house building targets and the right of 
developers to connect to the sewerage system, Cabinet 
be asked to consider lobbying the government in relation 
to the reduction in funding for statutory services, in 
particular the general under investment in improving the 
waste sewerage systems." 

 
3.2 In view of the Councils executive arrangements if members consider there is 

a need to lobby, as recommended by Corporate and Environmental 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it would be a matter that would be for the 
full Council to determine (as given the comments of the Director of 
Development and Regeneration (below) it doesn't relate to this Council's 
particular functions, but those of other responsible bodies operating in the 
Borough). 
 

4.0    COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION  
 
4.1 As set out in 3.1 above the Borough Council has limited responsibilities relating 

to flood risk management and drainage infrastructure, consequently whilst the 
Borough may benefit from increased funding, such funding and decisions 
relating to its expenditure would be for Lancashire County Council and/or United 
Utilities as the responsible bodies. 

 

 
Background Documents 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders.  Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 

Page 1307



None. 

Page 1308



 

 
 

 
CABINET: 13 March 2018 
 

 

 
Report of:   Director of Leisure and Environment 
                     
Relevant Portfolio Holders: Councillor Y. Gagen 
 
Contact for further information: Mr S. Kent (Extn. 5169) 

(E-mail: Stephen.kent@westlancs.gov.uk) 
 

 
SUBJECT:  USE OF SECTION 106 MONIES IN SKELMERSDALE 
 

 
 
Wards affected: Skelmersdale North, Ashurst wards 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To consider a proposal regarding the use of section 106 (S106) monies for the 

enhancement of public open space provision in Skelmersdale. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the use of £175,622 of S106 monies be approved to enable improvements 

to be made in Tawd Valley Park. 
  
        

 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Members will recall that under policy EN3 of the West Lancashire Local Plan 

2012-2027, developers must provide open space facilities as part of housing 
developments.  Where developments are less than 20 dwellings or on sites 
where it is not reasonable to expect a development to provide on-site facilities, 
and where there is a deficiency of open space, the Council can require a 
commuted sum for the provision of new or the enhancement of existing areas of 
public open space within its area. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the decision of the Planning Committee on January 10th 2002 

the views of the relevant Parish Council/Ward Councillors have been sought in 
respect of the potential use of this money. 

 

Page 1309

Agenda Item 7a

mailto:Stephen.kent@westlancs.gov.uk


3.3 An Officer working group was established in February 2011 to co-ordinate the 
receipt of S106 commuted sums and report to Cabinet on the use of the funding. 
A function of this group is to establish levels of uncommitted S106 funds across 
all wards and liaise with Ward Councillors and Parish Councils as to how this 
funding could be best utilised in line with the requirements of the S106 
agreements.  

 
4.0 CURRENT POSITION 
 
4.1 The Council currently has an unallocated sum of £175,622 received from land at 

Whalleys in Ashurst (Whalleys 4) 
 

4.2 These funds form part of a unilateral agreement that involves 3 sites:- 
 
Whalleys 4 
Whalleys 5a/5b 
Cobbs Clough/Whalleys 2  

 
4.3 The funding from a particular development can only be used in accordance with 

the terms of the related S106 agreement. 
 

4.4 This agreement stipulates that the funds should be used for the installation of 
play facilities and a multi-use games area (MUGA) on the part of the 
development site known as Cobbs Clough/Whalleys 2, and environmental 
improvements in Tawd Valley Park in the vicinity of the development sites. (See 
appendix 1: Tawd Valley Park – Area subject to S106 Agreement) 
 

4.5 As Cobbs Clough/Whalleys 2 has yet to be developed and sufficient further funds 
will be generated when it is to cover the play area/MUGA, the current funds are 
available for environmental improvements in Tawd Valley Park.   
 

4.6 Following a wide consultation process, including Ward Councillors, a masterplan 
for environmental improvements to Tawd Valley Park has been produced and 
approved by the Council. 

 
4.7 The proposals contained within this report are in accordance with the approved 

masterplan.  
 
5.0 PROPOSALS 

 
5.1 It is proposed to undertake the following environmental improvements in the 

vicinity of the land at Whalleys development sites, utilising the existing monies 
generated. Please note that figures shown are estimates and actual expenditure 
may vary:- 

 
New entrances  £18,000 
Signage   £10,000 
New/upgraded paths £45,000 
New cycleway  £90,000 
New/upgraded bridge £10,000 

 
Total    £173,000  

 

Page 1310



5.2 Should funding remain after the implementation of the above works then it would 
be rolled over and help towards the next phase of the scheme. The next phase of 
works, along with approximate costs will include:- 

 
BMX/Pump track  £50,000 
Picnic area   £10,000 
Sculpture trail  £50,000 
Heritage route  £15,000 
Pond creation  £80,000  
Meadow improvement £10,000 
Woodland improvement £10,000 

 
Total    £225,000 

 
5.3 Other avenues will also be sought to enable the future phases of this project to 

be completed. Currently £300,000 of CIL funding has been awarded to the overall 
Tawd Valley Park project. This will be used across the whole Tawd Valley Park 
site to implement works and to attract external funding sources. 

 
 
6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS/COMMUNITY STRATEGY 
 
6.1 Together these improvements will contribute towards making Tawd Valley Park a 

more attractive, accessible and enjoyable place to visit for the residents of 
Skelmersdale and West Lancashire. It will make a considerable contribution to 
the implementation of the Tawd Valley Park masterplan, which in turn will 
contribute towards improving the health of the community. 

     
 
7.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The funding of £175,622 has been made available from the development at land 

at Whalleys – (Whalleys 4). 
 
7.2 Whalleys 4 is one of the three main elements of the land at Whalleys 

development. 
  The commitment from the Council is to develop a play area and MUGA on the 

Cobbs Clough/Whalleys 2 site, plus environmental improvements in Tawd Valley 
adjacent to the site. 

 
7.3 The play area and MUGA cannot be implemented until Cobbs Clough/Whalleys 2 

is developed, and the contribution generated by that site should adequately cover 
that commitment, therefore, the funding currently available can be used for the 
environmental improvement element of the commitment. 

 
7.4 Future maintenance of the new facilities will be undertaken by the Council 

through the Tawd Valley Park project. This maintenance will be a combination of 
the Councils Ranger Service and Grounds Maintenance input, plus work 
experience and training schemes, local groups and volunteers, working alongside 
small scale contractors where necessary. The cost of maintenance will be 
covered by existing revenue budgets plus external funding where necessary. 

 
 

Page 1311



 
8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 Implementation of these improvements will be a great asset to the local 

community but will have to be maintained effectively to continue that benefit. 
Local ownership will be of paramount importance and the Tawd Valley project 
has initiated good community buy in through an extensive consultation and 
engagement process. However, this will have to be continued to ensure the 
future success of the project 

 
 

 
 
 

Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local  
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and / 
or stakeholders.  Therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required. A formal 
equality impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report, the results of 
which have been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this 
report. 
 
Appendices 
 
1. Tawd Valley Park – Area subject to S106 Agreement) 
2. EIA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1312



 
Appendix 1 – Tawd Valley Park – Area subject to S106 Agreement) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1313





 
 
Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate: Leisure and Wellbeing Service: Leisure, Cultural & Arts 

Completed by: Stephen Kent Date: 23/1/2018 

Subject Title: Use of S106 monies in Skelmersdale 

1. DESCRIPTION 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or revised: *delete as appropriate 
 No 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or cutback: No 

Is a commissioning plan or contract specification 
being developed: 

 
No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated: Yes 

Is a programme or project being planned: Yes 

Are recommendations being presented to senior 
managers and/or Councillors: 

 
Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our duties 
under the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector 
Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful 
discrimination/harassment, advancing equality 
of opportunity, fostering good relations): 

 
 
No 

Details of the matter under consideration:   
 

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 

 

If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

 
 
 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2 provide 
details of why there is no impact on these three 
groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this form. 

 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, i.e. 
who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

Skelmersdale residents  

If the work being carried out relates to a universal 
service, who needs or uses it most? (Is there any 
particular group affected more than others 

Skelmersdale residents, particularly family 
groups and children 
 

Page 1315



 

Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 

 
*delete as appropriate 

Age Yes 
Gender No 
Disability No 
Race and Culture No 
Sexual Orientation No 
Religion or Belief No 
Gender Reassignment No 

Marriage and Civil Partnership No 
Pregnancy and Maternity No 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 

Site is currently public open space used for 
outdoor recreation. 

What will the impact of the work being carried out be 
on usage/the stakeholders? 

Works will allow the site to be used for a wider 
range of activities and for a longer period of 
time. Access in particular will be greatly 
improved to allow for more recreational use. 

What are people’s views about the services?  Are 
some customers more satisfied than others, and if 
so what are the reasons?  Can these be affected by 
the proposals? 

Users of the grassed area are more dissatisfied 
with the facility due to waterlogging preventing 
use for long periods of time. Proposals will 
improve access for all. 

What sources of data including consultation results 
have you used to analyse the impact of the work 
being carried out on users/stakeholders with 
protected characteristics? 

An extensive consultation exercise with 
Skelmersdale residents, local councillors and 
interest groups resulted in the development of a 
masterplan for the site. This has been adopted 
by the Council. 

If any further data/consultation is needed and is to 
be gathered, please specify:  

Future monitoring will be undertaken as the 
project progresses. 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people with 
particular protected characteristics (either positively 
or negatively or in terms of disproportionate 
impact)? 

This site will provide good facilities for children 
and families. Children in particular would benefit 
from better access to facilities and recreational 
grassed areas to use. 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or desirable 
to take actions to reduce the impact, explain why 
this is the case (e.g. legislative or financial drivers 
etc.). 

Monitorring use will establish any negative 
issues and deal with them accordingly through 
the Tawd Valley Project. 
 

What actions do you plan to take to address any 
other issues above?  

On-going liaison through the Tawd Valley 
Project 
 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and who will 
review it? 

January 2019. Reviewing officer – Stephen 
Kent 

 

Page 1316



 

 

 

 
CABINET: 13 March 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report of: Borough Treasurer 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor A. Yates.  
 
Contact for further information: Rebecca Spicer (Extn. 5098)  
    (E-mail: rebecca.spicer@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

 
Borough Wide Interest 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To set out details on the Key Risks facing the Council and how they are being 

managed and to propose changes to the Risk Management Policy. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That the progress made in relation to the management of the risks shown in the 

Key Risks Register (Appendix A) be noted and endorsed. 
 
2.2 That the updated Risk Management Policy at Appendix B be approved. 
 
 

 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND  
 
3.1  Risk management is not about being 'risk averse' – it is about being 'risk aware'. 

Risk is ever present and some amount of risk taking is inevitable if the Council is 
to achieve its objectives. Risk Management is about effectively managing risks 
that could affect the Council and the community. It is also about making the most 
of opportunities and achieving objectives. By being 'risk aware' the Council is in a 
better position to avoid threats and take advantage of opportunities.   

 
3.2 It is a best practice requirement that the Risk Management Policy and the Key 

Risks Register are reviewed and reported to Members on a regular basis. 
Consequently it is our standard practice to report on Key Risk Register issues to 
Cabinet every 6 months. Reports on the effectiveness of the Risk Management 

Page 1317

Agenda Item 7b



framework are presented to the Audit and Governance Committee, and at its last 
meeting in January 2018 the Committee endorsed an updated version of the Risk 
Management Policy.  

 
3.3 Risk Management covers the whole spectrum of risks and not just those 

associated with finance, business continuity, insurance and health and safety. It 
also considers risks associated with service provision, compliance with 
legislation, public image (reputation) and environment. Key Risks are defined as 
the highest priority risks that may prevent the Council from achieving its 
objectives, or may result in the failure of a service, or the failure to comply with 
legislation. The Key Risks Register gives a summary of these risks and the work 
that is being undertaken to mitigate them, although many of these risks will have 
already been the subject of separate committee reports. In addition each Service 
maintains its own Service Risk Register of the specific risks that they face. 

 
 
4.0 KEY RISK REGISTER 
 
4.1 The Key Risk Register attached (Appendix A) shows the current Key Risks and 

the measures in place to manage those risks. The regular reporting of the 
Register provides Members with an opportunity to scrutinise key risks and 
provides assurance that these risks are being effectively controlled. 

 
4.2 Two new risks have been included in the register since the last version was 

produced.  A risk relating to landlord compliance with regulatory requirements 
has been included, and details the controls that the Council has in place to 
ensure that as a landlord it complies with its legal obligations to keep properties 
in a safe condition.  The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) comes into 
force on 25th May 2018 and the risks associated with the Council needing to 
deliver its services in accordance with the Act have also been included. 

 
4.3 The risk of failing to manage the impact of the Government's Benefit Reforms has 

been removed from the Key Risk Register as Universal Credit was rolled out in 
December 2017, and going forward this risk will be managed at Service level. 

 
4.4 The Structure of the Authority altered in February 2018 as a result of senior 

management changes and some existing risks have been reallocated to new 
Responsible Officers to reflect this change. 

  
4.5 There are no risks that have been assessed in the “very concerned” category that 

would require urgent action at the highest level to reduce the risk to an 
acceptable position. There are a number of risks that have been assessed in the 
concerned category, but in each case these have been either the subject of 
recent Committee reports or have been considered through the budget process.   

 
 
 
5.0 CHANGES TO THE RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 
5.1 The Risk Management Policy has been reviewed by Officers to ensure that it 

reflects best practice, new developments and organisational change. This review 
has identified changes needed to the Corporate Risk Assessment so that it better 

Page 1318



suits the structure of the Council and provides Officers with a more useful tool in 
the scoring of risk. 

 
5.2 A tracked changes version of the updated Policy is included in Appendix B, which 

has already been endorsed by the Audit and Governance Committee.  Members 
are now asked to approve these amendments.  

 
 
6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS/COMMUNITY STRATEGY 
 
6.1 There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in 

particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.  
 
7.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The successful management of the key risks facing the Council will ensure that 

resources are used effectively and efficiently.  
 
 
8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 The continued identification and review of key risks is essential to ensure the 

management and mitigation of those risks, the successful achievement of the 
Authority’s objectives, and the maximisation of opportunities. By continually 
monitoring and reviewing the risks and the Risk Management Framework we will 
ensure that it continues to improve, develop and meet best practice 
requirements.  

 
 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders.  Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Key Risks Register 
Appendix B – Amended Risk Management Policy 
 

Page 1319





1 

Appendix A Key Risk Register 
 
 

 

 

Service Area Title Potential Effect Internal Controls Responsible Officer Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 
Current Risk 
Assessment and Score 

Finance & HR Services 
Potential Treasury 
Management 
Investment Losses 

Volatility in financial 
markets can create 
risks on investments, 
which means there is 
the potential that 
significant sums of 
money could be lost. 

There is a treasury 
management policy and 
strategy in place. Well 
trained staff make 
investments with the 
guidance of brokers 
and treasury advisors. 
Investments can only 
be made in top rated 
UK based institutions or 

other local Authorities. 

Borough Treasurer 

Operational 
arrangements continue 
to be reviewed and 
monitored in light of 
current market 
conditions. A Treasury 
Management Strategy 
Report was presented 
to Council in February 
2018. 

 

5 Content 

Finance & HR Services 

Achieving a balanced 
General Revenue 
Account budget 
position 

Ongoing reductions in 
Government funding 
will need to be 
addressed to meet the 
statutory requirement 
to set a balanced 
budget. 

The medium term 
financial forecasting 
and Sustainable 
Organisational Review 
processes will set out 
how this financial 
challenge will be met. 

Borough Treasurer 

The Council approved 
its budget for 2018/19 
and a Sustainable 
Organisational Review 
report at its February 
2018 meeting. 

 

10 Concerned 

Leisure & 
Environment Services 

Business Continuity - 
Potential for 
disruption 

Lack of Business 
Continuity planning 
could have a severe 
impact on service 
provision across critical 
Service Areas.  

Key Service areas have 
been identified and 
individual plans put in 
place. These plans are 
tested on a regular 
basis and updated 
accordingly.  

Director of Leisure & 
Environment 
Services 

A review is ongoing and 
scheduled for 
completion in the next 
few months. The review 
will take the form of a 
test and then an 
update, based on the 
findings of the test and 
the audit from last 
year.  

 

3 Content 

P
age 1321



2 

Service Area Title Potential Effect Internal Controls Responsible Officer Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 
Current Risk 
Assessment and Score 

Development & 
Regeneration Services 

Land Auction 

Potential loss of Capital 
Receipt if sales not 
secured within 
timescale of DCLG  

Regular meetings with 
HCA to maintain 
progress  

Director of 
Development & 
Regeneration 
Services 

Sale of Whalleys 4 
completed. Planning 
permission granted for 
housing development.  
Remaining sites taken 
to the market.  
Ongoing discussions 
with HCA regarding 
timing of capital 
receipts. 

 

12 Concerned 

Housing & Inclusion 
Services 

Landlord Compliance 
& Regulatory 
Requirements (Health 
& Safety) 

Injury or death to 
tenants, residents or 
visitors. Significant 
adverse publicity. 
Regulatory impact. 

Comprehensive Action 
Plan in place, 
monitored quarterly at 
management team. 
Compliance 
incorporated into the 
audit programme 
annually.  
 

Director of Housing 
& Inclusion Services 

New policies to be 
considered by Cabinet 
in March. 

 

10 Concerned 

Housing & Inclusion 
Services 

Balancing the HRA 
Budget 

Government policy on 
rent reductions over a 4 
year period and other 
matters may cause a 
significant reduction in 
HRA income. 

- Review of 
management structure 

- Efficiency programme 
currently being planned 
- Regular review of 
income management 
performance 
-Implementation of 
Universal Credit to be 
carefully monitored 
- 100% Stock condition 
survey underway to 
limit risk and give 
better assurance in the 
business plan 
 

Director of Housing 
& Inclusion Services 

The rent reductions are 
being implemented and 
their impact is being 
effectively managed. 
 
Budget currently 
balanced with reserves 
identified to cushion 
future national policy 
changes. 

 

8 Uneasy 

P
age 1322



3 

Service Area Title Potential Effect Internal Controls Responsible Officer Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 
Current Risk 
Assessment and Score 

Development & 
Regeneration Services 

Delivery of the 
Housing Strategy 

The Housing Strategy 
2014 -2019 is intended 
to deliver a series of 
plans across a range of 
housing objectives 
including private sector 
housing, public sector 
housing and 
development and 
regeneration. 

Regular monitoring will 
occur via the Service 
Action Plan (SAP) 
monitoring process. 

Each action contained 
in the Housing Strategy 
Action Plan will have its 
own delivery risks, 
however the current 
and target risk rating is 
based upon an overall 
consideration of risk 
across all the intended 
delivery actions that 
are shown in the 
Housing SAP. 
  

Director of 
Development & 
Regeneration 
Services 

The Council continues 
to work towards 
increasing the supply of 
affordable housing 
products through 
working with market 
housing developers and 
housing associations. 
This approach is 
increasing the supply of 
affordable housing in 
the Borough, despite 
the four year rent 
reduction imposed by 
Government upon 
registered providers. 
There are still other 
housing strategy 
challenges, particularly 
related to the provision 
of supported housing 
and reconfiguration of 
supported housing 
services generally along 
with the transforming 
care partnerships 
agenda that aims to 
relocate individuals 
with a learning 
disability from 
residential settings to 
community settings. 
New homeless duties 
will also impact upon 
the responses required 
by the Council.   

 

9 Uneasy P
age 1323



4 

Service Area Title Potential Effect Internal Controls Responsible Officer Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 
Current Risk 
Assessment and Score 

Leisure & 
Environment Services 

Procurement of new 
leisure provision 

Impact on Council 
services, finances and 
reputation.  
   
Failure to deliver will 
impact on future service 
provision.  
   
The potential financial 
cost, both revenue and 
capital could have a 
significant financial 
impact. 
   

Project group, project 
Board and cabinet 
working group now well 
established and 
regularly monitoring 
progress. 

Director of Leisure & 
Environment 
Services 

Stage 1 financial 
feasibility study 
completed. Scheme 
considered potentially 
viable. Stage 2 detailed 
designs, soft market 
testing in progress. 
 
  
 
  

 

12 Concerned 

Housing & Inclusion 
Services & 
Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Failure to provide 
suitable storage of the 
Council's electronic 
information 

Unwieldy systems 
hamper efficient 
business processes.  
Failure to meet 
statutory and best 
practice requirements, 
e.g. in relation to FOIA, 
DPA, GDPR, EIR and 
other information 
handling legislation 
(including record 
retention and 
destruction 
arrangements). Staff 
time wasted / diverted.  
Potential legal 
challenges. Criticism by 
Audit and negative 
press.  Increased 
electronic storage costs. 

Engagement with the 
ICT provider to ensure 
suitable structure for 
information storage.  
Periodic training / 
meetings / 
dissemination of 
information, e.g. 
Retention and Disposal 
schedule, Corporate 
Catalogue, and ICT 
Data and Security 
Policy, for Link Officers, 
IAOs and staff in 
services to ensure up to 
date with current 
policy, legislation, best 
practice and recent 
changes affecting their 
areas.  Identified a 
need for review with a 
view to improvements 
to systems on a 
corporate basis, 
following feedback from 
annual governance and 
internal audit input in 
2016 / 2017. 

Borough Solicitor 
and Director of 
Housing & Inclusion 
Services 

Established an officer 
based project group to 
take forward a review 
and improvement 
project.  Initial steps 
taken to prioritise work 
and establish an action 
plan. Report to Audit 
and Governance 
Committee and Council 

gaining resources for a 
post to assist in a 
corporate review of 
electronic storage and 
implementation of 
action. Appointed 
Project Officer and 
work is now in 
progress. 

 

12 Concerned 

P
age 1324



5 

Service Area Title Potential Effect Internal Controls Responsible Officer Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 
Current Risk 
Assessment and Score 

Legal & Democratic 
Services 

Failure to comply with 
General Data 
Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) 

The new GDPR will 
bring considerable 
changes to the current 
data protection 
framework and the 
Council must deliver its 
services in accordance 
with the GDPR when it 
comes into force in May 
2018.  It introduces 
substantial 
enhancements to the 
current requirements as 
well as some new 
elements.  Compliance 
may have significant 
resource implications in 
terms of budget, IT, 
governance and 
communications.  The 
Council must have a 
designated Data 
Protection Officer to 
take responsibility for 
compliance. 
The Information 
Commissioner can take 
a range of actions 
against the Council for 
breaches of the Data 
Protection legislation 
including issuing 
significant fines. The UK 
Government is 
developing legislation to 
supplement the GDPR 

although this is some 
time off being finalised 
and enacted into law. 

In preparation for the 
GDPR coming into 
force, the Council is 
currently planning its 
approach to compliance 
and an action plan 
requires Services to 
review their existing 
policies and procedures 
and technical methods 
in line with the new 
requirements.   
 
The action plan to 
ensure compliance is 
being prepared and 
training organised and 
delivered once specific 
requirements of the 
GDPR are known as 
well as taking account 
of the emerging UK 
based requirements in 
proposed domestic 
legislation.  The effect 
within Services is 
unclear at this stage 
and budget resources 
may be required to 
update processes, 
particularly where 
software is to be used. 
 

Borough Solicitor 
A GDPR report was 
presented to Cabinet in 
January 2018 

 

12 Concerned 

P
age 1325



6 

Service Area Title Potential Effect Internal Controls Responsible Officer Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 
Current Risk 
Assessment and Score 

Development & 
Regeneration Services 

Failure to deliver 
Skelmersdale Town 
Centre Regeneration 

Opportunity - The 
project will provide a 
mix of residential, 
commercial, leisure and 
education 
accommodation 
opportunities. 
 
Threat - We could fail to 
address the economic 
issues, not address 
residents’ requirements 
and have an impact on 
the Council's 
reputation. 

1. Continue to consult 
with public where 
relevant.  
2. Collaboration 
agreement in place.  
3. Continue to engage 
with the "other" 
landowners to 
encourage their 
participation in the 
scheme.  
4. This risk is reviewed 
regularly as part of the 
ongoing project 
management.  
5. Maintaining regular 
contact with developer 
and potential retail 
/commercial/ leisure 
occupiers.  
6. Project Board meets 
regularly to review 
progress.  

Director of 
Development & 
Regeneration 
Services 

A major planning 
application by St 
Modwen for a scheme 
consisting of a multi-
screen cinema, 
restaurants & bars, 
retail facilities, and 
major enhancements to 
the public realm, has 
been approved.  
 

Discussions with 
scheme occupiers now 
proceeding. 
 
Viability of the scheme 
and alternative delivery 
options being explored. 

 

 9 Uneasy 

 
 

 

Level of Concern Action Required 

Very concerned 
Urgent attention required at highest level to ensure risk is reduced to an acceptable level.  Action planning should start without delay.  

Progress on actions should be reported to the Chief Executive and / or the Leader. 

Concerned 
Requires mitigation, contingency plan and identification of early warning indicators. Progress reported to CMT. 

Uneasy 
Acceptable. Requires mitigation. Reviewed at Head of Service level. 

Content 
Acceptable. Keep under review but no action required unless changes occur.  

 

P
age 1326



1 

 

 

 

Risk Management Policy 

Page 1327



2 

 

1.0 Introduction 

Risk is a part of everyday life. The Authority recognises that there are risks involved 

in everything it does and that it has a duty to manage these risks. This duty is to 

employees, residents and people working in the Borough, service users, partners 

and other stakeholders. 

The Authority defines risk as the possibility that an action or event will adversely or 

beneficially affect its ability to achieve its planned objectives. The effective 

identification, assessment, monitoring, management and reporting of risk will help to 

ensure that:  

 Planned objectives are more likely to be achieved  

 Opportunities are recognised 

 Adverse risks are less likely to happen  

 The impact of adverse risks which are realised is reduced 

Effective risk management is therefore regarded as a critically important part of the 

work of the Authority.  

This policy aims to ensure that we have a planned and systematic approach to 

identify, evaluate and manage the whole range of risks and opportunities facing the 

Authority. This policy also informs the approach to the Risk Management framework 

which is the established process by which the Authority identifies, assesses and 

manages risk in order that it should succeed in its planned objectives.  

2.0 Aims of the Risk Management Policy 

The Risk Management Policy has the following aims and objectives: 

 To integrate Risk Management into the culture of the Authority 

 To raise awareness of the need for Risk Management with all those 

connected with the delivery of services 

 To enable the Authority to anticipate and respond to changing social, 

environmental and legislative conditions 

 Minimisation of injury, damage, loss and inconvenience to residents, 

employees, service users, assets etc. arising from or connected with the 

delivery of Council services 

 To maximise the rewards that can be gained through risk management 

Page 1328



3 

 

 To maintain and develop a robust framework and procedures for the 

identification, analysis, assessment and management of risk 

3.0 Risk Assessment 

Risk arises naturally and directly from the implementation of corporate and service 

aims and objectives. Therefore risk assessment is an integral part of all Council 

activity.  It is the Authority’s policy that all substantive activities should be subject to 

risk assessment. This includes all significant projects, for example, financial 

developments, legislative developments, human resource initiatives, health and 

safety, communication upgrades, partnerships and IT developments. Risks must be 

regularly monitored and actively managed until the objectives have been achieved 

(or the risk realised).  

Risks should be assessed using the standard approach set out at the end of this 

policy. This requires the impact and likelihood of a risk to be evaluated and then 

scored on a risk matrix. This score then determines the level of concern associated 

with that risk and the action that is required to be taken. The Authority’s risk appetite 

is determined by Cabinet and can be defined as the level of risk that the Authority is 

willing to take in pursuit of its objectives and values.  

4.0 Service Risk Registers 

Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring that all significant risks are included in 

Service Risk Registers using the Covalent Pentana Performance system. This risk 

register should describe the risk event, who is responsible for managing the risk, 

planned and completed actions, potential effects, internal controls and a current and 

target risk assessment. Risk events should be removed when the objective has been 

reached (or the risk realised) and new risk events added as soon as they are 

identified. 

5.0 Risk Ownership and Management 

Every risk should be assigned to a risk owner who is identified on the Risk Register. 

The risk owner is the designated member of staff (or management group) who 

carries the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the risk is effectively managed. 

The risk owner is responsible for agreeing and delivering the action plan to control 

the risk and monitoring progress against it. This is a key element in the risk 

management process as it is crucial that risks are not just identified and assessed 

but that they are also effectively controlled. 

Internal control is key to effective risk management and plays a significant part in the 

management of risks. Actions, procedures and operations undertaken to either 

Page 1329



4 

 

contain a risk to an acceptable level, or to increase the probability of a desirable 

outcome should be detailed on the Risk Register. 

6.0 Risk Reporting 

Monitoring reports on Service Risk Registers will be produced as a minimum on a 

quarterly basis for the formal consideration of Heads of Service.  

Monitoring reports on Key Risks (the most significant risks facing the Council) will be 

produced on a six monthly basis for the consideration of CMT and Cabinet.  

 
7.0 Risks and the Decision Making Process 

Risks need to be addressed at the point at which decisions are being taken. Where 

Members and Officers are asked to make decisions they should be advised of the 

risks associated with the recommendations being made. Consequently, the Authority 

needs to be able to demonstrate that it has taken reasonable steps to consider the 

risk involved in a decision. 

All reports requiring key decisions, including new and amended policies and 

strategies, must therefore include a section to demonstrate that risks have been 

addressed. This doesn’t does not guarantee that decisions will always be right but 

the important point is to demonstrate that risks have been considered and to have 

evidence that will support this. 

8.0 Role of Risk Management Working Group 

Although every member of staff carries some responsibility for the management of 

risk, the Authority identifies the Risk Management Working Group (RMWG) as 

responsible for maintaining and developing the Risk Management Framework. 

Heads of Service should nominate a Risk Co-ordinator to represent each Service 

area on the RMWG. 

The Risk Management Working Group will meet twice yearly to consider the 

following types of area: 

 Issues and improvements to the Risk Management Framework 

 Risk Management training for both Members and Officers 

 Reviewing and recommending changes to the Risk Management Policy 

 Reviewing the Key Risk Register and recommending changes 

 Disseminating good practice requirements across the Authority 

Page 1330



5 

 

9.0 Role of the Risk Co-ordinators 

The Risk Co-ordinator is responsible for maintaining and developing the Risk 

Management Framework within their Service, supported by the Risk Management 

Working Group. 

The Risk Co-ordinator’s role is to:   

 Represent their Service’s interest in the management of the Council’s risks 

and act as a Service lead officer on risk management issues including risk 

issues in relation to service plans. 

 Support their Head of Service in implementing the Risk Management Policy 

within their Service 

 Co-ordinate the risk process in their Service by monitoring and maintaining a 

Service Risk Register on behalf of their Service Managers. 

 Monitor and review the status of service risks and action plans implemented 

to reduce or control those risks. 

 To attend the twice yearly meetings of the Risk Management Working Group 

(or nominate a suitable substitute when unable to attend).  

 Give advice and guidance to Managers/Officers within their Service on 

preparing risk assessments for committee reports. 

10.0 Role of Heads of Service 

The role of Heads of Service is to: 

 Implement policies on risk management within their Services including 

ensuring that an up to date Service Risk Register is maintained 

 Review Service Risks on a quarterly basis and Key Risks on a six monthly 

basis 

 Review the risk management system to ensure that it is functioning effectively  

11.0 Governance Arrangements 

The Authority’s Risk Management Framework is critically important in the context of 

governance and the Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility for 

ensuring that the Framework operates effectively. An annual report will be produced 

for this Committee on the operation of the Risk Management Framework so that its 

Members can assess its effectiveness.  

Page 1331



6 

 

12.0 Role of Audit  

Internal Audit evaluate risk management processes continuously in order to provide 

assurance to Members and Senior Management that significant business risks are 

being  managed appropriately and that the Risk Management and Internal Control 

framework is operating effectively. Our External Auditors may also conduct separate, 

independent reviews of the Risk Management Framework from time to time. The 

findings from this work will be included in the annual report to the Audit and 

Governance Committee. 

 
13.0 Skills, Expertise and Guidance 

Having established roles and accountabilities for risk management, the Authority 

must ensure that it has the necessary skills and expertise to deliver this framework. 

This will be accomplished through an on-going programme of risk management 

training and development for both Officers and Members.  

More detailed procedures for Officers are available via the Council intranet at 

http://intranet-westlancs-gov-uk-liveadmin/rules-and-regulations/risk-

management.aspx, which contains appropriate guidance to enable them to carry out 

their duties effectively. 

 
14.0 Making Others Aware of Risk Management 

The Authority recognises the potential for benefits and rewards from partnership 

working and it also recognises the risks involved. Whilst this risk can be managed by 

the Authority through formal contracts and partnership agreements that clearly 

allocate risks to the appropriate parties, failure by either or any one of those parties 

to manage their risks can have serious consequences for the other(s). 

Consequently, before entering into the partnership, joint working or business contract 

arrangements, prospective partners and contractors should be asked to state their 

approach to risk management and to provide certain minimum evidence to support 

their response.  

15.0 Maintenance and Development of the Risk Management Policy 

This Risk Management Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis. The results of 

this review will initially be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee for 

detailed consideration before being submitted to Cabinet for formal approval. 

Page 1332



7 

 

CORPORATE RISK ASSESSMENT 

 

Impact  

Page 1333



8 

 

Score   What's the worst that could happen? 

1  Disruption to back office function operations in the short term with 

no loss of service to citizens. 

 No harm to life or limb injuries sustained. 

 No reputational damage to service or WLBC 

 No environmental damage. 

 Low financial loss. One which can readily be met from existing 

budget provision.  

2  Some short term disruption to a non-critical service to citizens.  

 Minor injury to third party resolved by first aid treatment. 

 Minimal reputational damage (single adverse article in local press/ 

social media). 

 Minor damage to the environment likely to recover within one year 

without intervention. 

 Medium financial loss. (Requiring virement at the level delegated to 

Heads of Service, currently up to £10k). 

3  Limited temporary Short term disruption to a critical service (i.e. 

those services identified in the Council’s Business Continuity Plan). 

Noticeable to customers but not exceeding 48 hours duration. or 

substantial disruption to a non-critical service noticeable to 

customers. 

 Injury requiring visit to A&E / short term hospitalisation.  

 Persistent adverse coverage in local press or /radio / social media. 

 Damage to the environment which will recover within a year 

following remedial action. 

 High Significant financial loss (Can be met by virement at the level 

delegated to Cabinet, currently up to £50k). 

4  Serious Sustained disruption to a critical service to citizens or loss or 

reduction of more than one service likely to last more than 48 hours –

or multiple non critical services - Circumstances defined in the 

Business Continuity Plan as requiring notification of the Emergency 

Planning and Business Continuity Manager.  

 Serious Injury requiring longer term hospitalisation or resulting in 

permanent damage. 

 Adverse article in national press, radio or TV, TV or social media. 

 Damage to the environment, which will not recover within one year 

even with remedial action or one which requires notification of other 

agencies. 

 Major financial loss. (Requiring virement to be approved by Council, 

currently anything over £50k). 

5  Events leading to Central Government intervention in running of a 

WLBC service.   

 Loss of critical service to citizens for more than 7 days. 

Circumstances requiring the Business Continuity or other major 

incident management plans to be invoked. 

 Multiple injury or /loss of life. 

 Extensive coverage in national media. 

 Damage to the environment likely to persist for many years despite 

remedial action or requiring intervention from other agencies. 

 Enormous financial loss.  (Losses at a level which would impact on 

the Council’s financial capacity to carry out its business). 

Page 1334



9 

 

 
 

 

Note, these are examples to indicate the level of risk within each category and do not 

include every conceivable type of risk.  This is meant as general guidance only and not 

precise criteria.  If you have any specific queries then please contact the Borough 

Treasurer or Insurance & Risk Management Officer. 

 

 

Likelihood 
 

Score Descriptors 

5 Almost certain. Occurs frequently or expected to occur within one 

year.  

4 Likely.  Expected to occur more than once in 10 years.  

3 Possible.  Expected to occur once in 10 years.     

2 Unlikely.  Not expected to occur over a 10 year period. 

1 Remote. Not expected to occur. Has not occurred or may only be 

expected to occur in exceptional circumstances.  

 

WLBC Impact / Likelihood Matrix 
 

  
Impact 

  1 2 3 4 5 

L
ik

el
ih

o
o
d

 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

 
 

Level of Concern Action Required 

Very concerned 
Urgent attention required at highest level to ensure risk is 

reduced to an acceptable level.  Action planning should 

start without delay.  Progress on actions should be 

reported to the Chief Executive and / or the Leader. 

Concerned 
Requires mitigation, contingency plan and identification 

of early warning indicators. Progress reported to CMT. 

Uneasy 
Acceptable. Requires mitigation. Reviewed at Head of 

Service Level. 

Content 
Acceptable. Keep under review but no action required 

unless changes occur.  

 
 

Page 1335





 
 

 
 

CABINET: 13th March 2018 
 

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY: 29th March 2018 

 
 

 

 

 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Report of: Borough Treasurer 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor A. Yates 
      
Contact:  Marc Taylor (Extn. 5092)  
 (E-mail: Marc.Taylor@westlancs.gov.uk)  
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUBJECT: GENERAL REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET MONITORING 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide a projection of the financial position on the General Revenue Account 

(GRA) to the end of the financial year. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
2.1 That the financial position of the GRA be noted including the position on reserves 

and balances. 
 
2.2 That call in is not appropriate for this item as the report is being submitted to the 

next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 29th March 
2018. 

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

3.1 That the financial position of the GRA be noted. 
 

 

Page 1337

Agenda Item 7c



4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 In February 2017 the Council approved budgets for the GRA for the 2017-2018 

financial year. It is good practice that monitoring reports are produced on a 
regular basis to ensure that Members are kept informed of the financial position 
of this account. This is the third quarter monitoring report and is based on 
information available in January 2018. 

 
 
5.0 GENERAL REVENUE ACCOUNT 
 
5.1 The Council has set a revenue budget of £12.927m for the financial year. The 

mid-year monitoring position projected an overall favourable variance of £90,000 
or 0.7% against this budget. The latest third quarter monitoring figures now 
project an improvement of £85,000 on this position, and forecast an updated total 
budget variance of £175,000, which is 1.4% of the budget. 
 

5.2 At its meeting in February, Council agreed to use this favourable variance to 
provide financial support for the budget for 2018-19 as part of the Budget 
Requirement Report. This means that this budget variance has now been fully 
allocated. 

 
5.3 The projections have been calculated on a prudent basis, and consequently it can 

be confidently expected that the Council will achieve these budget figures. This 
will continue our strong track record of managing our financial performance to 
ensure that the outturn position is in line with the budget. Within this total position, 
each Directorate and Service is also expected to have a favourable budget 
variance. 

 
5.4 Employee costs form a significant proportion of the Council’s total budget and 

consequently are very important from a budget management perspective. The 
budget contains a corporate target for staff efficiency savings of £280,000 per 
year, and the active management of staffing levels will mean that this target 
should be achieved and exceeded by the year end. 

 
5.5 The external income that the Council generates can be one of the most volatile 

areas of the budget, with income going up and down due to factors outside our 
direct control. This year income levels are generally in line or performing better 
than the budget targets. 

 
5.6 Primarily through the Policy Options process a range of measures have been 

agreed to deliver savings and generate additional income in the 2017-18 financial 
year, and the total value of these measures is just under £1.2m. In general good 
performance has been made in delivering these initiatives and the overall target 
should be exceeded. The most significant measure was the introduction of 
garden waste charging, and the income performance in this area has exceeded 
the budget target. To reflect this position the income budget for garden waste 
charging has been increased from £500,000 in the current year to £640,000 in 
2018-19. Where relevant the budget targets for other initiatives have also been 
adjusted as part of the budget setting process for 2018-19. 

 
 
 

Page 1338



6.0 RESERVES AND BALANCES 
 
6.1 The Council agreed an updated Reserves Policy at its meeting in February. This 

Policy has taken various factors into account including the difficult medium term 
financial position facing the Council as a result of an ongoing series of reductions 
in its grant funding. Consequently the GRA will continue to have an adequate 
level of reserves in place that should enable it to deal with its financial challenges 
effectively.  

 
 
7.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in 

particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.  
 
 
8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 The formal reporting of performance on the General Revenue Account is part of 

the overall budgetary management and control framework that is designed to 
minimise the financial risks facing the Council. 

 
 

 
 

Background Documents 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 
Minute of Cabinet held on 13 March 2018 (Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
only) – to follow 
  
 

Page 1339





 

 
 

 
CABINET: 13 March 2018 
 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
29 March 2018 

 

 
Report of: Director of Housing and Inclusion and Borough Treasurer 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Cllr J. Forshaw 
 
Contact for further information: Mr P. Quick (Extn. 5203)  

(peter.quick@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT: HRA REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 
 

 
Wards Affected: Borough wide 
 
 
1.0  PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1  To provide an update on the current position in respect of the 2017-18 
Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA) and Council Housing Capital Investment 
Programme. 

 
 
2.0  RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
2.1  That the financial position in respect of the 2017-18 HRA and Council Housing 

Capital Investment Programme be noted. 
 
2.2  That call in is not appropriate for this item as the report is being submitted to 

the next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 29th 
March. 

 
 
3.0  RECOMMENDATION TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
3.1  That the financial position in respect of the 2017-18 HRA and Council Housing 

Capital Programme be noted. 
 
 

 

Page 1341

Agenda Item 7d

mailto:peter.quick@westlancs.gov.uk


 
  

Page 1342



4.0  BACKGROUND 
 
4.1  In February 2017 Council agreed the 2017-18 HRA revenue and capital 

budgets.  These budgets built on previous policy options that addressed the 
on-going and progressive financial pressures created by the 1% per annum 
rent reduction required by government policy over the 4 year period to 2019-
2020.   

 
 
5.0  HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT – PROJECTED OUTTURN 
 
5.1  A summary of the projected HRA revenue outturn is set out in Appendix A and 

shows that a favourable budget variance of £975,000 is expected, 
representing 3.8% of total turnover. This compares to the mid year projected 
outturn position of £875,000 (3.4% of total turnover).  This demonstrates that 
the HRA remains in a healthy financial position. The main reasons for this 
positive forecast are that: 

 

 The active management of staffing levels should deliver a favourable 
budget variance on employee expenditure 

 Void repairs and response repairs are projected to be £100,000 below 
budget for the year, although as both budgets are demand led this position 
could change depending on issues and developments in the remainder of 
the year 

 There is a projected underspend on painting activities due to a contractor 
being in liquidation and the remaining two contractors being unable to 
substantially increase their delivery beyond that originally agreed. Painting 
contracts are due to be re-procured in 2018-19 so existing budget 
provision will be maintained. 

  
5.2  A significant element of the projected favourable budget variance on 

employee costs comes from vacant posts being held prior to the 
reorganisation of the Housing and Inclusion Directorate which was agreed by 
Council in July. It is estimated that the reorganisation itself will generate a 
saving of around £100,000 this year. These staff savings have been 
transferred to the HRA Budget contingency in line with our normal approach 
for dealing with in-year savings. The anticipated shortfall in internal income is 
primarily due to capitalised staff costs where there are a number of vacant 
posts, and this is in effect offsetting part of the favourable employee expenses 
variance. 

 
5.3 In July 2017 Council agreed funding of £60,000 from the 2016/17 favourable 

outturn position for use towards stock condition survey work.  Having up-to-
date, comprehensive stock condition information is essential for producing a 
good quality asset plan and maintaining good quality homes.  Further 
spending on stock condition and other survey and inspection work has then 
been made this year funded from the HRA Budget contingency. This should 
help to provide a thorough picture of the condition of our housing stock and 
will enable any potential issues to be identified.   

 

Page 1343



 
5.4  It can be confidently expected that the HRA will meet its budget targets and 

this will continue our track record of managing our financial performance to 
ensure that the outturn position is in line with the budget. Consideration can 
be given to how this projected favourable budget variance should be used 
when Council consider the outturn position in July 2018, taking into account 
the latest HRA Business Plan projections, and the funding required for the 
Sustainable Organisation Review approved by Council in February. 

 
 
6.0  CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 
 
6.1  A summary of capital expenditure to the end of December 2017 against the 

revised budgets is shown in Appendix B. Total expenditure to date is £4.036m 
which represents 38% of the total revised budget of £10.652m. This compares 
to expenditure of £6.789m at the quarter 3 point of 2016-17, which 
represented 45% of the total budget of £15.07m. The main reason why 
expenditure was higher last year was as a result of spending of £1.44m on the 
Firbeck Revival project, which has now largely been completed, plus £0.99m 
of spend in 2016-17 on completing the kitchens programme.  

 
6.2 It is standard practice at year-end that capital budgets that have not been fully 

utilised are reviewed before being slipped into the following year to allow for 
completion of the existing programme. If the review identifies elements of the 
capital budget that will not be required in the following year they may be 
removed from the capital investment programme to release funding. It is 
anticipated at this stage that most unutilised budget will be slipped into 2018-
19, and full details will be included in the HRA outturn report to July Council. 

 
6.3 In order to deliver more of the 2018-19 investment programme in 2018-19 and 

generally reduce future slippage, procurement of several key programmes is 
taking place during the last quarter of 2017-18 with the aim of actually starting 
the programmes in quarter one of 2018-19. Previously procurement of annual 
programmes has typically taken place early in the year in question. 
 

 
7.0  SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1  Monitoring of the budget position will help to ensure, with the information we 

are aware of, that the HRA remains able to deliver services and is financially 
sustainable in the medium term.  

 
 
8.0  RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1  The formal reporting of performance on the Housing Revenue Account is part 

of the overall budgetary management and control framework that is designed 
to minimise the financial risks facing the Council.  

 
 

Page 1344



 

 

Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – HRA Projected Revenue Outturn Position 
Appendix B – Housing Capital Year to Date Position 
Appendix C – Minute of Cabinet held on 13 March 2018 (Executive Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee only) – to follow 

  

Page 1345



Appendix A – HRA Projected Revenue Outturn Position 

Budget Area Budget 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Comment 

Employee Expenses 4,958 -500 
The active management of 
staffing levels will lead to a 
favourable budget variance 

Void repairs and response 
repairs 

2,637 -100 
Both budgets are demand-
led so final outturn depends 
upon various factors 

Other premises costs 3,160 -350 
Painting contractor in 
liquidation 

Transport costs 220 -30   

Budget contingency 125 -125 
No calls on remaining 
contingency identified 

Supplies and Services 1,304 0  

Support Services and 
internal income (net) 

1,640 150 
Capitalisation of staff salaries 
will be below budget due to 
vacant posts 

Loan interest 3,057 0  

Contributions to capital 8,592 0   

Dwelling rents -23,223 0   

Other external income -2,470 -20   

Total  0 -975 
Represents 3.8% of the 
overall turnover 

 

* The budget for employee expenses has been amended to reflect the reorganisation 
of Housing & Inclusion approved by Council in July 2017 and becoming operational 
from November 2017.  Budget savings in-year have been added to the contingency 
budget.   
 
** The budget contingency has been used in-year to fund stock condition and related 
assessments. The budget has been vired to Supplies and Services. 
 

 

 

  

Page 1346



Appendix B - Housing Capital Year to Date Position 

Scheme Description Revised 
Budget 

£000 

Q3 
Spend 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Q3 
Spend 

% 

Bathroom Replacements 1,306 278  1,028  21% 

Re-Roofing Works 1,200 142  1,058  12% 

Electrical Upgrades 1,034 563  471  54% 

Heating System Upgrades 809 643  166  79% 

Sheltered Housing Upgrades 756 378  378  50% 

Contingency/Voids 725 366 359  50% 

Beechtrees 680 248  432  36% 

Professional Fees 679 470  209  69% 

Adaptations for Disabled People 642 101  541  16% 

Communal Areas Improvements 470 35  435  7% 

Property  Purchases 470 495  -25  105% 

Windows and Doors 455 136  319  30% 

Structural Works 260 14  246  5% 

HRA Garages 229 146  83  64% 

Walls 200 2  198  1% 

Firbeck Revival 200 -51  251  -26% 

Westec Development HRA Element 130 0  130  0% 

Environmental Programme 100 0  100  0% 

Improvements to Binstores 50 4  46  8% 

Local Housing Allowance Initiatives 50 0  50  0% 

Housing OR Recommendations 40 8  32  20% 

Flood Resilience Works 33 26  7  79% 

Digital Inclusion Initiatives 30 0  30  0% 

Flaxton Rainbow 25 0  25  0% 

Environmental Improvements 24 0  24  0% 

Evenwood Court Re modelling 23 0  23  0% 

Painting/Rendering no Fines 15 0  15  0% 

Energy Efficiency 6 30  -24  500% 

Lifts 6 0  6  0% 

Equipment Replacement 5 0  5  0% 

Total Expenditure 10,652 4,036  6,616 38% 

 

Page 1347





 
 

 

 
CABINET: 13 March 2018 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Report of: Director of Development and Regeneration 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran 
 
Contact for further information: Kate Pierce (Extn. 2679)  
    (E-mail: kate.pierce@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  DEVELOPING AN ORMSKIRK BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 

 
 
Wards affected: Ormskirk Ward(s) 
 
1.0   PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide a summary of the report prepared by Groundwork Ltd, into the 

feasibility of developing a BID for Ormskirk. 
 

1.2 To seek agreement to the next steps in developing a BID for Ormskirk. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That subject to a BID Steering Group being formed by the private sector 

businesses of Ormskirk the development of a BID be taken forward by this 
group. 

 
2.2 That the development of a BID for Ormskirk be supported by the Council.  
 
2.3 That officers support the Town Centre Management Group and any future 

BID Steering Group in activities to develop a BID. 
    
2.4 That, should an application be made by the Town Centre Management 

Group/BID Steering Group to the MHCLG (Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government) BID loan fund, that the application be supported by 
the Council and that the Council act as the accountable body for the loan. 

 

Page 1349

Agenda Item 7e



2.5 That delegated authority be given to the Director of Development & 
Regeneration to oversee utilisation of the loan (if approved by the MHCLG). 

 
2.6 That the Council draws up and publishes baseline agreements relating to the 

Council's statutory obligations within the BID area. 
 
2.7 That the Council administer any BID ballot. 
 
2.8 That the proposed timeline as evidenced in Appendix C be approved.  
 
 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 

3.1 At its meeting in 14th March 2017 Cabinet agreed to appoint Groundwork Ltd 

to undertake a feasibility study to look at a sustainable future for Ormskirk and 

the potential of introducing a Business Improvement District (BID) in Ormskirk.   

3.2 The recommendation to undertake the Feasibility Study was made to Cabinet 

by the Town Centre Management Group who were considering whether the 

introduction of a BID would be appropriate for Ormskirk and who wanted to 

fully understand the implications and potential benefits of a BID. 

3.3 Groundwork were appointed to undertake the Feasibility Study as they have 
significant experience in the delivery of BIDs in the UK including several 
examples of successful BIDs in the North West in market towns of a similar 
size to Ormskirk. 

 
4.0 WHAT IS A BID?  
 
4.1 A BID is a business-led and business-funded body formed to improve a 

defined area. A BID can enable businesses to have a collective voice and 
allow the business community to identify and deliver additional services in 
order to improve the local trading environment.    

 
4.2   BIDs are created following a ballot process and funded via a levy. The levy is 

charged on business rate payers within the defined BID area, which is paid in 
addition to their current business rates bill. BIDs were first established in the 
UK in 2005 and there are now almost 300 BIDs in towns nationwide.  

4.3 There is specific legislation in place for BID’s, the levy is a legal requirement 
just like Business Rates and is treated as a statutory debt. The legislation 
which relates to the BID’s is The Business Improvement Districts (England) 
Regulations 2004 and the Non Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) 
(Local Lists) Regulations 1989. The legislation details all the steps and 
processes involved in developing or altering a BID, providing specific 
information relating to proposals, renewing proposals, altering proposals, 
preliminary procedures, instructions on how to undertake a ballot, and it 
details all the specifics a proposer needs to undertake to develop a proposal. 

Page 1350



4.4 The levy can be used as a catalyst to raise funds for improvements through a 
range of projects and initiatives that provide benefits to the local business 
area as long as these are over and above the services already provided by 
the Borough Council and other service delivery organisation such as 
Lancashire County Council and the police.   

4.5 For a BID to be established a BID Proposal and business plan must be 
submitted to the local authority by a BID Steering Group. The BID Proposal 
must set out the priorities for the area, the services to be provided, the size 
and the scope of the BID. It would also set out who is liable for the levy, the 
individual amounts to be collected and how it is calculated as well as how it 
will be operated and managed. 

4.6 For a BID to be implemented a ballot, run by the local authority, must be held. 
To be successful over 50% of the businesses in the area who cast their ballot 
must vote in favour and those voting in favour must also represent over 50% 
of the total rateable value of those businesses. 

4.7 Once a ballot has been won the BID Proposal becomes a legally binding 
document and this then becomes the framework within which the BID will 
operate. A BID lasts for 5 years after which another ballot must be held as to 
whether to continue for a further 5 years. 

5.0 RESULTS OF THE FEASIBILITY STUDY 

5.1 A full copy of the Feasibility Study is attached as appendix A. 

5.2 The Feasibility Study involved a consultation with local businesses, securing 

31 responses from a sample of 60. In summary (extracted from Section 4 of 

the report), the report shows that there are a number of opportunities for 

improving town centre beyond the statutory duties of the Council.  

Key trends 

5.3 44% of respondents thought that a BID was a good idea. 52% stated that they 

did not know.  

5.4 Key areas identified for improvement are: 

 Improved public transport and car parking initiatives 

 Stronger marketing and profiling of Ormskirk as a destination of choice 

 Non-statutory improvements to street scene, town dressing and 
signage 

 Additional crime and security interventions 

 Enhanced programme of events and festivals 

 Improved communication links and business support 
 

5.5 The Feasibility Study reported that the development of a single independent, 

dedicated body for Ormskirk could effectively lead and realise successful 

outcomes for the town.  

Page 1351



Income Generation 

5.6 A BID levy is usually set between 1% and 2% of the rateable value of a 

premises. Table 1 below is taken from the Feasibility Study and sets out the 

potential income that could be generated. The levy would be charged on all 

276 hereditaments within the defined area where the rateable value of the 

premises is more than £6,000.  

5.7 For the purposes of the study the BID area has been defined as the 

commercial district of Ormskirk and also included Edge Hill University. The 

plan showing the defined are is set out in Appendix B.  

5.8 Table 1: Financial Options 

 

% Levy 

RV Threshold  
(below which 
hereditaments are 
exempt) 

BID levy raised 
(pa) 

Hereditaments 
levied 

1.0% £6k £98k 276 

1.5% £6k £147k 276 

2.0% £6k £196k 276 

 
These figures are based on 276 hereditaments. 
 

5.9 The report showed that a revenue of between £490,000 and £980,000 over 5 

years (£98k pa at 1% and £196k pa at 2% respectively). These sums are 

calculated without caps and exclusions. 

Time line 

5.10 The report suggested an indicative timeline for the implementation of a BID. 

This is detailed in Appendix C and suggests that, on the basis of the MHCLG 

loan being approved, a BID could be implemented within 12 months. 

Summary of the Feasibility Study 

5.11 The report recommends that consideration be given to the development of a 

BID as the most appropriate mechanism for the release of sustainable, secure 

funding, to realise added value opportunities.  

5.12 The report strongly recommends the establishment of a private sector led 

steering group. 76% of respondents showed an interest in participating in a 

working group to support and guide the development of projects and services 

that will benefit the town's trading environment. 

6.0 RESPONSE OF THE TOWN CENTRE MANAGEMENT GROUP 

6.1 The findings of the report were presented to the Town Centre Management 

Group at its meeting on 23rd January 2018. After the presentation there was a 

discussion and an opportunity for questions. The group agreed that further 

Page 1352



consideration should be given to a potential BID for Ormskirk. The group 

agreed to: 

 Explore the positive and negative outcomes of BIDs in other areas 

 Promote the idea of a BID to businesses of Ormskirk 

 Identify and invite potential business leaders to become active in a BID 

 Establish a motivated body of local business leaders who would 
progress activity towards a BID with a view to this becoming a more 
formalised Steering Group 

 Establish the likely revenue sum to be generated and what the possible 
outcome of this would be in terms of delivery 

 Apply for a loan from the MHCLG to cover BID development costs  
 

6.2 The group agreed that should a steering group be formally established then a 

formal consultation on the BID proposal, of all businesses within the defined 

area, would be undertaken.  

6.3 The Group agreed to request that the Council: 

 Supports the Town Centre Management Group/BID Steering Group in 
the development of a BID for Ormskirk  

 Assists the Town Centre Management Group and the BID Steering 
Group in activities to develop a BID 

 An application to the DCLG BID loan fund be supported and that the 
Council acts as the accountable body for the loan 

 Administer the BID ballot 
 
7.0 COSTS 

7.1 The resources required to facilitate the development of a BID will include 

financial and staff time. Groundwork has estimated that the likely costs of 

enabling a BID would be in the region on £25,000 to £35,000.  

7.2 A loan fund of up to £50,000 is available from the DCLG for BID development. 

The Town Centre Management Group can apply for the loan with the Council 

acting as accountable body for the loan recipient. As part of the loan fund 

agreement, the repayment terms will be on receipt of the annual levy following 

a successful ballot. There is no obligation to pay back the loan in the event of 

an unsuccessful ballot. Interest will be charged on the loan at 1% above the 

rate of inflation. 

7.3 In terms of officer time, it is proposed that officers of the Economic 

Regeneration team support the business community in the development of a 

BID for Ormskirk. Officers from several Council service areas will be required 

to support the development of a BID. In particular officers will be required to 

formalise baseline agreements relating to the Council's statutory obligations 

within the BID area. This could include street cleansing, maintenance of open 

space, highways etc. Other organisation who provide base line services to the 

town, eg, Lancashire County Council and the Police, would also be required to 

Page 1353



draw up baseline agreements. Officers of the Council will also be required to 

run a formal ballot and also administer the loan. 

8.0 NEXT STEPS 

8.1 For successful BID implementation the development of a BID needs to be 

business led. In recognition of this the Management Group has agreed to take 

a number of steps in progressing a potential BID for Ormskirk (see paragraph 

6.1). 

8.2 Nevertheless the Council can offer support in the development of a BID which 

will help strengthen the likelihood of a positive result at the ballot. Support can 

be given by officers of the Economic Regeneration team and might involve 

effective business engagement, promotion of the potential BID and assistance 

in the development of the business plan.  

8.3 Should a loan be applied for by the Town Centre Management Group then the 

Council are asked to act as the accountable body. It is proposed that 

delegated authority be given to the Deputy Director of Development & 

Regeneration to oversee utilisation of the loan (if approved). 

8.4 In the event that a formal BID Steering Group is set up by local businesses to 

progress a BID for Ormskirk, and a formal consultation is undertaken, the 

Council will be required to host a formal BID ballot. The DCLG loan fund could 

be used in part to cover the costs of running a BID ballot. 

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There are some sustainability impacts associated with this report, in particular, 

the economic prosperity of existing businesses of Ormskirk and the image of 

the Ormskirk as a commercial centre. 

10.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are some financial and resource implications arising from this report in 

respect of potential costs of developing a BID for Ormskirk. However the 
financial cost will be met utilising the DCLG BID loan fund (if approved) and 
within the existing budget for Ormskirk Town Centre Strategy. Should a BID 
Steering Group make a BID proposal to the Council which in turn proposes a 
ballot of local businesses for the implementation of a BID, then the Council will 
be obliged to administer the BID ballot. Staff resource implication will be met 
using existing resources and the BID loan.  

 
11.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
11.1 The actions referred to in this report are covered by the scheme of delegation 

to officers and any necessary changes have been made in the relevant risk 

registers. 

12.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Page 1354



12.1 There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected 

members and / or stakeholders, therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is 

required.  A formal equality impact assessment is attached as Appendix D to 

this report, the results of which have been taken into account in the 

Recommendations contained within this report. 

 
 

 
Background Documents 
 
The following background documents (as defined in Section 100D (5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing this 
Report. 
 
Date    Document    File Ref 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – 'Feasibility Study Potential Business Improvement District for Ormskirk 

Town Centre' Groundwork, February 2018 

Appendix B – Proposed BID plan area  

Appendix C – Proposed BID Timeline  

Appendix D - Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 

 

Page 1355





 

 

 

 
 

         
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Feasibility Study – Potential Business Improvement District for 
Ormskirk Town Centre  

CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 

February 2018 
      
 

 
 

Prepared for : 
Ian Gill 

Deputy Director Development and 
Regeneration 

West Lancashire Borough Council 
52 Derby Street 

Ormskirk 
Lancashire 

L39 2DF 
 

Prepared by: 
Greville Kelly and Jane Hough 

smarterbusiness from 
Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside Ltd,  

Yarwoods Arm, Navigation Road, Northwich,  
Cheshire, CW8 1BE 
Tel: 01606 723175 

Email: greville.kelly@groundwork.org.uk 
Web: www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 

 
 

 

Page 1357

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 2 of 27 

 

 

Contents 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................ 4 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT BACKGROUND ............................................................................................ 5 

2.1 Project Aim and Methodology ........................................................................................................ 6 

3.0 ORMSKIRK TOWN CENTRE BID FEASIBILITY KEY FINDINGS.......................................................................... 7 

3.1 Stakeholder and Business Interview Results ................................................................................... 7 
3.2 Geographical Coverage of a Business Improvement District for Ormskirk ................................. 211 
3.3 Summary Time Line for Development of a BID ........................................................................... 222 

4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS ON A BID FOR ORMSKIRK ..................................................................................... 233 

APPENDIX ONE – MAP SHOWING THE AREA OF ORMSKIRK TOWN CENTRE AGAINST WHICH ANALYSIS WAS 
UNDERTAKEN OF HEREDITAMENT’S RATEABLE VALUE ........................................................................... 266 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1358

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 3 of 27 

 

 

Document Control 
Office use only 
 
Quality tracking: 

Prepared by 
Greville Kelly and Jane 
Hough 

Date 18th September 2017 

 

QA / Checked 
by 

Greville Kelly Date 20th September 2017 

 
Document version tracking: 

Issue Date Status 

1 20th September 2017 For release to client and initial 
feedback 

3 12th January 2018 Final release  

4 6th February 2018 WLBC Approved  

 
 
 
Disclaimer and Confidentiality  

The contents of this report are based upon a time limited consultation with the client. The contents of this report 
and findings from the work on site will remain confidential, and will not be shared with third parties without the 
permission of the company / client. 

Groundwork carries professional indemnity insurance, public liability insurance and employees’ liability insurance. 
Details of these are available upon request. 

Groundwork makes every effort to ensure the information provided through this service is appropriate and 
accurate. However, only the courts can authoritatively interpret the law and only acts and regulations have force 
of law. The final decision regarding any advice/information provided by Groundwork is the commercial 
responsibility of the client.  

Groundwork cannot accept responsibility for errors and/or omissions within this document or loss occasioned to 
persons acting or refraining from action as a result of the material in this document. 

Groundwork cannot take any responsibility on how the information provided is interpreted or for any action taken 
regarding the information provided to the client.    

Page 1359

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 4 of 27 

 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 

 

This study has been produced to assess the feasibility of a business improvement district (BID) in 

Ormskirk town centre. The project has involved engagement with a sample of 60 businesses and 

stakeholders to gauge opinion on a range of issues and challenges for Ormskirk town centre. The 

feedback within this report is from 31 companies and organisations who provided detailed responses 

through the project’s consultation process. 

The results of these consultations have shown a number of areas for improvement in the management 

of the town centre. Importantly, these areas for improvement in many cases are added value 

requirements, above and beyond the statutory responsibilities of West Lancashire Council. The report 

has therefore recommended that a BID is considered for resourcing these requirements on a sustainable 

and secure basis, subject to approval by companies and organisations within the town centre.  

The study has also undertaken analysis of the rateable value of Ormskirk, and option provided for the 

potential income that might be generated from a business improvement district for Ormskirk town 

centre incorporating Edge Hill University. These have shown that a BID could generate an investment of 

£490k and £980k over five years from 276 hereditaments with a rateable value above £6,000.  

Recommendations have been provided to support the next steps in development of a BID for Ormskirk 

town centre. These include recommendations on expected development costs, resource requirements 

from West Lancashire council and a timeline with a target of a BID being operational by April 2018. 

Further recommendations are also made around the importance of further private sector engagement, 

data gathering, communications and the establishment of a private sector led Town Centre BID Steering 

Group. 

  

Page 1360

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 5 of 27 

 

 

2.0 Introduction and Project Background 

 

Ormskirk is a market town in West Lancashire which has been in existence for over 700 years. The town 

has a unique historic character, a long established market and is home to Edge Hill University, which 

employees 4000 staff and is the largest hereditament within the Town. Ormskirk has maintained a lower 

than average level of vacant units in the town, which in July 2017 was 4.5% against a regional average 

of 13.3%. Despite this, recent anecdotal feedback from businesses indicates that the economic 

performance of traders is struggling. These pressures include on-line shopping, increased presence of 

dominant retail centres in the Northwest (Liverpool One, Trafford Centre) and competition from 

neighbouring towns and out of town shopping centres including Wigan, Southport, Preston and Aintree.  

 

To support the continued success of the town, West Lancashire Borough Council developed a Town 

Centre Strategy in 2015, and have dedicated capital budget and officer time and resource to supporting 

the on-going development of the Town Centre. The private sector has been actively engaged through a 

mixture of public / private partnerships (Town Centre Management Group) and private sector networks 

- in recent years this has included Love Ormskirk (now ceased trading), Ormskirk and West Lancashire 

Business Focus (OWL) and the recently formed Ormskirk Town Centre Business Action Group. Ormskirk 

has been supported through the Market Towns Initiative in the past, and more recently (2014 -2017) 

the Healthy High Streets Programme.  

 

Notwithstanding the past success achieved in Ormskirk, the Town Centre is perceived by stakeholders 

to be in need of further investment, for which the Local Authority holds some limited funds to enable. 

However, to ensure that the success of the past is sustained in the future, the Town Centre Management 

Group are interested in understanding how a Town Centre focused Business Improvement District could 

secure sustainable, private sector led investment in projects and services to secure Ormskirk’s long term 

future.  

 

 
  

Page 1361

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 6 of 27 

 

 

2.1 Project Aim and Methodology 

This feasibility study on a Business Improvement District for Ormskirk town centre has been 

commissioned by West Lancashire Borough Council, and produced by Groundwork, with the aim of 

producing: 

1. Key findings and trends from interviews with businesses and stakeholders 

2. Geographical options for development of a BID 

3. Recommendations on timescales and the process for developing a BID for Ormskirk town Centre 

4. Production of a rateable value database for Ormskirk town centre, including the analysis of RV 

data to develop geographical options for a BID 

5. Producing a BID development timeline for Ormskirk town centre, and a summary of outcomes a 

BID could generate 

6. A developed understanding on the role a BID could play in the future development of Ormskirk 

town centre, and advice on whether a BID is feasible. 

 

This study was delivered through the following methodology: 

Stage 1 – Project start meeting 

Stage 2 – Engagement and consultation with companies 

Stage 3 – Analysis of Rateable Value (RV) database 

Stage 4 – BID development timeline for Ormskirk Town Centre 

Stage 5 – Production of the draft report for feedback 

Stage 6 – Production of the final report, presentation and reporting  

Page 1362

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 7 of 27 

 

 

3.0 Ormskirk Town Centre BID Feasibility Key Findings  

 
3.1 Stakeholder and Business Interview Results 
 

A total of 60 companies were invited to take part in the consultation, with responses to the 
consultation being received from 31 businesses against a target of 30 businesses. The businesses 
responding were from the following sectors: 
 

 
 

Businesses and stakeholders engaged through this project were asked to indicate the relative 
importance to their business that each of the following themes from this consultation has in making 
Ormskirk town centre an improved trading environment. 
 

 
  

Page 1363

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 8 of 27 

 

 

When responses are prioritised against the themes reported as important or very important, the 
priority for these themes are as follows: 

Theme % respondents reporting that this theme is very 
Important or Important to their business 

1. Image and Street Cleansing 96% 

2. Transport 93% 

3. Marketing and Publicity 89% 

4. Safety and Security 89% 

5. Tourism and Heritage 86% 

6. Events 82% 

7. Business Support 68% 
 

Place Promotion and Management 

Place promotion and management is a key economic driver for any Town or City Centre. When asked 
how important it was for the overall visitor and customer experience in Ormskirk the following 
responses were received in order of priority. 

Please state the level of importance you place on 
the list below 

Very 
Important 

Important Moderately 
Important 

Not 
Important 

1)Physical assets: e.g. Key shopping streets, markets, 
art galleries, historic buildings, parks 
 

68% 28% 4% 0% 

2)Information Services: e.g. Visitor information 
services, street maps and town centre guides, web 
presence, social media 

50% 32% 18% 0% 

3) Access and connectivity: e.g. Good transport 
routes in to the town centre, connections via car, 
bus, train, cycling and walking across the town and 
beyond 

82% 18% 0% 0% 

4) Events, festivals and the activity offer: e.g. Weekly 
markets, specialist markets, Christmas lights switch 
on & Christmas shopping weekend, park events, 
charity events 

61% 29% 7% 3% 

 

Marketing and Events 

The consultation shows that respondents place a significant importance on marketing for their business, 
with 76% of respondents also stating that the marketing of Ormskirk as a destination was important to 
their business. However, when businesses were asked how they currently rate the marketing of 
Ormskirk, 26% of respondents stated that they thought it was poor with 44% stating it was satisfactory. 
Businesses were also asked if they were aware of the new Ormskirk branding, 68% stated that they were 
not aware of the new branding for Ormskirk.  
 
When stakeholders and businesses were asked who they thought was responsible for the marketing of 
Ormskirk, the following feedback was received. 

Who do you think is responsible for the marketing of Ormskirk town centre? Response (Y) 

West Lancashire Borough Council 64% 

Lancashire County Council 21% 

Marketing Lancashire 11% 

Local/online newspapers 14% 

Local businesses in the town centre 18% 

Local business groups/networks 18% 

All of the above 43% 

Page 1364

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 9 of 27 

 

 

Respondents also stated that they thought there was a responsibility on businesses and the 
community to support with the marketing of Ormskirk. 
 
When respondents were asked if the existing festivals and events deliver an additional financial benefit 
/ increased footfall to their business in Ormskirk, the following responses were received. 

Event/Festival Yes No N/A 

Weekly markets 85% 15% 0% 

Love Your Local Market and other market 
related events 

46% 46% 
8% 

Specialist markets e.g., vintage markets 44% 52% 4% 

Christmas Lights Switch on event 41% 48% 11% 

Christmas shopping weekend 35% 50% 15% 

Motor Fest 44% 41% 15% 

Gingerbread Festival 48% 44% 8% 

Events in Coronation Park 22% 70% 8% 

Food and drink festivals 41% 52% 7% 

Freshers' week 42% 58% 0% 

 

Respondents were asked if there were any other events or festivals that are currently delivered in 
Ormskirk that bring a financial benefit to their business. Respondents reported the following: 

 Golf open 

 The market is the main draw to Ormskirk, but it desperately needs improving 

 Partnership opportunities, i.e. University Students working with events/businesses, in a 
volunteering/organizing capacity 

 Edgehill events e.g. graduations  
 

 
Respondents were asked what additional events and festivals could bring a financial benefit to their 
business.  Respondents suggested:  

 Free parking days, say one afternoon a week 

 Music Festival 

 National Fitness Day September 27th UKACTIVE something on Coronation Park that would get 
Ormskirk active 

 Mass participation events starting / terminating in the town (road races, cycling events, charity 
runs). 

 Festivals of arts & crafts 

 Trader day spaces on the public realm 
 
When asked how would you anticipate these Events to be funded and organised?  The following 
responses were received. 

 The Council 

 Businesses 

 Self-financing 

 Charity/Grant funding 
 

 
Respondents were asked what part if any, would your business play in such events.  Respondents 
suggested: 
 

Page 1365

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 10 of 27 

 

 

 All businesses would need to be involved - Has to be the collective. 

 Advertising and promoting 

 Donation towards cost   

 None 
 

Respondents were asked how 
they rated the communication of 
festivals and events to their 
business.  30% stated that they 
felt communication was poor, 
with 33% reporting 
communications as good.  

 
 
  

Page 1366

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 11 of 27 

 

 

Safety and Security 
Businesses and organisations were asked a series of questions around safety, security and crime during 
the consultation.  33% of businesses who responded to the survey said that their business had been a 
victim of crime in the last 12 months, which is below average compared to previous town centre 
consultations completed by Groundwork.    

 
When asked what types of crime respondents had experienced, the most common offences reported 
by the 33% of respondents who had been a victim of crime were: 

 General theft from a business (50%),  

 Shoplifting as a specific crime (40%) 

 Vandalism (20%) 
 

If yes, what did the incident (s) involve? 

 

Page 1367

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 12 of 27 

 

 

Respondents were also asked 
how safe they felt during key 
times of the day.  The 
following responses were 
received (right). 

 
Image and Street Cleansing 
Respondents were asked to rate a range of services, public realm assets and locations within Ormskirk 
town centre. The responses have been analysed taking account of the poor ratings for the first analysis 
and the excellent and good rating for the second analysis of this question. This has produced a list of the 
five poorest rated services, public realm assets and locations and a second list of the five highest rated 
services, public realm assets and locations. 
  

The five poorest rated services, public realm assets and 
locations 

% of respondents scoring item as 
satisfactory/poor 

1. Alleyways and Ginnels 82% 
2. Condition of the Pathways 64% 
3. Floral and Planting displays 61% 
4. Signage (Interpretation, e.g. maps) 57% 
5. Condition of the Buildings 56% 

 

The five highest rated services, public realm assets and 
location 

% of respondents scoring item as 
excellent/good 

1. Street Cleanliness   67% 
2. Street Lighting   64% 
3. Removal of Litter   61% 
4. Public Realm (e.g. paving and trees)   59% 
5. Building Lighting   59% 

 

When asked how the following activities are managed in Ormskirk town centre, the following 
responses were received. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Street Activity Excellent Good Satisfactory Poor 

Chuggers (street fundraisers) 0% 29% 32% 39% 

Leafleting 0% 29% 50% 21% 

Buskers 0% 44% 44% 12% 

Street Traders 4% 44% 33% 19% 

Animations / Professional Street 
Performers 

0% 42% 42% 16% 

Unlawful advertising e.g. flyposting, 
A-boards 

4% 31% 38% 27% 

Traffic restrictions 4% 33% 30% 33% 

Page 1368

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 13 of 27 

 

 

 

Additional comments received included:  

 No parking enforcement whatsoever in Moorgate & Market way, vans & cars parking 
wherever they feel like, gives a poor impression and feeling of town centre, main problem on 
market days. 

 To many aggressive charity and marketing sales people in the street 

 Although Church Street is meant to be pedestrianised. Vehicles are frequently parked 

 ‘A' boards are not managed and are unsightly for local residents in particular 

 There is no restrictions on buskers or chuggers - don't get moved on by anybody  

 Policing of Town Centre traffic access / parking controls appears to be confused between 
various agencies and is inconsistent and largely ineffective 

 Issues with fundraisers especially around the bus station 

 Rarely see street performers... There's a huge opportunity to use busking as a form of income 
generation ('spot' branding) - busker quality needs to be vetted 

 
 

  

Page 1369

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 14 of 27 

 

 

Business Support 

Joint Procurement 
Businesses were asked if they would be interested in joint procurement services to lower their 
operational costs.  There was very little interest expressed by those businesses who responded to the 
consultation.   
 
Despite the low level of interest, this initiative should be kept under review through a full Business 
Improvement District consultation, Joint Procurement services delivered by BID’s have realised huge 
cost savings particularly with independent businesses and the professional business services industry. 
 
Broadband Connectivity 
Broadband and connectivity plays a significant role in any future development plans for town centres.  
Businesses were asked during the consultation if they had access to broadband and if they did how they 
rate their broadband connection. 28 participants responded to this question, providing the following 
responses to rating their broadband connection: 
 

 
 

  

Page 1370

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 15 of 27 

 

 

Landlord Assistance – Empty Property 
If the respondent was a landlord, the following question was asked.  
Note: 3 respondents identified themselves as landlords when answering this question 

 
 

Importance of a single, independent, dedicated body for Ormskirk Town Centre 

Within Ormskirk there is not currently a single, independent dedicated body for supporting retailers 
and businesses. Many BID projects fulfil this requirement for their town and city centre businesses, 
and therefore the following question was asked to gauge the importance of such a body for retailers 
and businesses in Ormskirk Town Centre. 

 
 

 

Page 1371

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 16 of 27 

 

 

Connectivity and Transport 

 
 

Comments received in the section marked other: 
 

 Parking Enforcement and a review of car parking with traders   

 Cleanliness 

 Security  
   

Page 1372

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 17 of 27 

 

 

 

Future Plans for Businesses, Participation and support for Business Improvement Districts 

To take a BID forward within Ormskirk, it is essential for the private sector be willing to engage and lead 
on the process. Therefore the study asked respondents to state their level of interest in participating in 
a future working group to support / guide the development and implementation of projects / services 
that will benefit the town as a trading environment. The responses to the consultation highlighted the 
following key points: 

 76% of respondents are either interested in very interested in in participating in a future 
steering group to support / guide the development and implementation of projects / services as 
part of a Business Improvement District that will benefit the town as a trading environment.  

 36% of respondents reported they feel unsure about the future of Ormskirk town centre, with 
32% reporting they felt positive and 32% reporting they negative about the future of the town. 

 44% of respondents reported that BIDs in principle were a good idea, whilst 52% are unsure.  
 
The graphs below provide more detail on each of these questions asked.  
       

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

38% 38%

24%

Very Interested May be Interested Not Interested

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

How interested are you in participating in a future steering group 
to support / guide the development and implementation of 

projects / services as part of a Business Improvement District that 
will benefit the town as a trading environment?

44%

4%

52%

Yes No Don't know

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) are business led - in 
principle do you think BIDs are a good idea?

Page 1373

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 18 of 27 

 

 

Respondents were asked what their three priorities were in Ormskirk.   
 
 

Priority 1 Responses 
Car Parking and Transport 

 Car parking subsidies  

 Transport Links,  

 Parking enforcement and car 
parking review 

 Car parking - pay on exit 

 Free parking for the first 3 hours 

 3 Hour Parking - People are paranoid 
about getting a ticket 

 Free Parking - This would attract 
many more visitors to the area 

 Parking 

Priority 2 Responses 
Car Parking and Transport 

 Parking - encourage medium term parking, 
discourage long-term within the ring-road, 
enforce pedestrian zones 

 Free Parking 

 Local Events - Combined with free parking 
would boost numbers to the area. 

 Transport 
Planning and Retail Support /Strategy 

 Marketing 

 Incentives for small independent businesses 
to open. 

 No more food or drink establishments and 
encouragement to other business 

 Better parking cheaper parking 

 Reduce rent to fill units with proper shops to 
increase shoppers to the town and new 
Business's 

 Restriction of Charity shops 

 Limit student accommodation in the centre 

 Decrease the number of charity shops. We 
are known as the charity shop centre of the 
north 

 Increase in branded retail outlets in town 
centre 

 Business rate reduction to encourage needed 
types of businesses to move into town centre 

 Affordable retail units 

 Remove illegal A-boards and street signs 

 Less Charity shops 
 
Marketing, Events and Activities 

 More events on coronation park 

 Strong marketing for events and the town 
centre 

 Promotion via social media – e.g. Instagram 

 Better street signs 
 
Greener and Cleaner 

 Continued enhancement of pedestrian area 
 
Safety and Security 

 Employ security of a night time 
 

Planning and Retail Support /Strategy 

 Not as Many Charity shops  

 Less retail parts on the outskirts of 
town  

 Keep local businesses open with 
financial help (business rate relief) 

 Vacant properties filled, improved 
products in the markets 

 Stop catering just for students 

 Making the market look better with a 
good range of stalls not all the same 

 Diversity of stores, not just charity 
shops 

 Improved market stalls 

 Reduction in business rates 

Marketing, Events and Activities 

 A social calendar delivered to 
businesses 

 More maps of shops on streets 

 Better signage for our business and 
more involvement in steering groups 

 Comprehensive events schedule - 
always something happening; 
seasonal gaps filled   

Greener and Cleaner 

 Deep cleanse the town 

 
 

Page 1374

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 19 of 27 

 

 

Priority 3 Responses 
Car Parking and Transport 

 Car parking 

 Transport - We need to be easily and cheaply accessible  to more people 

 Bus support 
Planning and Retail Support /Strategy 

 Town centre funding to be used for the town centre and not Edge Hill  

 Sunday trading- Sunday markets - a reason to visit Ormskirk on a Sunday 

 Tighter controls to discourage ugly shop frontages & street furniture 

 A better variety of shops and a restriction of charity shops 

 better choice of shops not 14 charity shops 

 Turn the market stalls around to face the shops 

 More retail shops 
Marketing, Events and Activities 

 Town centre Events throughout the year  

 Clear instructions as to where we can advertise in the town centre 

 More events in the town centre 

 Proper Christmas markets like York 

 More student engagement 
Greener and Cleaner 

 Continued enhancement of pedestrian area 

 Look & feel - cleanliness, floral & art displays, creation of a Town Centre charter for shop 
frontages  

Safety and Security 

 Employ security of a night time 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 1375

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 20 of 27 

 

 

Respondents were also given the opportunity to provide any further comments relating to Ormskirk 
town centre. A summary of the comments received are:  

 

 The town has gone downhill in recent years. Free parking would help. 

 More independent businesses in the town would help Ormskirk thrive. Encouraging the night 

time economy over the day time economy will lead to the demise of the independent 

businesses. 

 Really love the idea of BID - think the potential for Ormskirk to thrive as a town really can 

improve. 

 Improving the selection of retail outlets will bring trade to the town rather than people going 

into Liverpool city centre. 

 The expansion of local retail parks like Hattersley's and ringtail has negatively impacted on 

Ormskirk town centre. Particularly because of free parking.  

 Ormskirk needs shops providing clothes, food, giftware housewares etc. 

 Parking charges and the one way system discourages people from shopping in Ormskirk.  

 Other towns have benefited from introducing a 'first three hours for free' parking.  

 I have worked in many towns in the North West, non-come close to the effort Ormskirk makes 

to maintain and improve the area. The commitment and effort from some people I have met 

is excellent. 

 There are too many charity shops and cheap shops in Ormskirk. Ormskirk would benefit from 

more choice.   

 Better communication between organisations across the town, for improved co-working is 
needed. 

 More consideration should be given to Students' wants and needs. 

 An 'open space' for organisations to hire as pop-up space wold be helpful. 
  

Page 1376

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 21 of 27 

 

 

3.2 Geographical Coverage of a Business Improvement District for Ormskirk 

Following an analysis of the rateable value of hereditaments within Ormskirk Town Centre, the 
following options show the potential income depending on the levy set:   

 Finance options 

% Levy 

RV Threshold  
(below which 

hereditaments are 
exempt) BID levy raised p.a. Hereditaments levied 

1.0% £6k £98k 276 

1.5% £6k £147k 276 

2.0% £6k £196k 276 

 
Notes:  

 RV = Rateable value  

 1%, 1.5% and 2% levy is for illustrative purposes only, to demonstrate the income that would be 
raised by a BID levy at the % of hereditaments rateable value within Ormskirk town centre. The 
final BID levy percentage for a BID in Ormskirk would need to be determined through the 
business plan development process.  

 The income analysis listed has been taken from information provided in the Ormskirk town 
centre Business Rates database supplied by West Lancashire Borough Council and is estimated 
income.  The total BID levy income could change through the development process for a number 
of reasons which include any change in national policy on business rates, properties that may be 
demolished, constructed, merged or split throughout the BID development process. 

 30% of businesses in the town centre have a rateable value of less than £6,000 and are 
therefore excluded for paying into the levy.   

 BID in the UK have been established with income values of £80-100k 
 

 
  

Page 1377

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 22 of 27 

 

 

3.3 Summary Time Line for Development of a BID 
 

Key Actions for Developing a BID Date 

1st Stage Feasibility Study complete January  2018 

Business data cleansing/engagement of all stakeholders to 

identify needs and opportunities for the development of a 

draft business plan 

May 2018 

Proceed to full consultation with the businesses in Ormskirk 

town centre 
June – July 2018 

Proceed to Business Plan development and consultation to 

refine businesses priorities 
August - November 2018 

Develop and finalise baseline agreements with the Local 

Authority, Lancashire Police and other public agencies 
May - November 2018 

Business Improvement District Regulations – 84 day notice December 2018 

Finalise the BID Business Plan/BID proposal document January 2019 

Business Improvement District Regulations – 42 day notice March 2019 

Develop and deliver marketing campaign for the BID vote February – May 2019 

Business Improvement District Vote Period – minimum 28 

days 
April / May 2019 

Set up BID company/BID delivery body June - August 2019 

BID Implementation day 1st September 2019 

 

 
  

Page 1378

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 23 of 27 

 

 

4.0 Recommendations on a BID for Ormskirk 

 

A Business Improvement District (BID) for Ormskirk Town Centre? 

 Feedback from the sample set of businesses and stakeholders has identified a number of 
opportunities for improving town centre management beyond the statutory responsibilities of 
Lancashire County Council and West Lancashire Borough Council. Given the long term pressures 
on the Council budgets, West Lancashire Borough Council is recommended to consider 
development of a BID, as the most appropriate mechanism to realise sustainable, secure funding 
for realising these added value opportunities.  
 

 Key areas for improvement that have been identified from consultation that a BID could deliver 
on are:  

o Improved Public Transport and Car Parking initiatives 
o Stronger marketing and profiling of Ormskirk town centre as a destination of choice  
o Non-statutory improvements to town dressing, street scene and signage 
o Additional crime and security interventions, in partnership with the statutory functions 

of Lancashire Police and Lancashire Borough Council e.g. safer night time economy 
programmes. 

o Enhanced events and festivals, which promote the history and heritage of Ormskirk 
o Improved communications links and business support 
o Development of a single, independent, dedicated body / partnership for Ormskirk town 

centre that can effectively lead and realise successful outcomes for businesses and 
stakeholders.  
 

 During the process of developing the business plan for a BID, further analysis and market testing 
of the size and scale of the BID will be required. In particular, this must include the University, 
national retailer’s property departments, who will closely scrutinise the project to identify their 
return on investment. 

 

 44% of respondents stated that they thought that Business Improvement Districts were a good 
idea, with 52% stating that they did not know and 4% indicated that.  Is will be essential for 
further detailed discussions with those businesses “who didn’t know” should be undertaken 
through the next stage to establish “buy in” to the project.  

 

 The Council should strongly consider establishment of a private sector led, Town Centre BID 
Steering Group to guide and direct the development of projects and services that will form the 
fundamental basis of a BID for Ormskirk. The new group could include representation from: 
a. Representative eligible (e.g. group members should be likely to be a BID levy contributor) 

business sectors such as: 

i. Retail 

ii. Business services 

iii. Pubs / clubs  

iv. Hotels (where applicable), 

v. Restaurants 

vi. A range of business sizes including independents and nationals 

  

Page 1379

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 24 of 27 

 

 

b. Other significant stakeholders in the town centre i.e. Edge Hill University and West 

Lancashire Borough Council. 

It is important that the group is private sector-led, and contains significant representation from 
the private sector. Partnership arrangements and representation from public sector bodies 
should be included however balanced against the need for private involvement and leadership 
in the BID development process 

 

 Respondents have shown interest in participating in a working group to support and guide the 
development of projects and services that will benefit the town as trading environment. 76% of 
respondents stated they may be interested in this opportunity. The respondents should be 
considered for invitation to join a Town Centre BID Development Steering Group.  
 

 Should the Council decide to facilitate the establishment of a private sector led Town Centre BID 
Steering Group, consideration will need to be given to the form and function of groups such as 
the existing Town Centre Partnership.  
 

 The members of the Town Centre BID Steering Group should be encouraged to become 
ambassadors for the BID project, actively selling the concept within their own organisations and 
to fellow traders / businesses within Ormskirk town centre.  
 

 It is recommended that serious consideration is given to how the BID development process is 
marketed / presented to companies. Private sector leadership and involvement within the 
process will be critical to the success of the BID in winning support. A BID development process 
that is public sector fronted / led will risk being perceived as the Council using the mechanism to 
fund existing statutory obligations. Within Chester City Centre as an example, a new brand and 
identity was established for the BID Development Process known as CH1 BID. This presented a 
private sector led and managed process, and was a key success factor in securing a positive vote 
for a BID, following a previous failed BID in 2006 which had been heavily Council led.  
 

 In establishing the geographical area for a BID, it recommended that the following risks are 
considered: 
 

o Inclusion of the University who hold the largest rateable value, which would make a 
significant contribution to the BID.  Support from the University and ensuring they are 
included in the development of the business plan is paramount to the success of the 
project. 

o The number of non-retail businesses within the proposed area, for whom a business case 
will need to be developed for supporting a retail led BID. 

o The impact of any new development on the BID budgets.  
 

Resources 

 West Lancashire Borough Council to review the resource implications of developing a BID. The 
resources required to facilitate the development of a Town Centre BID will include financial and 
staff time.  
 

Page 1380

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 25 of 27 

 

 

 The financial budget will be dictated by the level of outsourcing of the project that West 
Lancashire Borough Council decides to take, however an initial budget range of between £25,000 
- £35,000 would not be unreasonable to assume to enable development of a BID.  

 

 Internal Borough and County Council resources will include staff time and departmental 
resources from the following council functions: 

o Economic development 
o Business rates 
o Electoral affairs 
o Street cleansing 

o Highways 
o Regulatory Services 
o Planning 
o Environmental Services 

 
Note: this list is not exhaustive, however is illustrative of the level of cross departmental 
working that is likely to be required in establishing a BID.  

 

 The resource implications of realising ‘quick win’ projects during the development process for a 
BID should be considered. As a minimum West Lancashire Borough Council and the County 
Council will need to resource activity to demonstrate the achievement of baseline commitments 
which are likely to include street cleansing, signage and highways.  
 

Communications and Data 

 In undertaking this study, the initial data available relating to key contacts within businesses was 
limited. Therefore, a data collection and cleansing exercise is recommended for collecting 
contact details of key personnel from businesses/premises occupiers who are likely to become 
levy paying hereditaments.  
 

 It is recommended that this refreshed data is used to deploy a programme of communication to 
engage and involve businesses in the process of developing a BID. These communication can also 
be used to enhance general communications across the town centre relating to events, festivals 
and general developments of interest to companies. In other town centres a weekly/monthly e-
bulletin has been shown to be of benefit to companies combined with less regular hard copy 
communications.  

 
West Lancashire Borough Council and Lancashire County Council Responsibilities 

 The development of a BID for Ormskirk town centre will require West Lancashire Borough 
Council and Lancashire County Council to formalise and make public baseline agreements 
relating to their statutory obligations in areas such as street cleansing, removal of litter, 
maintenance of open space (including car parking), and highways. Respondents have highlighted 
through this project areas where Lancashire Borough and County Council is ‘perceived’ to not be 
meeting statutory obligations. The Councils are recommended to begin the process of reviewing 
and establishing baselines for the town centre and ensuring that these are being met, in order 
for the BID to clearly demonstrate how it will be delivering added value project and services 
above and beyond the Council’s statutory obligations.  
 

 To support the development of baselines, and ensure clear understanding of the BID process 
across key Council departments, it is recommended to establish an internal council officers 
working group to steer this process, and lead on the development of an operating agreements 
between both Councils and the BID. 

 

Page 1381

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 26 of 27 

 

 

Appendix one – Map showing the area of Ormskirk town centre against which analysis was undertaken of hereditament’s rateable value 

 

 
 

P
age 1382

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/


 
                

 

smarterbusiness is a service from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 
 

  Page 27 of 27 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
smarterbusiness 
from Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside Limited 
Yarwoods Arm 
Navigation Road 
Northwich  
CW8 1BE 
Tel: 01606 723175 

Web: www.smarterbusiness.org.uk 

© Groundwork Cheshire, Lancashire and Merseyside Ltd 

Page 1383

http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/
http://www.smarterbusiness.org.uk/




ORMSKIRK

Scarth

Pond

Wellfield

Threlfalls Farm

73.5m

Slack House

Cottages

Lay-by

Play Area

Lighting Tower

Athletics Ground

Tower

Issues

LB

SD

57.3m

64.6m

69.2m

52.1m

78.9m

67.4m

77.4m

74.1m

72.8m

74.4m

Ponds

CRED
 & 

Ward
 Bd

y

64.6m

Lighting Tower

Lighting Tower

Pond

Pond

Lighting Tower

Issues

Hill

Farm

Farm
Farm

Farm

Water

Water

Gas Valve Compound

El

El

El

El

El

El

El

El

Tra
ck

Tra
ck

Track

Track

Track

Track

Track

Tra
ck

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El 
Su

b S
ta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El 
Su

b S
ta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

The Hayloft

CH

AUGHTON PARK

AUGHTON PARK

Pa
th (

um
)

Path (um)

Path (um)

Path (um)

Chancellors Court

Dr
ain

Drain

Drain

Dra
in

Dra
in

Drain

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4 4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3
3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

6
6

6

6

6
6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

11

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

11

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

88

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

88

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8 8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

8

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

7

A 577

Edge Hill University Ruff Wood

Ruff

Ruff

VARLIAN

Rose

Deer's

ST

WE
LL

FIE
LD

 LA
NE

CLOSE

CLOSE

CLOSE

CLOSE

CLOSE

CLOSE

Grey Trees

Reeve

HIL
L L

AN
E

Leap

Redlumbs

The Woodlands

ST JAMES CLOSE

SC
AR

TH

SCARTH HILL LANE

SCARTH HILL LANE

SCARTH HILL LANE

Paddock
WHITELEYS LANE

The

The

The

Cottage

Cottage

Cottage

Cottage

Cottage

HELENS ROAD
Rosebank

Dell Cottage

Delph House

House
House

House

House

House

House

Ho
use

House

House

House

House

House

Ruff Barn

Delph Gate

Scarthdene

Windrush

Neston

Hillside

Scarthmead

General HospitalOrmskirk and District

Coronation Park

Newsham

Rowanlea

Paxhill House

Sallymount

Swallow Barn

Balhaven

Mill

3a

3a

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court

Court
Court

Aitke
n

Founders

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park

Car Park
Car Park

Car Park

Graduates

Brookside

Court SouthChancellors

Warpers Way

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

Hall

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11 11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

Palatine Court

Gr
ee

tby
 W

alk

2c
The Sports Centre

Ra
ilw

ay
 Pa

th

Holt

Spinners Mews

Lord

MOOR STREET

MOOR STREET

Superstore

51

51

51

51

51

51

51

51
51

51

51

18

18

18
18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

20

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15 15

15

15

15

15

15

15

1515

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

15

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

23

12

12

12

12

12

12
12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12
12

12

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

25

37

37

37

37
37

37

37

37

83

63

63

63

63

63

63

63

63

63

75

75

75

75

75

75

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

34

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

14

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

16

70

70

70

70

70

70

70

27

27

27

27

27

27

27

27

27

27

272727

27

27

27

27

27

27

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

17

5b

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

1b

30

30

30

30

30

30

30

30

30
30

30

30

30

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

32

81

81

81

81

81

81

81

94

94

94

94

94

94

8a

8a

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10
10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

64

64

64

64

64

AU
GHTO

N ST
REE

T

AUGHTON STREET

AUGHTON STREET

Binns

Blake

Millins

WilsonTomkins

Booth

Welch

Willia
ms

WA
Y

WAY

WAY

Fulton

Jen
kin

s

Roscoe

Pinfold

Milln
er

Church

Church

Chur
ch

Byron

Eleanor

Pryce

Boyce

District

FB

FB

FB

FB

FB

Hampton

Feuc
hse

l

Ormskir
k B

usin
ess

Emmanuel

Dewhurst

Ormskirk

Ormskirk School

Bradshaw

St James

Playing Fields

Meadon

Station

Station

Station

Station

Two Saints Place

Sta

Sta

Sta

Sta

Sta

Park

Park

Playing Field

Bath Springs

Bath Springs

Sports Hall

St Helens Road Park

Pank
hur

st

Allotment Gardens

Cross Hall Farm

Cross Hall

Cross Hall

Cross Hall

Carri
ngt

on

Brook Bridge

Council Offices

Fenn
em

ore

Cricket Ground

Methodist

Crossfield Hall

Runn
ing

 Tr
ack

156 17
3

173

19
b

15a

15a

98a

Laverty

Recreation Ground

VICARAGE

Rathbone Hall

Annakin Hall

Normanton Hall

Ormskirk Campus

Cramford House

Maconie Hall

Glazebrook

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

22

101

101

91

91

91

91

91
28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

28

137

137

13
7

105

105

10
5

SM

SM

Ainsworth Hall

Cramlington House

Durning Centre
Sub

Sub

Sub

Sub

Sandringham House

WA
RP

ER
S

PHPH

PH

PH

PH

PH

PHPH

PH

PH

PH

PH

SIL
K C

OU
RT

West Lancashire College

Margaret Bain Hall

Pontville Residential School

DYERS LANE

DYERS LANE

Rosehill

Abbey Wood Lodge

Post

Post

EM Butterworth Hall

156a

SPINNER MEWS

MULBERRY CLOSE

LA
DY

'S 
WA

LK

STONE YARD CLOSE

Chapel

Mansions

Tank

Tank
Tank

Tank

MERCHANT ROAD

Clough
 Hall

Beaconsfield

Head

Head

Bridge House

Scarisbrick House

Blithe House

Smith

Care Home

Church House

Sinclair Hall

Club

Club

Club

Posts

Posts

Posts

Posts

Posts

Posts
Posts

Posts

Posts

Posts

Norfield

Queen'sMARKET WAY

Rose Theatre

Joh
n Dalton

 Hall

Little Hall

Orme

ST
ON

E M
AS

ON
 C

RE
SC

EN
T

ST
ON

E M
AS

ON
 C

RE
SC

EN
T

Swan

The Hawthorns

Catholic High School

Katherine

Balfour Hall

Sarah Matheson Hall

Lady Openshaw Hall

MO
UN

T C
AR

ME
L G

AR
DE

NS

McDairm
id

Garden Cottages

Derby House

RC Church

Moss Bank

Moss Bank
Wayside Farm

RE
D

Walks

HILL

Wheatsheaf Walk

No 7

DELPH

Fletcher Hall

Gr
ee

tby
 B

uil
din

gs

Ormskirk St Anne'sCatholic Primary School

The Firs

HILLTOP

St Paul's

Yelf

and Early Years Centre

St Bede's

Forest Court

Park Pool

Au
gh

ton
 Ba

ptis
t C

hu
rch

CHURCH FIELDS

BE
EC

H

Sub Station

Stanle
y H

all

CR
ES

CE
NT

CRESCENT

CRESCENT

Moorgate Nursery School

We
st 

Vie
w

St Anne's

St Anne's

COURT

CHURCH STREET

HILLSIDE

HOLBORN HILL

Hazel

Hazel

CH
ES

TN
UT

 C
OU

RT

GREEN

GREEN

CROSS

ROTHWELL CLOSE

The Derby Centre

Lad
y M

arga
ret Hall

RE
D F

OL
D

SCHOOL HOUSE GREEN

FU
RNES

S A
VE

NUE

St Peter and

Aughton Park

Aughton Park

Alexander Court

NEW COURT

DERBY HILL

BU
RS

CO
UG

H 
ST

RE
ET

BU
RS

CO
UG

H S
TR

EE
T

CALD
ER AVENUE

CA
LD

ER
 AV

EN
UE

Red Gate Farm

1 t
o 1

0

1 to 10

1 to
 10

1 to 10

1 t
o 1

7
1 t

o 1
7

1 to 17
1 t

o 1
7

1 to 12

1 to 12

1 to 12

PARK AVENUE

1 t
o 2

5

OLD MILL HILL

CROSSHALL BROW

CROSSHALL BROW

THE ORCHARD

PR
ES

COT

PRESCOT

RED SANDS

RE
D S

AN
DS

CEDAR

SU
NN

YF
IEL

DS

Th
e M

all
CH

AP
EL

CHAPEL

HALL

TOWN END CLOSE

BRIDGE AVENUE

ST BEDES CLOSE
REDGATE

REDGATE

REDGATE

CHAPEL STREET

REDCLIFFE GARDENS

WI
ND

MI
LL

 AV
EN

UE

DERBY HILL ROAD

TAYLOR AVENUE

QUEEN STREET

CH
ES

TN
UT

 G
RA

NG
E

ROSECROFT

SOUTH TERRACE

ST HELENS ROAD

ST HELENS ROAD

ST HELENS ROAD

SANDFIELD PARK

CONVENT CLOSE

GREENBANK

BUTTERFIELD GARDENS

RAVENSCROFT AVENUE

SPINNEY CLOSE

WIMBRICK CRESCENT

RYBURN ROAD

RY
BU

RN
 RO

AD

WOODL
AN

DS
 CL

OSE

TA
RN

 BR
OW

CHARLESBYE AV
ENUE

DI
CC

ON
SO

N 
WA

Y

Electricity

MILLERS

BRIDGE STREET

BRIDGE STREET

BRIDGE STREET

NO
RM

AN
HU

RS
T

STREET

WILLOW GREEN

WE
LD

ON
 DR

IVE

SOUTHPORT ROAD

KIN
LO

CH
 W

AY

BEBLES ROAD

PR
ES

CO
T R

OA
D

PRESCOT R
OAD

PR
ES

CO
T R

OA
D

BEECHWOOD DRIVE

DERBY STREET
DERBY STREET

BR
OW

58.8m

58.8m

58.8m

ROSE PLACE

AVENUE

AVENUE

GREETBY HILL

Shelter

Shelter

Shelter

Shelter

Shelter
REDWOOD DRIVE

THE STILE
S

ASH CLOSE

LONG LANE

TOWER

RUFF LANE

RUFF LANE

RUFF LANE

ST
AT

ION A
PP

RO
AC

H

Alty's Farm

NEW LANE

PE
ET

LANE

LANE

PIN
FO

LD
 R

OA
D

PIN
FO

LD
 R

OA
D

PARK ROAD

PARK ROAD

WASHBROOK

MILL STREET

MI
LL

 S
TR

EE
T

Tunnel

ST
AN

LE
Y 

ST
RE

ET

The Grove

TH
OM

PS
ON

 AV
EN

UE

THOMPSON AVENUE

DERBY STREET WEST

CATHARINE'S LANE

WIMBRICK CLOSE

FIE
LD

 W
AL

K

FIELD WALK

RA
ILW

AY
 AP

PR
OA

CH

BROOK LANE

BROOK LANE

AUGHTON

BEWCASTLE

STATION ROAD

HUTTON WAY

AU
GH

TO
N P

AR
K D

RIV
E

ST ANNE'S ROAD

MI
LT

ON
 DR

IVE

WOODFIELD ROAD

BARNES ROAD

BROOK FARM CLO
SE

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D

HANTS

WALK

EDGLEY DRIVE

KN
OW

SL
EY

 R
OA

D
KN

OW
SL

EY
 R

OA
D

PRIORY

RA
ILW

AY
 RO

AD

GO
RE

 DR
IVE

GREYSTOKES

DRIVE

TOP

CLAREMONT DRIVE

CL
AR

EM
ON

T D
RIV

E
GRAMMAR SCHOOL COURT

OAK GREEN

OAK AVENUE

LATHAM AVENUE

RO
AD

COTTAGE

COTTAGE

CO
TT

AG
E L

AN
E

HALLMOOR

EL
M PL

AC
E

CARMEL

AB
BO

TS
FO

RD

AB
BO

TS
FO

RD

BANK

SMALL LANE

GRAMMAR SCHOOL GARDENS

GARNETT

BL
AC

K M
OS

S L
AN

E

BLACK MOSS LANE

BLACK MOSS LANE

BL
AC

K M
OS

S L
AN

E

LEYLAND WAY

HI
GH

 M
OS

S

ALTYS LANE

ALTYS LANE
ALTYS LANE

Builders

14 to 16

14 to 16

10 to 12

14
 to

 18

21 to 25

17 
to 2

1

COTTAGE MEWS

VICARAGE CLOSE

BE
AU

MO
NT

MILMAN CLOSE

Gas Gov

Ga
s G

ov

MO
OR

GA
TE

MO
OR

GA
TE

MO
OR

GA
TE

GR
OV

E

Ward Bdy
Ward Bdy

WIGAN ROAD

WIGAN ROAD

ST
AT

HA
M 

W
AY

MEWS

Water Tower

VIC
AR

AG
E L

AN
E

Alley

VICARAGE WALK

MARKET

Arc
adi

a

MEADOW

MEADOW

14 to 112

MO
SS

 VI
EW

MO
SS

 VI
EW

MOSS VIEW

MO
SS

 VI
EW

(om
it 1

3)
Builders Yard

Lin
e o

f P
os

ts

Alexander

The Shippon

(om
itti

ng
 13

)
(om

itti
ng

 13
)

111

11
1

111

Yard

RAILW
AY PATH

RA
ILW

AY
 PA

TH

Subway

9c

116

117

11
7

117

11a

11a

11a

118

118

11
8

119

115

112

112

21
1

114

40
A

Clock Tower

Vicarage
Mystic Mews

17c

10c

116
a

117a

Army

Surgery

Surgery

Surgery

Surgery

Surgery

Surgery

War

War

Church View Court

Tanks

Tanks

Presbytery

Post Office

Town Hall

Tennis 1 t
o 1

1

Bus

11 to 20

11 to 16

Spreads

(C
ou

nty
 C

ou
nc

il O
ffic

es
)

Bowling Green

Bowling Green

Bowling Green

Tennis Courts
Tennis Courts

Tennis Courts

Force

Def

County Library

Store

Store
Bandstand

Telephone

62

62

62

62

40

40

4040

40

40

40

40

40

40

40

40

60

60

60

60
60

60

60

60

60

60

60

60

43

43

43

43

43

Garage

Garage
Ga

rag
e

Garage

29

29

29

29

29

29

29

29

29

29

29
29

29

29

29

29

29

29

29

47

47

47

47

47

47

47

47

47

73

73

73

73

55

55

55

55

55

55

55

59

59

59

59
59

59

54

54

54
54

54

54

54

54

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

52

52

52

52

52

52

52

52

52

67

67

67

67

67

67

1 to 14

4 to 6

1 t
o 9

1 t
o 9

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

36

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

19

26

26 26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26

26
26

26

26

26

26

26

26

45

45

45

45

45

45

96

96

96

96

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

93

93

93

66

66

66

66

66

66

33

33

33

33
33

33

33

33

33

33

33

33

33

33

6a

6a

71

71

71

71

71

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

31

13
5

135

to

49

49

49

49

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

21

39

39

39

39

39

39

39

39

77

77

77

1 t
o 1

8

74

74

74

74 74

74

74

74

74

76

76

76

1 to 2

12
6

87

87

87

87

89

89

89

89

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

42

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

92

92

92

92

92

98

98

38

38

38

38

38

38

38

38

38

38

38

38

65

1a

1a

78

78

78

78

1 t
o 4

1 t
o 2

0

1 to 5

1 to 5

139

139

22d to 22e

146

14
6

104

10
4

10
4

104

10
4

104

56

56

56

56

56

56

56

56

56

56

56

15
 to

 16

68

68

68

68

68

68

68

13

13

13

13

13

13

13
13

13

13

13

13

13

13

13

1313

13

13

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

41

Exchange

18
7

18
7

14
8

14
8

148

203

108

183

6 to 9

85 85

85

85

85

16 to 20

18
8

20
a

20a

35

35

35

35

35

35

35

35

35

35

35

129

199

19
9

58

58

58

58 58

58

58

36b

25 
to 2

7

44b

10
 to

 14

13
b t

o 1
3e

16
8

16
8

46a

149

14
9

134136

136

16 to 18

10
a

10
a

166

23
7

23
9

53

53

53

53

48

48

48

48

48

48

48

48

69

69

69

69

69

69

69

82

82

84

84

84

22b

22
b

95

95

229

22
9

5 to 7

1 to 3

57

57

57

57

57

57

57

57

165

23
5

120

12
0

16
2

27
 to

 49

16
6 t

o 1
70

79

79

79

79

151

15
1

151

100

100

100

10
0

61

61

61

61

61

61

61

19
2

44a

44a

44a

22
1

32a

90

153

153

88

88

88

88

88

141

13 to 15

102

10
2

10
2

5a

5a

5a

23
1

57b

181

17a

17a

7a

7a

7a

2a

2a

2a

2a

2a

19a

19a

86

86

86

14
a

14a

197

177

177

137a

132

13
2

125

125

79a

161

16
1

124

10
6

106

68
a

13
0

12
8a

15
415

4

9a

9a

158

138

13
8

138

22a

22
a

22a

16
0

13a

12
a

12
a

20
9 2

07
a

9b

72

72

72

150 142

28a

25a

15
5

58a

207

20
7

80

80

10b

107

36a

3b

185

185

189

18
9

6b

99

99

2b

4a

97

20
1 201

96
a

31
a

82a

12
3

12
3

121

109

109

13
3

52a54a

103

15
2

152

163

57a

17b

74a

34a

17
2

14
4

20b

164

140

Slo
pin

g m
aso

nry

Gospel

Stone

Stone

Sto
ne

Stone

Church Fields

Collects

Chy

Sub Sta

Sub Sta

Sub Sta

Playground
Playground

Centre

Centre

Parish Centre

SL

Chapel Moss

Mission

Civic

Mast

Holly

Fire Station

Tks

Car

Bank

Bank

Bank
Bank

Bank

MP
 11

.25

MP
.75

MP.7
5

BS

Pavilions

CadetDepot

Market

Holborn Farm

MP 11.5

52.7m

52.7m

52.7m

52.7m

65.2m

64.9m

64.9m

64.9m

45.1m

45.1m

45.1m

45.4m

45.4m

45.4m

63.4m

46.0m

46.3m

46.3m

47.2m

48.2m

48.2m

48.2m

48.2m

63.1m

63.1m

63.1m

48.8m

48.8m

49.4m 49.4m 49.4m

49.4m

49.4m

49.4m

49.7m

49.7m

49.7m49.7m

49.7m

50.0m

50.0m

50.0m

50.0m

50.6m

50.6m

50.6m

62.8m

62.8m

62.8m

50.9m

50.9m

51.2m

51.2m

51.2m

62.5m

62.2m

61.9m

61.9m

51.8m

51.8m

55.5m

61.0m

61.0m

60.1m

59.7m

52.4m

58.5m

58.5m

58.5m

66.4m

66.4m

66.4m

57.9m

57.0m

57.0m

53.0m

53.3m

53.6m

53.6m

53.6m

56.1m

56.1m

56.1m

56.1m

54.9m

54.9m

55.8m

Co
mm

un
ica

tio
n M

as
t

43
.9m

54.6m

53.9m

53.9m

56.4m

71.0m

45.7m

45.7m

57.6m

44.2m

44.2m

68.0m

59.1m

59.1m

59.1m

59.4m

64.3m

61.3m

60.0m

44.5m

60.4m

60.4m

60.4m

60.4m

60.7m

68.3m

65.5m

43.0m

67.7m

48.5m

66.8m

51.5m

Greymist

Hillside Court

TCBs

Kingdom

Monument

MP
 11

Und

Und

Und

Cherry

Holly House

Community

Pavilion

Pavilion

Pavilion

Police

Th
e C

rof
t

Cook's Cottages

Buck i' th' Vine

Clinic

1.22m RH1.22m RH

(PH)

(PH)

Memorial

Memorial

Path

Pa
th

Path

Pa
th

Path
Pontville

Beaufort

El Sub

FS

FS

OAKFIELDS

D Fn

Quarry

Sa
nd

fie
ld 

Co
tta

ge
s

Top Cottage

BLAIRGOWRIE GARDENS

MP 1
2

Boundary Cottage

Sunnyside

SR

PCs

PCs

Redg
ate

 Fa
rm

 St
abl

es

Crossing

Flame Trees

Sandfield

TCB

TCB

TCB TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

TCB

ESS

ESS

ESS

ESS

Pool

Silverdale

Redgate Farm Barn

Claremont

Gr
an

ge
 C

t

Abbotsford Mews

Be
au

mo
nt 

Ho
use

Queens C
ourt

Newhaven

Lawns Cottage

Whitebeam

Elm

PW

Ash

Windsor

Oak

Buckingham

The Cottage

Old Hall Barn

Woodlands

Bails

Knowsley Mews

Ennismore

Lar
ch

Swiss

FF

FF

FF FF

FF

The Stables

Cedar

Th
e C

op
pin

s

Beech

Quinta

Balmoral

SP

SP

SP

White Meadow

RH

RH

Willow

The Maples

Rowan

Longbridge

Lodge

Lodge
Lodge

The Bungalow

Th
e B

un
ga

low

The Bungalow

Tree

Maple

PC

Re
no

CHARLESBYE CLOSE

Wy
nd

ale

93a
 to

 93
f

HA
RD

AC
RE

 ST
RE

ET

ED
 & 

Ward
 Bd

y

Issues

CR

Pond

Pond

57.3m

Issues

52.1m

Wellfield

LB

64.6m

Pond

Tower

Pond

SD

LB

LB

74.4m

Pond

CR

64.6m

CR

LB

ED
 & 

Ward
 Bd

y

Lay-by

73.5m

ED & Ward Bdy

72.8m

CR

ED & Ward Bdy

Pond

LB

CR

CR

Lighting Tower

ED & Ward Bdy

Issues

CR

LB

Pond

Pond

Tower

LB

LB

Pond

LB

LB

CR

Play Area

LB

LB

LB

CR

Lighting Tower

Tower

LB

Issues

LB

74.1m

Pond

72.8m

CR

West Lancashire Borough Council

Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. Licence No. 100024309. 1:8,000Scale
ORMSKIRK TOWN CENTRE - BID AREA

´

@A3

P
age 1385





Summary Time Line for Development of a BID for Ormskirk     APPENDIX C 
 

Key Actions for Developing a BID Date 

1st Stage Feasibility Study complete January  2018 

Business data cleansing/engagement of all stakeholders 

to identify needs and opportunities for the development 

of a draft business plan 

May 2018 

Proceed to full consultation with the businesses in 

Ormskirk town centre 
June – July 2018 

Proceed to Business Plan development and consultation 

to refine businesses priorities 
August - November 2018 

Develop and finalise baseline agreements with the Local 

Authority, Lancashire Police and other public agencies 
May - November 2018 

Business Improvement District Regulations – 84 day 

notice 
December 2018 

Finalise the BID Business Plan/BID proposal document January 2019 

Business Improvement District Regulations – 42 day 

notice 
March 2019 

Develop and deliver marketing campaign for the BID vote February – May 2019 

Business Improvement District Vote Period – minimum 28 

days 
April / May 2019 

Set up BID company/BID delivery body June - August 2019 

BID Implementation day 1st September 2019 

 

 

 

Page 1387





APPENDIX  
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate: Development and Regeneration Service: Economic Development 

Completed by: Kate Pierce Date:13th March 2018 

Subject Title: Developing an Ormskirk Business Improvement Plan 

1. DESCRIPTION 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or revised: *delete as appropriate 
No 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or cutback:  
No 

Is a commissioning plan or contract specification 
being developed: 

 
No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated: No 

Is a programme or project being planned: Yes 

Are recommendations being presented to senior 
managers and/or Councillors: 

 
Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our duties 
under the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector 
Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful 
discrimination/harassment, advancing equality 
of opportunity, fostering good relations): 

 
 
Yes 

Details of the matter under consideration:  To provide a summary of the report prepared by 
Groundwork Ltd, into the feasibility of 
developing a BID for Ormskirk and to seek 
agreement to the next steps in developing a 
BID for Ormskirk. 
 

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 

 *delete as appropriate 
Yes 

If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

Staff of the Economic Development Team will 
be involved in supporting delivery. Officers 
across the organisation will be required to 
formalise baseline agreements relating to the 
Council's statutory obligations within the BID 
area. Officers will also be required to run a 
formal ballot and also administer the loan. 
 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2 provide 
details of why there is no impact on these three 
groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this form. 

 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, i.e. 
who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

Business and users of Ormskirk town centre. 
 

Page 1389



If the work being carried out relates to a universal 
service, who needs or uses it most? (Is there any 
particular group affected more than others)?  
 
 

Whilst development of the BID is carried out 
there will be a limited impact on any groups. 
 
Should a BID be implemented it would seek to 
improve the trading environment for all 
businesses and visitors to Ormskirk.   
 
 
 

Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 

 
*delete as appropriate 

Age No 
Gender No 
Disability No 
Race and Culture No 
Sexual Orientation No 
Religion or Belief No 
Gender Reassignment No 

Marriage and Civil Partnership No 
Pregnancy and Maternity No 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 

 
N/a 
 

What will the impact of the work being carried out be 
on usage/the stakeholders? 

If a BID is implemented it would enable the 
business community of Ormskirk to have a 
collective voice and allow the private sector to 
identify and deliver additional services in order 
to improve the local trading environment. This 
will enable Ormskirk to be a competitive trading 
environment.   
  

What are people’s views about the services?  Are 
some customers more satisfied than others, and if 
so what are the reasons?  Can these be affected by 
the proposals? 

The feasibility study showed that 76% of 
respondents are either interested or very 
interested in participating in a future 
steering group to support / guide the 
development and implementation of projects / 
services as part of a Business Improvement 
District that will benefit the town as a trading 
environment. 
 

What sources of data including consultation results 
have you used to analyse the impact of the work 
being carried out on users/stakeholders with 
protected characteristics? 

Feasibility Study undertaken by 
Groundwork and peer review from other 
towns who have implemented a BID. 

If any further data/consultation is needed and is to 
be gathered, please specify:  

A formal consultation and ballot would be 
required to implement a BID. 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people with 
particular protected characteristics (either positively 
or negatively or in terms of disproportionate 
impact)? 

The implementation of a BID should help to 
improve the trading environment and offer, 
supporting businesses and encouraging 
more people to visit. Such activity should 

Page 1390



have a positive impact upon all. 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or desirable 
to take actions to reduce the impact, explain why 
this is the case (e.g. legislative or financial drivers 
etc.). 

BIDs are considered to be positive for a trading 
environment.  
 
A BID ballot will enable all businesses who 
would pay the levy to have a vote. If a business 
considered that the BID would be negative for 
them then they would be able to vote against. A 
successful BID would run for 5 years before 
being subject to a further ballot.  
 

What actions do you plan to take to address any 
other issues above?  

Hosing of a BID ballot. 
 
 
If no actions are planned state no actions 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and who will 
review it? 

By the Town Centre Management Group and 
Council officers of the Economic Development.  

 

Page 1391





 
 

 
 

 
CORPORATE & ENVIRONMENTAL 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
1 MARCH 2018 
 
CABINET: 13 MARCH 2018 

 
 

 
Report of: Director of Housing and Inclusion 
                       
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran 
 
Contact for further information: Ms A Grimes (Extn. 5409)  
    (E-mail: alison.grimes@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Q3 2017/18) 
 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To present performance monitoring data for the quarter ended 31 December 

2017. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CORPORATE & ENVIRONMENTAL OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
2.1 That the Council’s performance against the indicator set for the quarter ended 31 

December 2017 be noted. 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
3.1 That the Council’s performance against the indicator set for the quarter ended 31 

December 2017 be noted. 
 
3.2 That the call-in procedure is not appropriate for this item as the report was 

submitted to the meeting of the Corporate & Environmental Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee on 1 March 2018. 

 

 
4.0 CURRENT POSITION  
 
4.1 Members are referred to Appendix A of this report detailing the quarterly 

performance data for key performance indicators. The performance information 
aims to help demonstrate performance against the corporate priorities as well as 
providing some service-specific information.  

 

Page 1393

Agenda Item 7f



4.2 31 data items are reported quarterly, two of these are data only. Of the 29 PIs 
with targets reported: 

 21 indicators met or exceeded target  

 5 indicators narrowly missed target; 3 were 5% or more off target 
 

As a general comparison, Q3 performance in 2016/17 gave 22 (from 30) 
performance indicators on or above target. 
 

4.3 Performance plans prepared by service managers are already in place for those 
indicators where performance falls short of the target by 5% or more for this 
quarter, if such plans are able to influence outturn and will be relevant for future 
monitoring purposes.  

 
4.4 These plans provide the narrative behind the outturn and are provided in 

Appendix B1. Where performance is below target for consecutive quarters, plans 
are revised only as required, as it is reasonable to assume that some remedial 
actions will take time to make an impact. Progress on actions from previous 
Performance Plans are provided in Appendix C.  

 
4.5 For those PIs that have flagged up as ‘amber’ (indicated as a triangle), an 

assessment has been made at head of service level based on the reasons for the 
underperformance and balancing the benefits of implementing an performance 
plan versus resource implications. This is indicated in the table. 
 

4.6 Performance against the full corporate suite of indicators 2017/18 will be reported 
within the Council Plan Annual Report. This suite of indicators and targets was 
agreed by Cabinet in March 2017.  

 
5.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPACTS 
 
5.1 The information set out in this report aims to help the Council improve service 

performance. There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this 
report/update and, in particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.  

 
6.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial or resource implications arising from this report. 
 
7.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 This item is for information only and makes no recommendations. It therefore 

does not require a formal risk assessment and no changes have been made to 
risk registers as a result of this report. Monitoring and managing performance 
information data helps the authority to ensure it is achieving its corporate 
priorities and key objectives and reduces the risk of not doing so. 

 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 

Page 1394



 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders.  Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Quarterly Performance Indicators for Q3 October-December 2017/18 
Appendix B1: R1 % of Council Tax collected / R3 % of Non-domestic Rates Collected 
Appendix C: Actions from Previous Performance Plans  
Appendix D: Minute of Corporate & Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee – 1 

March 2018 (Cabinet only) 
 
 

Page 1395





APPENDIX A: QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS   
 
 Icon key 

PI Status  Performance against same quarter previous year 

 
OK (within 0.01%) or exceeded 21  

 
Improved 12 

 
Warning (within 5%) 5  

 
Worse 16 

 
Alert (by 5% or more)  3  

 
No change 3 

 
Data only  2  / Comparison not available 0 

N/A Data not collected for quarter 0  
 

Awaiting data 0 

 
Awaiting data 0     

      
Total number of indicators/data items 31     

 

Shared Services 1 
 

PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 
Q4 

2015/16 
Q1 

2016/17 
Q2 

2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

2016/17 
Q1 

2017/18 
Q2 

2017/18 
Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

ICT1 Severe Business 
Disruption (Priority 1)  

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.0%  
  

ICT2 Minor Business 
Disruption (P3)  

98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 97.0% 98.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.0% 97.0%  
  

ICT3 Major Business 
Disruption (P2)   

89.0% 92.0% 100.0% 92.0% 94.0% 96.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 98.0%  
  

ICT4 Minor Disruption 
(P4)  

97.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.0% 99.0% 99.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.0% 98.0%  
  

B1 Time taken to process 
Housing Benefit/Council 
Tax Benefit new claims 
and change events 
(days) 

8.00 7.02 7.22 7.24 8.10 6.41 6.87 7.10 6.93 12  
  

B2 Overpayment 
Recovery of Housing 
Benefit overpayments 

£207,159 £276,577 £79,368 £157,338 £226,000 £311,409 £69,860 £140,362 £212,841 £144,713  
  

P
age 1397



PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 
Q4 

2015/16 
Q1 

2016/17 
Q2 

2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

2016/17 
Q1 

2017/18 
Q2 

2017/18 
Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

(payments received) 

R1 % of Council Tax 
collected 

84.37% 97.02% 29.38% 56.67% 84.38% 96.74% 29.30% 56.28% 83.97% 85.90 % Performance Plan attached as 
Appendix B1    

R2 % council tax 
previous years arrears 
collected 

32.64% 37.31% 9.98% 17.3% 22.54% 26.82% 7.13% 13.37% 18.22% 18.20 %  
  

R3 % of Non-domestic 
Rates Collected 

80.41% 98.32% 29.27% 56.87% 82.98% 97.72% 29.18% 55.15% 80.66%  81.85 % Performance Plan attached as 
Appendix B1   

R4 Sundry Debtors % of 
revenue collected against 
debt raised 

88.84% 95.00% 66.42% 72.43% 80.87% 95.06% 39.49% 74.71% 87.99 % 76.25 %  
  

 

 

Development & Regeneration Services 
 

PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 
Q4 

2015/16 
Q1 

2016/17 
Q2 

2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

2016/17 
Q1 

2017/18 
Q2 

2017/18 
Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

NI 157a Processing of 
planning applications: 
Major applications 

100.00% 81.82% 100.00% 92.31% 71.43% 83.33% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 65.00%  
  

NI 157b Processing of 
planning applications: 
Minor applications 

67.14% 62.26% 70.97% 91.67% 96.49% 94.67% 76.56% 93.90% 93.62% 75.00%  
  

NI 157c Processing of 
planning applications: 
Other applications 

81.82% 80.00% 85.95% 96.64% 92.68% 89.52% 87.31% 93.62% 94.87% 85.00%  
  

  

P
age 1398



 

Finance and HR Services 
 

PI Code & Short Name 

Q3 
2015/16 

Q4 
2015/16 

Q1 
2016/17 

Q2 
2016/17 

Q3 
2016/17 

Q4 
2016/17 

Q1 
2017/18 

Q2 
2017/18 

Q3 
2017/18 

Current 
Target 

Comments 

Q3 
17/18          
vs           
Q3 
16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

WL_121 Working Days 
Lost Due to Sickness 

Absence
4
 

10.47 9.64 8.89 7.61 7.40 7.44 6.92 7.54 7.67 8.08  
  

 

Housing & Inclusion Services 
 

PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 

Q4 

2015/16 

Q1 

2016/17 

Q2 

2016/17 

Q3 

2016/17 

Q4 

2016/17 

Q1 

2017/18 

Q2 

2017/18 

Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

HS1 % Housing repairs 
completed in timescale 

97.02% 95.38% 94.93% 97.42% 98.13% 98.40% 95.88% 96.06% 98.44% 97.00% 
The project around the repairs service 

has resulted in above target 
performance for all three months.  

  

HS13 % LA properties 
with Landlord Gas 
Safety Record 
outstanding  

0.08% 0.13% 0.13% 0.22% 0.07% 0.19% 0.16% 0.13% 0.15% 0% 

Target based on legal requirement for 
all eligible properties to have 
certificate.  
Reported performance is an average 
from months in the period. 0.15% 
represents around 9 properties. A 
project is currently underway 
reviewing policies & procedures. 
Performance Plan in progress. See 
Appendix C. 

  

TS1 Rent Collected as a 
% of rent owed 
(excluding arrears b/f) 

99.74 99.81 102.3 99.96 99.96 99.09 102.46 99.97 100.5 99 

Collection rates have exceeded the 
same quarter in previous years. 
Universal Credit full service was 
introduced on 13.12.17. The team 
have an externally funded dedicated 
post to deal with the additional 
workload and support for claimants 
through the claim process. We are 
continuing to make requests for direct 
housing cost payments and payments 
off arrears through UC to ensure the 
vulnerable and those with arrears can 
cover their rent obligations. We have 
secured discretionary housing 
payments until 31.03.18 for those 

  

P
age 1399



PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 
Q4 

2015/16 
Q1 

2016/17 
Q2 

2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

2016/17 
Q1 

2017/18 
Q2 

2017/18 
Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

affected by the spare room subsidy, 
and prioritise intervention at the 
earliest stages of a debt accruing. 

TS11 % of rent loss 
through dwellings being 
vacant  

1.66% 1.74% 1.76% 1.79% 1.80% 1.79% 1.84% 1.79% 1.87% 2%  
  

BV8 % invoices paid on 
time  

99.28% 98.36% 98.54% 98.33% 98.65% 98.37% 99.11% 98.05% 98.79% 98.75% 
This relates to 9,615 invoices in the 

quarter.    

WL19bii Direct dial calls 
answered within 10 

seconds
2
 

82.35% 81.00% 80.15% 79.95% 82.41% 82.69% 81.39% 81.24%
2
 80.07%

2
 82.21% 

Due to technical issues with the call 
logger, the data refers to data for 
the quarter from 13.10.17 Head of 

Service’s amber assessment: 
performance plan not required.  

  

WL90 % of Contact 
Centre calls answered 

92.4% 91.1% 92.2% 94.6% 93.7% 91.9% 80.1% 90.3% 88.3% 91.0% 

During implementation of the new 
telephony platform on 

13.12.17 technical issues with the 
original telephone gateways/lines 

impacted on call volumes and 
waiting timesPerformance Plan in 

progress. See Appendix C. 

  

WL108 Average 
answered waiting time 
for callers to the 
contact centre 
(seconds) 

37.00 60.00 64.00 47.00 58.00 69.00 163.00 83.00 102.00
3
 60.00 

Data refers to  01.10.17–
12.12.17.  Data from 13.12.17 when 

new telephony platform installed 
was 106s. New telephony platform 

issues impacted as above. 
Performance Plan in progress. See 

Appendix C. 

  

 
  

P
age 1400



 

Leisure & Wellbeing Services 
 

PI Code & Short Name 

Q3 
2015/16 

Q4 
2015/16 

Q1 
2016/17 

Q2 
2016/17 

Q3 
2016/17 

Q4 
2016/17 

Q1 
2017/18 

Q2 
2017/18 

Q3 
2017/18 

Current 
Target 

Comments 

Q3 
17/18          
vs           
Q3 
16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

WL08a Number of 
Crime Incidents 

1,271 1,205 1,359 1,224 1,388 1,199 1,432 1,504 1,559 
  

 
  

WL_18 Use of leisure 
and cultural facilities 
(swims and visits) 

215,442 331,443 307,707 311,904 245,996 348,199 318,045 333,750 229,272 
  

 
  

 
 

Street Scene Services 
 

PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 
Q4 

2015/16 
Q1 

2016/17 
Q2 

2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

2016/17 
Q1 

2017/18 
Q2 

2017/18 
Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

NI 191 Residual 
household waste per 

household (Kg)
 5
 

124.96 138.46 128.7
6
 121.00 125.32 126.71

7
 133.82

8
 127.18 127.81 125 

Performance Plan in progress. 
See Appendix C.   

NI 192 Percentage of 
household waste sent 
for reuse, recycling and 

composting
5
 

51.37% 41.81% 42.05%9 54.16% 51.41% 43.42%10 38.57%11 47.38% 44.41% 50.00% 
Performance Plan in progress. 

See Appendix C.   

NI 195a Improved 
street and 

environmental 
cleanliness (levels of 
litter, detritus, graffiti 
and fly posting): Litter 

1.17% 2.00% N/A 1.33% 1.11% 0.00%
12

 N/A 1.22% 0.33% 1.61%  
  

NI 195b Improved 
street and 
environmental 
cleanliness (levels of 
litter, detritus, graffiti 
and fly posting): 
Detritus 

5.97% 5.47% N/A 3.24% 2.96% 2.05%
12

 N/A 3.13% 3.86% 5.00%  
  

WL01 No. residual bins 
missed per 100,000 
collections 

87.42 97.41 73.06 75.87 78.68 79.62 91.48 93.36 74.31 80.00  
  

P
age 1401



PI Code & Short Name 
Q3 

2015/16 
Q4 

2015/16 
Q1 

2016/17 
Q2 

2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

2016/17 
Q1 

2017/18 
Q2 

2017/18 
Q3 

2017/18 Current 
Target 

Comments 
Q3 17/18          
vs           
Q3 16/17 

Quarter 
Performance 

Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value 

WL06 Average time 
taken to remove fly tips 
(days) 

1.06 1.08 1.03
13

 1.05
13

 1.03 1.03 1.03 1.03 1.05 1.09  
  

WL122 % Vehicle 
Operator Licence 
Inspections Carried Out 
within 6 Weeks 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%  
  

 
1 

Managed through LCC/BTLS contract. Contractual targets are annual. Quarter targets are provided as a gauge for performance only. ICT data and RBS data reflect progress to year end. ICT 
4 Q4 2016/17 data previously reported as 100% (which was December 2016 performance) rather than year to date 99% 
2 

WL19bii: Data does not include BTLS seconded staff. Data for Q2 2017/18 was only for the period 01.07 – 15.09.17; Q3 data from 13.10.17. 
3 
WL108: new telephony platform issues impacted. Data entered refers to  01.10.17–12.12.17.  Data from 13.12.17 when new telephony platform installed was 106s.

 

4
WL_121: Data does not include BTLS seconded staff. From 2016/17, quarter data shows a rolling 12 month outturn against the annual target rather than ‘within quarter’ performance. 

Outturns of previous quarters re-stated to show this.  
5 

NI191-192: Data is provided to WLBC with a time lag due to time involved to confirm final figures. The data provided therefore reflects an outturn verified within the quarter rather than an 
outturn produced within the quarter. Data shown has been re-stated to reflect this change. 
6 

NI191: Data restated from the originally published 131.82; 
7 

Data restated from the originally published 121.6. NB these outturns and time periods have been adjusted from those originally 
published in line with the revised reporting arrangements. 

8
Data restated from originally published 130.26 

9 
NI192: Data restated from originally published 40.61; 

10
 Data restated from originally published 44.43. NB these outturns and time periods have now been adjusted from those originally 

published in line with the revised reporting arrangements. 
11 

Data restated from originally published 40.93 
12 

NI195a - previously reported as 0.65%; NI195b - previously reported as 2.19% 
13 

WL06: Data restated from originally published Q1 1.07, Q2 1.01 2016/17.  

 
Following the annual review of PIs, the following changes to QPIs were approved by Cabinet in March 2017 for 2017/18: B2: Overpayment Recovery of Housing Benefit overpayments 
(payments received) – annual target changed from £170K to £195K. Quarter profile changed to reflect this; NI191; Residual household waste per household and NI192: Percentage of 
household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting - Quarter reporting period amended. There is a significant lag in reporting data for each quarter due to the external reporting and 
validating process. This has frequently meant that there is no quarterly data reportable for these PIs within the relevant quarter report. To allow quarterly figures to be monitored, data 
validated during the period being monitored will now be reported, and this will refer to outturn of the previous quarter; TS1: Rent Collected as a % of rent owed (excluding arrears b/f) - 
target changed from 97% to 99%; TS24a:  Average time taken to re-let local authority housing (General Needs) and TS24b: Average time taken to re-let local authority housing (Supported 
Needs). These PIs have been replaced by TS11: % of rent loss through dwellings being vacant, which identifies how much money is being lost through delays in turnaround of properties for 
letting; WL108: Average answered waiting time for callers to the contact centre - target decreased from 50 to 60 seconds to reflect end of year outturn. Since this PI was introduced the 
contact centre service has developed to provide greatly increased call resolution at first point of contact which has resulted in call duration being longer.  Whilst maintaining an efficient 
contact centre remains integral to our customer service, the resourcing of this needs to be balanced with the promotion of other access routes for services via the Council’s Digital by 
Preference initiative and the drive for channel shift. To support this approach, the annual target will therefore reflect annual outturn. 
‘NI’ and ‘BV’ coding retained for consistency/comparison although national reporting no longer applies. 

P
age 1402



 

 

P
age 1403





 
APPENDIX B1 

 

PERFORMANCE PLAN 

Indicator 

 

R1 % of Council Tax collected / R3 % of Non-domestic Rates Collected  

 

Reason(s) for not meeting target:  
Although the contractual Service Level Agreement for Current Year Council Tax & Current Year 

NNDR Recovery remains an annual target as in previous years the outturn has dipped below the 

local service target for this period in the financial year to date. 

 

Both of these annual targets remain the most challenging for the service to deliver and although 

resources were increased in both areas early on this financial year and work trays are at very low 

levels, which indicates the level of resource allocated to these areas is not an issue, the service 

haven’t managed to meet their internal target this quarter.  

 

The impact of notification of high values of NNDR rateable value changes late in the financial year 

(approximately £500k via WLBC led Analyse Local project and in excess of £200k miscellaneous 

VOA changes) has and will present significant collection challenges within the current financial 

year and the ability of BTLS to meet these SLAs.  

 

The ongoing impact of processing Optional Real Time Information (RTI) Benefit changes 

continues to also present a challenge in terms of Council Tax collection, as Council Tax Support 

(CTS) awards are cancelled or reduced retrospectively i.e. CTS claims which have been amended 

following notification of backdated changes in circumstances, will increase the Council Tax liability 

toward the end of the financial year, is proving challenging in terms of collection, and will impact 

performance levels.  

 

However, taking the above into account the cash value of the underperformance to WLBC in these 

targets is being more than offset by the over performance across other SLA targets of the service, 

such as Housing Benefit Overpayment Recovery and Sundry Debtor Recovery, and as such 

WLBC remains in a cash positive position overall. 

 
 

Additional Commentary 
 

Proposed Actions  

 

The service continues to closely review and implement action to address debt recovery and bring 

performance back on track, activity includes: 

 

 Weekly monitoring meetings with detailed analysis of targeted debt.  

 Focused review of high value recovery cases to target non payers, for example the 

highest value ‘medium / high’ risk NNDR non payers are being very closely 

monitored and appropriate bespoke action taken to collect. 

 Follow up of NNDR ratepayers who potentially may qualify for NNDR Discretionary 

Rate Relief e.g. Pub Rate Relief. 

 Close liaison with the Valuation Office to ensure accurate Rating Lists maintained. 

Page 1405



 Extension of the appointment of specialist Revenues Agency worker to assist in 

maximising collection process. 

 Use of new Management Information Software to assist identification of areas for 

focus. 

 Review and monitor the impact of the Optional RTI work on recovery. 

 Close liaison with our Enforcement Agent to prioritise CT and NNDR debt 

repayment, recent meeting to promote increased pressure on `won’t payers`. 

 Review of potential bulk write off cases in accordance with WLBC Policy. 

 Progress a pilot of working with third party advanced specialist recovery providers to 

utilise in recovering high value, more complex non-payment cases. 

It is anticipated that these actions will have a positive impact with the aim of improving  

performance by the end of the financial year.  
 

Resource Implications  
Resource issues have been considered during the updating of the Recovery Strategy and will be 
met within the existing service.  
 

Priority 
The collection of both Council and Business Rates Tax remains an ongoing key priority for the 
Service and Council.  
 

Future Targets  
No proposed change to target. The contractual Service Level Agreement is an annual target, 

however this reports performance against where the service would like recovery to be at that point 

in the financial year. 
 

Action Plan  

Tasks to be undertaken 
Completion 

Date 
Increased monitoring and review of high value recovery cases to target non 
payers 

Ongoing 

Liaising closely with Valuation Office to ensure accurate Rating Lists maintained Ongoing 

Appointment of specialist Revenues Agency worker to assist in maximising 
collection process 

Ongoing 

 

Page 1406



ACTIONS FROM PREVIOUS PERFORMANCE PLANS                   APPENDIX C 
 

Indicator Task created 
following Q 

Tasks to be undertaken Completion 
Date 

Progress  Comment/Impact 

HS13  
% LA properties with 
Landlord Gas Safety 
Certificate  outstanding 

Q3 16/17 Form a working group. 
Involving Legal, Property 
Services, Housing Operations 
and the councils heating 
contractor. 

March 2017 Complete.  
 

Performance for Q3 remains 
under target. Some issues 
experienced with no access 
notifications which are now 
resolved to enable staff to be 
prompted and make contact 
with a tenant when a contractor 
has failed to gain access for the 
gas service.  A review of current 
procedures has taken place and 
new systems are to be in place 
before the end of the financial 
year. 
Actions should impact on 
performance once 
recommendations are 
implemented, so should be 
visible from Q4 onwards. 
  
 
 
  

Review current processes 
with the group 

May 2017  Complete.  

Gas servicing process onto QL.  

Review best practice from 
other organisations  

June 2017 Complete. 
We have identified that 
additional contact with the 
tenant earlier in the process, 
and more reliable information in 
a shared format (to enable 
other teams to assist with 
access problems) is needed. Our 
procedures are being changed 
to address this.  We are also 
exploring communications to 
raise tenants’ awareness around 
gas servicing. 

Make recommendations for 
changes to the process. 

July 2017 Complete. 
Initial changes recommended to 
Interim Property Services 
Manager (as above) and we will 
monitor their impact.  Gas 
servicing is now on QL.  Once 
the new process is established 
we will identify any further 

P
age 1407



improvements necessary. 

Implement changes. Sept 2017 Gas servicing is now on QL. The 
changes planned are 
documented in the Gas 
Servicing Improvement Plan. 

Rewrite of the Gas Policy and 
re-working of the procedure 
to be implemented with the 
advice of external adviser. 

Dec 2017 In progress. 

WL108 Average answered 
waiting time for callers to the 
contact centre 
& 
WL90 % of Contact Centre 
calls answered 
 
 

Q1 17/18 Continue discussions with 
the project/ implementation 
team to plan subscriptions 
for year 2. 

January 2018 Planning work is underway. 
Online subscriptions will open 
earlier than telephone 
subscriptions to actively 
encourage residents to sign up 
online. 

Performance for Q3 remained 
red for WL108 and amber for 
WL90. Whilst the Customer 
Services team will continue to 
focus on call handling 
performance, it is unlikely that 
performance targets will be 
achieved for 2017/18 due to the 
sheer volume of calls received in 
the first quarter. 

Use data gathered from the 
initial subscriptions to target 
all current subscribers with 
information about year 2 and 
to actively encourage them 
to subscribe online. 

March 2018 Data gathering exercise is 
complete.  Targeted messages 
will be used to encourage 
current subscribers to re-
subscribe online. The messages 
will be issued ahead of the 
online subscription opening in 
March 18. 

NI 191 Residual household 
Waste per Household 
 

Q1 17/18 Monthly performance 
monitoring 

Ongoing Underway Performance for Q3 was Amber. 

NI 192 Percentage of 
Household Waste sent for 
reuse, recycling and 
composting. 
 

Q1 17/18 Publicity plan 
publicising/promoting the 
garden waste collection 
service 

April 2018 Plan is in development. Performance for Q3 was Red. The 
publicity plan will have an impact  
at the start of the new 
subscription season - first quarter 
in 2018/19 

WL01: Missed Bins per 
100,000 Collections 

Q1 17/18 Continue to monitor 
performance 

Ongoing Underway These tasks were anticipated to 
show an impact on performance 

P
age 1408



 Review performance 
indicator 

March 2018 A more precise number of 
properties/bins will be 
determined through the route 
optimisation project. 

from October (Q3). 
Performance for Q3 was Green. 
 

Review classification of 
missed bins 

March 2018  

R1 % of Council Tax 
collected / R3 % of Non-
domestic Rates Collected 

 

Q2 17/18 Implementation of new 
Management Information 
Software to assist 
identification of areas for 
focus – Go Live 

November 
2018 

Complete Q3 outturn remains below 
target. Updated plan provided 
at B1. 

 
Performance plans often include actions which, by the time of publication, have already been completed and/or become part of the day to day 
ongoing operations of a service. The above table details those actions from Performance Plans in previous quarters that contained a future 
implementation date.  

P
age 1409





APPENDIX D 
 
MINUTE OF CORPORATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 4 JANUARY 2018 
 
51  CORPORATE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Q2 2017-18  

 
 Consideration was given to the report of the Director of Housing and Inclusion, as 

contained on pages 259 to 272 of the Book of Reports, which presented 
performance monitoring data for the quarter ended 30 September 2017. 
 
Comments and questions were raised in respect of the following targets: 

 NI157a 'Processing of planning applications' R3 '% of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected' 

 HS1 '% Housing repairs completed in timescale' 

 WL90 '% of Contact Centre calls answered' 

 WL19bii 'Direct dial calls answered within 10 seconds' 

 WL08a 'Number of Crime Incidents' 

 WL01 'No. residual bins missed per 100,000 collections' 
 
RESOLVED: A. That the Council's performance against the indicator set for the 

quarter ended 30 September 2017, be noted. 
 

B. That Cabinet be asked to review the target level for NI157a 
'Processing of planning applications' at its meeting in March 2018. 

 
 C. That in relation to WL08a' Number of Crime Incidents' the 

Community Safety Partnership be asked to include facts and 
figures at the next meeting of this Committee when they are 
scheduled to give their annual presentation on the work of the 
Partnership.  

 
 

Page 1411





 

 
 

  
 
CABINET: 13 March 2018  
 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
29 March 2018 
 

 
Report of: Director of Housing and Inclusion 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran  
 
Contact for further information: Ms A Grimes (Extn. 5409)  
    (E-mail: alison.grimes@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT: CORPORATE PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 2018/19 
______________________________________________________________________ 
Borough wide interest 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the Suite of Performance Indicators (Appendix A) to be 

adopted as the Council’s Corporate PI Suite 2018/19. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
2.1 That the Suite of Performance Indicators 2018/19 (Appendix A) and targets 

identified be approved and adopted as the Council’s Corporate PI Suite 2018/19. 
 

2.2 That the Director of Housing & Inclusion, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council as Portfolio Holder, be authorised to finalise and amend the suite having 
regard to agreed comments from Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
made on 29 March 2018, and to make necessary amendments to the suite in 
year in response to any issues that may arise, for example government policy or 
collection mechanisms.  

 
2.3 That call-in is not appropriate for this item as it is being considered at the next 

meeting of Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 29 March 2018. 
 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
3.1  That the Committee consider the Suite of Performance Indicators 2018/19 

(Appendix A) and agree comments as appropriate. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 1413

Agenda Item 7g



4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 The corporate suite of performance indicators is reported to provide information 

about service areas and where indicators are relevant help demonstrate 
performance against the priorities agreed by Members through the Council Plan. 
The suite assists the authority to understand how well it is performing and 
provides information as to whether the organisation is on track to achieve the 
priorities.  

 
4.2 As part of the development of the Council Plan 2018/19, a review of the 2017/18 

suite of performance indicators was undertaken, including consideration of the 
Corporate & Environmental Overview and Scrutiny Committee request to review 
the target for NI157a, Processing of Major Planning Applications. The review 
resulted in revision to some targets, as well as changes around indicators as 
follows. 

 The addition of a wider range of compliance indicators relating to the housing 
stock:  

 HS22a % of properties with a valid Landlord Gas Safety Record for all 
homes and buildings owned or managed by WLBC which require one. 

 HS23a % of properties covered by a suitable ‘in date’ water hygiene 
risk assessment (no older than 2 years) in place for all buildings owned 
or managed by WLBC which require one. 

 HS24a % of properties with a valid Electrical Installation Condition 
Report for all homes and buildings owned or managed by WLBC which 
require one. 

 HS25a % of non-domestic (communal) and ‘other’ asset numbers with 
an ‘in-date’ asbestos management survey/re-inspection which require 
one. 

 HS26a % of properties with a valid in date fire risk assessment in place 
for all buildings owned or managed by WLBC which require one. 

 The replacement of HS13 % LA properties with Landlord Gas Safety Record 
Outstanding with HS22a above (once reporting processes are developed), 
and the replacement of WL08a Number of Crime Incidents with indicators 
WLBC are more directly responsible for:  

 WL124 No. observations/incidents the CCTV operatives are involved in 
 WL125 No. arrests that CCTV operators were involved in 
 WL126 No. incidents identified by the operators through general 

monitoring. 

 The addition of digital data to reflect the Council's journey towards channel 
shift: 

 WL85a Website: no. visits 
 WL85aa Website: number of unique visitors 
 WL85b Website: use of online forms 
 WL85c Website: no. online payments 

 The addition of annual survey data to better reflect the priorities of 
Engage/empower and Promoting the Borough:  

 CIT14 % of residents who feel the Council keeps them well informed 
about its services and benefits 

 CIT16 % of residents who feel they belong to their local area 
 

Further details of the changes are provided in the Appendix. 
 

4.2 It is recommended that targets for performance in 2018/19 are set to be 
challenging but realistic. In most cases given resources this means that targets 
are maintained as for 2017/18, but where circumstances suggest that PIs/targets 

Page 1414



need to vary then an explanation for the proposed change is provided in the 
table.  

 
4.3 As in previous years, PI targets are reviewed and agreed with Heads of Service 

and Portfolio Holders prior to submission to committee. Targets for the Revenue 
& Benefits and ICT Services are determined via the Shared Services contractual 
process with input from the Director of Housing & Inclusion in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder/s. 

 
4.4 There are therefore 63 proposed performance indicators/data items within the 

suite that will be reported at year end for 2018/19. Of these, 38 are the ‘key 
performance indicators’ which will be reported to Members on a quarterly basis 
as indicated in the Appendix. Performance plans will be provided where identified 
actions can be expected to make a difference to future outturn or provide further 
detail on any underperformance. The remainder of the PIs will be reported 
annually. The full suite outturn will be reported with the Annual Council Plan 
Report.  

 
5.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The information set out in this report aims to help the Council to improve and 

sustain service performance. 
 
6.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no significant financial or resource implications arising from the 

recommendations within this report. Several of the indicators/data items report 
against use of resources, helping to monitor and manage these appropriately 
within the authority. 

 
7.0  RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 Monitoring and managing performance information data together with the 

monitoring of progress against the Council Plan helps the authority to ensure it is 
achieving its priorities and reduces the risk of not doing so.  

 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The decision does not have a direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and/or stakeholders. Therefore no equality impact assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Proposed 2018/19 Corporate Performance Indicator Suite 
Appendix B -  Minute of Cabinet 13 March 2018 (Executive Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee only) – to follow 

 

Page 1415





APPENDIX A: PROPOSED PERFORMANCE INDICATOR SUITE 2018/19  

PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

HS1 % Housing repairs 
completed in timescale 

96.56% 96.39% 97.22% 97.00% 97.00%  
 
 

Tangible/visible Q/Annual 

HS13 % LA properties with 
Landlord Gas Safety Record 
outstanding  

0.1% 0.13% 0.19% 0.00% 0.00% 

Target based on legal requirement for all eligible 
properties to have a certificate. This PI is 
proposed for replacement once new gas 
compliance PI (HS22a below) can be reported at 
the end of Q2 18/19 

Yes – 
propose 

replacement  

Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

HS22a % of properties with a 
valid Landlord Gas Safety 
Record for all homes and 
buildings owned or managed 
by WLBC which require one. 

~ ~ ~ ~ 100% 

Replacing existing Gas Certificate PI to reflect 
new policies and management. One of a suite of 
service PIs that manage WLBC regulatory 
responsibilities with regard to gas safety. Target 
based on legal requirements. Data will only be 
available for Q2 2018/19 onwards, since we are 
currently developing appropriate and robust 
recording and reporting processes. 

NEW/ 
Replacement 

Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

HS23a % of properties covered 
by a suitable ‘in date’ water 

hygiene risk assessment (no 
older than 2 years) in place for 
all buildings owned or 
managed by WLBC which 
require one. 

~ ~ ~ ~ 100% 

One of a suite of service PIs that manage WLBC 
regulatory responsibilities with regard to water 
hygiene safety and preventing exposure to 
legionella. Target based on legal requirements. 
Data will only be available for Q2 2018/19 
onwards, since we are currently developing 
appropriate and robust recording and reporting 
processes. 

NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

HS24a % of properties with a 
valid Electrical Installation 
Condition Report for all homes 
and buildings owned or 
managed by WLBC which 
require one. 

~ ~ ~ ~ 100% 

One of a suite of service PIs that manage WLBC 
regulatory responsibilities with regard to 
electrical safety. Target based on legal 
requirements. Data will only be available for Q2 
2018/19 onwards, since we are currently 
developing appropriate and robust recording and 
reporting processes. 

NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

HS25a The total number of 
non-domestic (communal) and 
‘other’ asset numbers ‘at risk’ 
that require an asbestos 
management survey/re-
inspection 

~ ~ ~ ~ 0 

One of a suite of service PIs that manage WLBC 
regulatory responsibilities with regard to 
asbestos. Target based on legal requirements. 
Data will only be available for Q2 2018/19 
onwards, since we are currently developing 
appropriate and robust recording and reporting 

NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

P
age 1417



PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

processes. 

HS26a % of properties with a 
valid in date fire risk 
assessment in place for all 
buildings owned or managed 
by WLBC which require one 

~ ~ ~ ~ 100% 

One of a suite of service PIs that manage WLBC 
regulatory responsibilities with regard to fire 
safety. Target based on legal requirements. Data 
will only be available for Q2 2018/19 onwards, 
since we are currently developing appropriate 
and robust recording and reporting processes. 

NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

HS14 % non-decent council 
homes 

0.39% 0.30% 0.25% 0.25% 0.20% To reflect ongoing investment in housing stock. Y - target Tangible/visible Annual 

TS1 Rent Collected as a % of 
rent owed (excluding arrears 
b/f) 

98.65 99.81 99.09 99.00 

 
 

 

 

 

 

99.50 
 

Universal Credit (UC) full service went live from 
December 2017. Rent income received through 
UC housing costs will now have an impact on this 
PI. (Data is currently showing UC housing costs 
direct at 52% compared to HB payments direct at 
60%). We will receive UC income 4 weeks in 
arrears unlike HB income which is received 
weekly. These factors have been considered in 
setting the target for the coming year. Further 
profiling will be undertaken during the financial 
year to understand ongoing impact and to 
maximise performance. 

Y - target 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

TS11 % of rent loss through 
dwellings being vacant  

1.69% 1.75% 1.79% 2.00% 

 
 
 

1.90% 

This indicator identifies how much income is lost 
through properties being vacant. 2018/19 target 
has been based on an improvement plan having 
benchmarked performance with other landlords 
to achieve continuous improvement and reduce 
income loss.     

Y - target 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

WL90 % of Contact Centre 
calls answered 

92.4% 92.0% 93.0% 91.0% 88.0% 

Consistently high call answering rates and low 
wait times actively encourages customers to 
contact the Council by phone which reduces the 
need for them to self-serve.  Whilst maintaining 
an efficient contact centre remains integral to our 
customer service, this needs to be balanced with 

the promotion of other access routes for services 
in line with key elements of the Council's Plan to 
encourage self-service and delivering ongoing 

Y - target 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

P
age 1418



PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

service efficiencies.  

 
The successful launch of the garden waste 
collection service resulted in 70% of subscriptions 
being completed online; this is the first time that 
online transactions have exceeded phone 
interactions for the same service.  This was a 
direct result of active promotion of the online 
subscription service via the Contact Centre's 

Interactive Voice Response (IVR), which 
encouraged customers to hang up and sign up 
online. This subsequently counts as an 
abandoned call and impacts on this performance 
indicator.    

 
The same approach will be taken during the roll 
out of the second year of garden waste 
subscriptions in addition to opening up the online 
subscription service earlier than phone 
subscriptions, to further encourage online take 
up of the service.  Other significant changes to 
Street Scene Services during 18/19 will also 
generate high call volumes and the revised target 
is considered to be a challenging but realistic 
target.  

WL108 Average answered 
waiting time for callers to the 
contact centre (seconds) 

30.00 51.00 60.00 60.00 
Reflect 
annual 
outturn  

Since this PI was introduced the contact centre 
service has developed to provide greatly 
increased call resolution at first point of contact 
which has resulted in call duration being longer.  

The year to date figure at the time of this report 
is currently at 1 minute 46 seconds, which is 
above the 60 second target. Whilst maintaining 
an efficient contact centre remains integral to our 
customer service, the resourcing of this needs to 
be balanced with the promotion of other access 
routes for services in line with key elements of 
the Council's Plan to encourage self-service and 

Y - target 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

P
age 1419



PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

deliver ongoing service efficiencies.  

 
To support this approach, the annual target will 
therefore reflect annual outturn. 

WL19bii Direct dial calls 
answered within 10 seconds 

81.98% 81.34% 81.23% 82.21% 

 
 Reflect 
2017/18 
annual 
outturn 

Maintaining telephone contact for customers 
remains a method of service access, however this 
needs to be balanced with the promotion of other 
access routes for services via the Council’s Digital 
by Preference initiative and the drive for channel 
shift. To support this approach, the annual target 
will therefore reflect annual outturn. 

Y - target 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

WL85a Website: no. visits 444,352 451,906 516,776 ~ Data only  NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

WL85aa Website: number of 
unique visitors 

313,689 301,624 344,140 ~ Data only  NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

WL85b Website: use of online 
forms 

8,845 13,084 11,204 ~ Data only  NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

WL85c Website: no. online 
payments 

34,061 40,353 45,134 ~ Data only  NEW 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

ICT1 Severe Business 
Disruption (Priority 1)  

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.0% 99.0% Targets to be agreed via contract process *  
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

ICT3 Major Business Disruption 
(P2)   

100.0% 92.0% 96.0% 98.0% 98.0% 
Targets to be agreed via contract process * 

 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

ICT2 Minor Business Disruption 
(P3)  

99.0% 98.0% 98.0% 97.0% 97.0% 
Targets to be agreed via contract process *  Corporate/service 

delivery or support 
Q/Annual 

ICT4 Minor Disruption (P4)  99.0% 98.0% 99.0% 98.0% 98.0% Targets to be agreed via contract process *  
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

ICT5 Advice & Guidance (P5)  100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 98.0% 98.0% Targets to be agreed via contract process *  
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Annual 

B1 Time taken to process 
Housing Benefit/Council Tax 
Benefit new claims and change 
events 

6.62 7.02 6.41 12.00 

 
12.00 Targets to be agreed via contract process * 

 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

P
age 1420



PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

B2 Overpayment Recovery of 
Housing Benefit overpayments 
(payments received)  

 
 £203,868 

 

 
 £276,577 

 

 
  
311,409  

 

£195,000 

 
£195,000 

Targets to be agreed via contract process *  
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

B4 Benefits Local authority 
Error Overpayments - Lower 
threshold  

£86,090 £82,401 £96,867 

£123,371 
(below 
lower 

threshold) 

tbc  
(Below 
lower 

threshold) 
 

Targets to be agreed via contract process * 
Annual target cash figure may change, but is 
arrived at from the annual target of 'lower 
threshold year to date based on next year 
estimates' on the subsidy grant claim form. 
Actual cash figure will not be received until later 
in the year. 

 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Annual 

R1 % Council Tax collected 96.03% 97.02% 96.74% 97.10% 97.10% Targets to be agreed via contract process * 
 Corporate/service 

delivery or support 
Q/Annual 

R2 % Council tax previous 
years arrears collected 

33.56% 37.31% 26.82% 24.5% 24.5% Targets to be agreed via contract process * 
 Corporate/service 

delivery or support 
Q/Annual 

R3 % of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected 

96.40% 98.32% 97.72% 97.20% 97.20% Targets to be agreed via contract process *  
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

R4 Sundry Debtors % of 
revenue collected against debt 
raised 

90.73% 95.00% 95.06% 89.1% 89.1% Targets to be agreed via contract process *  
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

BV8 % invoices paid on time  98.22% 98.81% 98.48% 98.75% 98.75% 
Monitored by BTLS but mainly dependent on 
WLBC processes within individual services 

 
Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

NI 154 Net additional homes 
provided 

239 266 305 Data only Data only   Tangible/visible  Annual 

NI 155 Number of affordable 
homes delivered (gross) 

16 92 95 Data only Data only 

The Housing Strategy 2014-2019 aspiration was 
for the development of no less than 500 
affordable homes (AH) during the life of the 
strategy (from 2014-19).  

 Tangible/visible Annual 

NI 157a Processing of planning 
applications: Major applications 

76.09% 95.12% 87.10% 65.00% 65.00%   Tangible/visible Q/Annual 

NI 157b Processing of planning 
applications: Minor applications 

73.88% 67.31% 88.85% 75.00% 75.00% Government target of 65%  Tangible/visible Q/Annual 

NI 157c Processing of planning 81.99% 82.71% 90.56% 85.00% 85.00% Government target of 80%  Tangible/visible Q/Annual 

P
age 1421



PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

applications: Other applications 

NI 159 Supply of ready to 
develop housing sites 

120.5% 108.3% 106.3% Data only Data only   Tangible/visible Annual 

NI 191 Residual household 
waste per household (Kg) 

502.59 513.15 504.95 500.00 500.00   Great place Q/Annual 

NI 192 Percentage of 
household waste sent for 
reuse, recycling and 
composting 

46.29% 46.80% 47.38% 50.00% 50.00%   Great place Q/Annual 

NI 195a Improved street and 
environmental cleanliness 
(levels of litter) 

0.83% 1.44% 0.80% 1.61% 1.61%   Great place Q/Annual 

NI 195b Improved street and 
environmental cleanliness 
(levels of detritus) 

4.77% 4.95% 2.16% 5.00% 5.00%   Great place Q/Annual 

WL01 No. residual bins missed 
per 100,000 collections 

84.26 89.83 76.81 80.00 80.00 
Route Optimisation project is on going the aim is 
to have more balanced rounds. This is due for 
completion in March 2018. 

 Great place Q/Annual 

WL06 Average time taken to 
remove fly tips (days) 

1.09 1.06 1.03 1.09 1.09   Great place Q/Annual 

WL08a Number of Crime 
Incidents 

4,971 4,765 5,170 Data only 
Propose 
deletion 

WLBC has limited influence on the number of 
crime incidents recorded and reported by 
Lancashire Constabulary. To be replaced with 
data from the CCTV monitoring suite. 

Yes – 
propose 

replacement 
Great place Q/Annual 

WL124 No. 
observations/incidents the 
CCTV operatives are involved 
in 

~ ~ 6,045 ~ Data only  NEW Great place Annual 

WL125 No. arrests that CCTV 
operators were involved in 

~ ~ 282 ~ Data only  NEW Great place Annual 

WL126 No. incidents identified 
by the operators through 
general monitoring 

~ ~ 1,525 ~ Data only  NEW Great place Annual 

P
age 1422



PI Code & Short Name 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Annual 
target 

2017/18 

Proposed 
Annual 
Target Latest Notes 

 
Change 
to 
2017/18 

Priority / Purpose Reporting 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

Outturn 
Value 

2018/19 

WL_18 Use of leisure and 
cultural facilities (swims and 
visits) 

1,203,074 1,164,957 1,213,806 Data only Data only 

PI comprises data from: participants in sports 
development; numbers attending countryside 
events and activities; visits to leisure/sports 

centres, golf course and Chapel Gallery.  

 

Great place Q/Annual 

WL24 % Building regulations 
applications determined within 
5 weeks 

61.64% 61.98% 62.20% 50.00% 50.00%  
 

Tangible/visible Annual 

WL122 % Vehicle Operator 
Licence Inspections Carried 
Out within 6 Weeks 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%  
 

Corporate/service 
delivery or support 

Q/Annual 

WL123 Apprenticeships Started 
Each Year Within WLBC 

~ ~ ~ 2.30% 2.30% 

The Government target itself is an average of 
2.3% apprenticeship starts across the years that 
the target applies, from 2017/18 to 2020/21. 
Numbers include new recruits or existing staff 
starting on Apprenticeship Programmes. 2.3% as 
a headcount is established annually at 31 March. 

 

Great place  Annual 

WL_121 Working Days Lost 
Due to Sickness Absence 

8.74 9.64 7.44 8.08 8.08  
 Corporate/service 

delivery or support 
Q/Annual 

ER01 Apprenticeships created 
from Council intervention 

~ ~ 27 Data only Data only Introduced for 2017/18. 
 

Great place  Annual 

ER04 Apprenticeship vacancies 
within the borough 

~ ~ 113 Data only Data only 
Introduced for 2017/18. Apprenticeships 
advertised in the West Lancashire area 

 
Great place  Annual 

ER05 Benefit claimant count in 
West Lancs 

~ ~ 1.9% Data only Data only 

Introduced for 2017/18. Includes Universal 
Credit. Monitors both those out of work claiming 
benefits and also those in work claiming benefits. 
However outturn is beyond control of the Council, 
therefore data only.  Information comes from 
DWP administrative data. 

 

Great place  Annual 

CIT01 % feel West Lancs is 
safe & secure to live 

78% 79% 79% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT02 % satisfied with 
cleanliness of streets 

69% 65% 56% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT03 % satisfied with how 68% 62% 57% Data only Data only Carried out by survey.   Great place  Annual 

P
age 1423



WLBC runs things 

CIT05 % satisfied with local 
area as a place to live 

82% 78% 80% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT06 % satisfied with 
sports/leisure facilities 

42% 41% 27% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT07 % satisfied with parks 
and open spaces 

58% 60% 52% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT08 % residents agreeing 
that WLBC provides value for 
money 

43% 41% 35% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT12 % of people satisfied 
with household collections for 
domestic waste 

83% 86% 85% Data only Data only Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT13 % of people satisfied 
with household collections for 
recyclable materials 

82% 82% 78% Data only 
Data only 

Carried out by survey. 
 

Great place  Annual 

CIT14 % of residents who feel 
the Council keeps them well 
informed about its services and 
benefits 

57% 50% 49% Data only 

 
Data only 

Carried out by survey. 

NEW 

Great place Annual 

CIT16 % of residents who feel 
they belong to their local area 

71% 69% 72% ~ 
Data only Carried out by survey. Reflecting engaging and 

empowering priority 
NEW 

Engage/Empower Annual 

 
  
Notes:  
*Managed through BT Lancashire Services contract. SLA targets are annual and are subject to contractual processes. Quarter targets as reported in performance reports 
are provided only as a gauge. 
~ not collected and/or reported at this time or previous calculations not comparable  
+ data restated 
^ restated following a planning appeal  
Reporting of PIs is dependent on collection mechanisms remaining in place. Satisfication (CIT_) indicators are collected via the Citizen & Stakeholder Survey. 

    
    

 

P
age 1424



 

 
 

 
 
CABINET: 13 MARCH 2018 
 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE:  29 MARCH 2018   
 
COUNCIL: 25 APRIL 2018 

 

 
Report of: Chief Executive 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran 
 
Contact for further information: Ms K Webber (Extn. 5005)  
 (E-mail: Kim.Webber@westlancs.gov.uk;     
                                                                    Alison.Grimes@westlancs.gov.uk)              
 

 
SUBJECT:  COUNCIL PLAN 2018/19 – 2020/21 
 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the “Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21” (Appendix A). 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
2.1 That the “Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21” attached as Appendix A to this report 

be approved and referred to Council for adoption. 
 
2.2 That authority is given to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader to 

make any final amendments to the document, prior to publication. 
 
2.3 That call-in is not appropriate for this item, as the report is being submitted to the 

next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 29 March 
2018.  

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
3.1 That the “Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21” attached at Appendix A to the report 

be considered and that agreed comments be referred to Council on 25 April 2018 
for consideration. 

 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL   
 
4.1 That the “Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21” attached at Appendix A to the report 

be adopted. 
 
 

 
 Page 1425

Agenda Item 7h



 
5.0   BACKGROUND AND CURRENT POSITION 
 
5.1 The draft Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21 is attached at Appendix A and sets 

out the Council's vision, values and priorities, together with key strategy actions 
and measures. The Plan enables the Council to communicate its direction with 
the public, stakeholders and staff, and supports transparency and 
accountability. Having a clear statement of corporate priorities also assists 
effective planning and prioritisation of work within Services, informs the 
development of staff work programmes and annual development appraisals, 
and is recognised good practice. 

 
5.2 In order to finalise the document for publication, minor details such as 

typos/clarifications will be amended under the proposed delegated authority 
outlined in s.2.2 

 
5.3 The Council Plan will have an annual refresh to ensure it reflects progress and 

remains up to date and relevant during its lifetime.  Progress will be monitored 
with six-month reports provided through Members Updates against a detailed 
delivery plan, and a full Annual Report to Council.  

 
 

6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in 

particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.  The vision, values, 
priorities and key projects set out in Appendix A should contribute to the 
sustainability of services and the borough as a whole. 

 
7.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21 appended to this report will ensure the 

Council is able to continue to pursue its objectives, within the resources available.  
An agreed Council Plan will assist in shaping budget decisions and enable clear 
priorities to be set for services.   

 
8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 The difficult financial position facing Councils, together with changing legislative 

requirements and the regional agenda, means that having a clear statement of 
Council priorities is particularly important.  By having well-defined priorities, 
attention and resources can be effectively focussed on achieving the Council's 
core objectives. 

 

 
 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 

Page 1426



Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and / 
or stakeholders.  Therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required. A formal 
equality impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report, the results of 
which have been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this 
report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21 (version dated 09.02.18) 
Appendix B:  Equality Impact Assessment 
Appendix C: Minute of Cabinet 13 March 2018 (Executive Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and Council only) – to follow 
Appendix D: Minute of Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Council only) – to 

follow 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1427





West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Council Plan  
2018/19 – 2020/21  

 
 
 

 

Contents  

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 Foreword & Introduction……………... 

Financial Position ……………………... 4 

Organisational Overview……………... 5 

Council Plan 

Summary………………… 

8 

Priorities and Key Projects …..……….. 9 

Monitoring Progress…………..………. 15 

 
 
 
 

Appendix A 

P
age 1429



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

 

 

 
Version 09 February 2018**

P
age 1430



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

1 

 

Foreword 

by the Leader of the Council 

 

Following successful delivery of the Council Plan 2015/16 – 2017/18, 
for 2018/19 we have refreshed our vision and priorities.  In order to 
achieve our ambitions for our economy, environment, health and 
wellbeing we will be focussing on: 

 delivering tangible and visible improvements in the Borough 

 engaging and empowering our local communities  

 actively promoting the Borough as a great place to live, work, 
visit and invest. 

 
For these priorities to result in meaningful change, the projects 
outlined in this plan have been developed as the Council's key areas of 
work. 

Often our outcomes do not result in physical changes, however I am 

delighted that this year 36 new homes for rent at Beechtrees, 

Digmoor, will be built to replace older flats and houses and improve 
the appearance of the estate. Building work is also anticipated on the 
former Council-owned Westec site in Ormskirk resulting in 27 new 
houses, including 18 to be sold, with the rest being added to our 
housing stock.  

A fine example of the Council involving the local community in 

decisions is the Tawd Valley Park Project where we have joined forces 
with Groundwork, the Environment Agency, the River Douglas 
Catchment Partnership, Lancashire County Council and West Lancs 

CVS on a major improvement scheme for the park. We will continue to 

build and sustain partnerships with all sectors, and look to widen our 
involvement of volunteers and community groups in other services 
and developments as appropriate.  

As public sector budgets shrink, it is important to harness the energy        
of our communities in order to maintain the standard of services, and 

quality of life we want in the Borough. In addition, community 
involvement has other benefits, including developing friendships, new 
skills and local ownership. 

I am excited at the growing promotion of Skelmersdale and Ormskirk. 
There are now more than 100 members of the Skelmersdale 
Ambassadors Network, who act as a powerful advocates to influence, 

attract investment and encourage business growth and we are looking 
to grow this number. The Ormskirk Town Centre Management Group 
are steering Ormskirk town centre towards an even more vibrant 
future. Both towns now have dedicated websites for the first time, 
allowing targeted promotion of their different strengths. 

Our services are experiencing changing demands and expectations, as 
well as a changing financial system. We anticipate getting fuller control 
of our finances by 2020, whilst losing government grant, and therefore 
need to make sure that we making the most of existing income 
streams. As well as exploring any new options for income, making 
efficiencies and savings throughout our service areas maximises the 
income available to spend on service delivery.  
 
We are optimistic about sustaining services that meet the needs of our 
customers through redesigning and reshaping services. A greater 
engagement with partners and the community, and a more 
commercial outlook than traditionally associated with local 

P
age 1431



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

2 

 

authorities, is reflected in our plans. This is an ongoing adjustment for 
Members, officers, and as importantly, for residents, businesses and 
other stakeholders.  
 
I am proud to lead a Council with committed staff who apply our 
'outcomes first' approach as the driver for the services and achieving 
our priorities. We will continue to develop services for the whole of 
our Borough so that we make a difference for all – our businesses, our 
places and our people. 
 
 
Councillor Ian Moran 

Leader of West Lancashire Borough Council 

 

Introduction 
from the Chief Executive 
 

This plan provides a clear statement of the vision, values and priorities 
of the Council over the next few years. We made good progress on our 
priority projects during 2017/18 and will continue to build on this 
throughout 2018/19.  
 
With the likelihood that the government will not be providing revenue 
support grant by 2020, all income to fund the Council's Services will 
need to be raised locally, and Councils will need to become financially 
self-sustaining. Here in West Lancashire we will need to make an 
estimated **£2.7m** of savings or efficiencies over the next three 

years. Along with achieving this challenging target, our commitment to 
providing the best possible service whilst minimising the impact on 
services and staff remains – a task which becomes more difficult each 
year. As always it is essential that value for money is achieved. 
 
We continue to look to all opportunities to achieve efficiencies, and 
innovative ways to generate income whilst delivering the Council's 
Policies.   
 
In recent years the Council has balanced the budget through a Policy 
Options approach developed within individual services, and during 
2017/18 measures for £0.94 million ongoing efficiencies, income and 
savings were agreed, including £100,000 from a senior management 
restructure. Although this method has been extremely successful for 
the authority, we believe that, with the implementation of the new 
management structure, there is an ideal opportunity to create an 
organisation fit for future needs. We will therefore be commencing a 
Sustainable Organisation Review in 2018/19, which looks at how the 
Council can best deliver the services our Borough needs in a 
sustainable way, over the medium to long term.  This will involve a 
fundamental review of how the Council works, including the use of 
new technology, how we generate income, and the way we work with 
communities.  
 
In delivering this plan, our staff are the most important resource. 
Capable, and with a 'can do' attitude, particularly where taking on new 
ways of working is required, our staff recognise the need for flexibility 
and change to support the Council and West Lancashire as a whole.  
With the change agenda now part of day to day working life, one of 
my priorities over the coming year will be to ensure residents and staff 
are kept aware of the direction of the Council, and that its ambitions 
and priorities are clearly communicated.  

P
age 1432



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

3 

 

 
Our digital by preference approach will help our customers access our 
services more conveniently, 24/7. A digital communications strategy 
will help extend our public messages, including helping to increase 
understanding of the Council's role compared to that of other public 
bodies.  We have a responsibility to clearly communicate why we 
make changes and what those changes mean, to inform expectations 
and choices.  
 
Internally our Leadership Development Programme, Development 
Appraisal process and annual staff e-survey will, among other things, 
provide us with a clearer picture of where staff see development 
needs not only for themselves but also for the health of the 
organisation. Listening to staff and addressing these points will help us 
to further improve our services. 
 
Feedback from our External Auditors, and the performance monitoring 
undertaken shows that we are an effective organisation, but we are 
not complacent and there is scope to further improve, 
notwithstanding the financial constraints Councils are under. A big part 
of this will come from working together with statutory and non-
statutory groups, communities and our city region neighbours. 
 
I look forward to working with Members, staff and partners to deliver 
the Council’s vision and priorities over the next year. 
 

 

Kim Webber 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1433



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

4 

 

 

Financial Position  
 

[**Text from the Borough Treasurer to follow after Local Government 

Finance Settlement is published/analysed (est mid March**)] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 1434



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

5 

 

Organisational Overview  
 

West Lancashire is served by a Borough Council, County Council, 20 
Parish Councils and one Parish Meeting. There are 54 elected Members 
for 25 wards. As a Borough Council, working in partnership with these 
organisations as well as the police, fire service, NHS, businesses, schools, 
colleges, university and other stakeholders is vital for delivering lasting 
improvements for the benefit of the borough. Council policy is 
determined by Councillors, with advice from officers. The Cabinet is the 
Executive Councillor body for the Council. The Cabinet and senior 
management structures and responsibilities are provided overleaf.  
 
The Borough Council provides services for around 113,400 people or 
49,300 households (including approximately 6,050 council homes) as 
well as businesses and organisations. Services are delivered by around 
460 full time equivalent staff (not including employees managed through 
our secondment agreement with Lancashire County Council/BT 
Lancashire Services).  
 
As part of our service delivery, we aim to improve how efficiently we 
function as an organisation including ensuring value for money and 
focusing our financial and staff resources on outcomes that support our 
priorities. Through our Sustainable Organisational review during 2018/19 
we are looking ahead to ensure that we can meet anticipated future 
needs of our communities and for the organisation.  
 
The organisation’s success depends on our staff. Our staff are the face of 
the Council, representing the whole organisation, and we are committed 
to ensuring that staffing levels are appropriate for delivering services, and 
that the workforce is equipped to meet our commitments to the 

community and wider stakeholders, whilst fulfilling their own potential. 
As part of this, we are working with staff to help create a culture where 
our values flourish and make our organisation a great place to work. We 
will continue to develop the Leadership and Development programme for 
managers and the e-learning system to complement other traditional 
training methods.  
 
The Human Resources Strategy and Workforce Plan demonstrate the 
Council's commitment to aligning its workforce planning with corporate 
and financial planning cycles for greatest efficiency. We have also 
undertaken a staff survey to help us realise our organisational potential 
and continue to build a great place for Council staff to work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 1435



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

6 

 

Members of the Cabinet with Portfolios 

 

P
age 1436



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

7 

 

Senior Officer Management Structure 

 

P
age 1437



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

8 

 

 

P
age 1438



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

9 

 

Our Priorities & Key Projects 
 

Working to achieve the priorities to deliver the vision provides a clear 
strategic direction for the organisation and allows resources to be 
targeted in the most effective and efficient way. Our identified 
priorities are: 

 deliver tangible and visible improvements in the Borough 

 engage and empower our local communities  

 actively promote the Borough as a great place to live, work, 
visit and invest. 
 

Service delivery throughout the Council supports our priorities, 
however the projects for 2018/19 have been highlighted as 
contributing significantly to achieving them. Our plan allows us to 
prioritise and therefore co-ordinate financial and staffing 
requirements. An annual refresh of a three year plan ensures that the 
plan  remains in line with current thinking and the environment in 
which we operate. Progress on the projects, including the key 
measures and targets, will be monitored and reported during the year.  
 

 

 

 

Deliver Tangible and Visible 

Improvements in the Borough 

We will: 

 ensure new homes, jobs and services are located in the most 
sustainable places 

 create a framework for delivering infrastructure facilities  

 provide a wide range of opportunities for promoting health and 
wellbeing in the community 

 reduce the build and operational costs of our leisure provision 

 regenerate the town centre in Skelmersdale  

 establish mechanisms to support new and growing businesses 
through the provision of suitable facilities for sale or rent 

 embed the development of employment and skills training 
opportunities in schemes wherever possible. 

 

Completing the review of the Local Plan 

The review of the current Local Plan 2012-2027 will ensure that land 
use plans for the Borough remain in line with evolving national 
planning policy and local needs. The Local Plan contains the vision and 
strategy for development in West Lancashire. It not only ensures that 
the new homes, jobs and services required by communities are 
located in the most sustainable places, but also provides the 
framework for delivering the necessary infrastructure facilities and 
other development to make this possible. The review processes and 
timescales are outlined within the Local Development Scheme. Taking 
around four years, the full review will involve extensive consultation 
and culminate in a new Local Plan and revised selected Supplementary 

P
age 1439



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

10 

 

Planning Documents. During 2018/19, the review will progress to 
development and consultation of the preferred options document, 
with the entire review due to conclude in 2020. 2018/19 will see: 
  

 Local Plan Preferred Options Document considered by Cabinet.  

 Monitor the Local Plan through the Annual Monitoring Report.  

 Publication / Pre-Submission Consultation.  

 Submission to Planning Inspectorate.  
 

Developing new leisure facilities as health and 

wellbeing hubs  

Significant physical improvements to the borough can be achieved 
through replacement leisure facilities in Skelmersdale and Ormskirk. 
Our leisure facilities are the biggest assets we have for supporting and 
encouraging people of all ages to live active lives and enjoy healthy 
lifestyles. Collaborating with the West Lancashire Clinical 
Commissioning Group around options for incorporating a health 
centre/doctors surgery into the facilities will in the longer term 
provide a wider range of opportunities for further promoting health 
and wellbeing in the community and also help to reduce build and 
operational costs. 2018/19 will see: 
 

 Completion of soft market testing.  

 Business case development.  

 Completion of design process.  

 Progression to next phase of design and procurement. 
 

Delivering retail, housing and public realm 

improvements with a focus on Skelmersdale 

Town Centre 

Our main scheme in Skelmersdale will secure regeneration in the 
form of new commercial, leisure and residential development 
alongside existing property and environmental enhancements 
across a large area of land within and surrounding Skelmersdale 
town centre. The project is being implemented in partnership with 
the Homes and Communities Agency, LCC and St Modwen. We will 
be working with our partners and housing  developers to secure 
development on three large residential sites adjacent to the town 
centre of over 200 houses.  

Following success against a judicial challenge, the Council and its 
partners are now refreshing the work around the retail/leisure 
market element of the development.  In 2018/19 we aim to: 

 Review the approved retail/leisure scheme to ensure it 
meets current market demands and undertake all actions 
identified as necessary by the review.  

 Agree Heads of Terms with interested parties for the Town 
Centre development. 

 Explore all options to ensure that the scheme can either be 
delivered in its entirety or in a phased approach. 

 

Establishing a Development Company 

 The establishment of a sustainable and profitable Development 
Company will deliver new commercial, industrial and 
residential development of Council-owned land and also 

P
age 1440



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

11 

 

consider wider development opportunities bringing investment 
and growth to the borough. Grant funding will be sought to 
support the establishment, in particular through the Homes & 
Communities Agency's Accelerated Construction programme. 
This will be used to unlock housing development on Council-
owned sites. The company will take development forward in 
tune with market conditions. Long-term outcomes will include 
direct support of new and growing businesses, increased 
income through Council Tax and Business Rates, and 
employment and skills training opportunities in the 
construction industry. Initial work will include:   

 Set up Development Company in shadow form including 
financial and governance arrangements, appointment of key 
staff, identification of key development sites to support the 
Business Plan. 
 
Then subject to council approval,  
 

 Later consider the Business Plan and formation of the 
Development Company including registration, appointment 
of the board and key officers and implement the 
development programme, 

 

There are other work streams also supporting this priority. The Moor 
Street Gateway project will see the enhancement or redevelopment 
of the existing bus station and car park site emphasising its importance 
as a gateway into the town and contributing to the regeneration of 
Ormskirk town centre. The former Westec Site in Ormskirk, adjacent 
to the Council offices, will be developed for 27 houses. The Beechtrees 
scheme in Digmoor, Skelmersdale is revitalising and enhancing the 
council estate and maintaining a modernised and sustainable housing 
stock with the building of 36 new dwellings. We will provide a supply 

of ready to build housing sites including through the Community Land 
Auction model involving the Homes & Communities Agency. Longer 
term, working with LCC on their West Lancashire Highways and 
Transport Masterplan is supporting improvements to transport 
infrastructure such as around the Skelmersdale rail station location 
and the Ormskirk town centre movement strategy.  

 

Actively promote the Borough as a 

great place to live, work, visit and 

invest 

We will: 

 extend the influence of the Skelmersdale Place Board in 
promoting opportunities for business development 

 foster Ormskirk's profile as a visitor destination 

 cultivate brand identification for Ormskirk and Skelmersdale 

 maintain West Lancashire's profile and ambitions within the 
wider regional agenda 

 promote satisfaction with the area as a place to live 
 encourage satisfaction with the way the Council runs things 

 expand understanding of how the Council provides value for 

money  

 ensure core messages are effectively delivered and received by 
all sections of the community and staff 

 promote West Lancashire as a place to operate an organisation 

or business in. 

 

P
age 1441



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

12 

 

Engaging businesses and communities in 

enhancing and promoting Ormskirk and 

Skelmersdale 

As traditional shopping habits, ways of doing business and leisure 
activities evolve, to provide what people are looking for, Ormskirk and 

Skelmersdale are adapting and evolving. The Council, Ormskirk 

Community Partnership, local businesses (through the Business Action 

Group), Businesses in the Community, Edge Hill University, and the 

Student Union have joined forces as the Ormskirk Town Centre 

Management Group to ensure the long term economic and social 

viability of Ormskirk. Key initiatives will focus on town centre events 

and place promotion of Ormskirk and the wider area as a visitor 

destination. In Skelmersdale, key public and private sector leaders 

including from businesses, the Council, Edge Hill University, West 

Lancashire College and Homes England are driving forward the 

promotion of Skelmersdale through the Skelmersdale Place Board and 

Skelmersdale Ambassadors. The Board oversaw the successful launch 

of the branding and Skelmersdale Story, and is now looking to sustain 

this work by growing the Ambassadors network, establishing new 

relationships, providing information on opportunities and encouraging 

inward investment.  In 2018/19 we will: 

 

 Increase Skelmersdale Ambassador numbers. 

 Facilitate a series of year round events promoting Ormskirk. 

 

Rolling out 'place branding' and developing 

the websites for Ormskirk and Skelmersdale 

The two main towns of West Lancashire are now benefitting from 
their own distinctive branding and websites. The business-focussed 

Let's Talk Skelmersdale website highlights Skelmersdale's strengths as a 

place to do business by providing information for business support, 

employment and skills, lifestyle and education. It targets both existing 

businesses in the area and companies looking to take advantage of the 

opportunities in the area. The Discover Ormskirk website and 

supporting social media is aimed at visitors to Ormskirk and West 

Lancashire, highlighting attractions, shops and events. The aim is to 

encourage visitors to the borough and into the town centre. Through 

increased and persistent use the unique branding will create a distinct 

profile for the borough. 

 

 Promote and expand the use of Ormskirk and Skelmersdale 

place branding within the Council and in the community. 

 Increase footfall into Ormskirk town centre. 

 Develop the content of both websites.  

 Increase visitor numbers to the websites.  

 Engage people through social media to encourage them to visit 

West Lancashire. 

 

Promoting the Council's role and West 

Lancashire's achievements  

Developing a digital communications strategy will help us meet the 
current trends and changing needs of how customers seek and receive 
information, building on existing channels of media and public 
relations. We will continue to work with partners and diverse 
stakeholder groups to effectively communicate our responsibilities, 
services, key policies and programmes in line with our priorities to 

P
age 1442



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

13 

 

promote a positive image of the borough and its achievements. 
2018/19 will see us: 
 

 Develop a draft strategy, action plan and measures of success. 

 Track and manage digital communication programmes. 
 Assist residents to feel the Council keeps them well informed 

about our services and benefits. 

 Ensure accessibility is maximised within online service 
development. 

 

Engaging with Liverpool City Region and 

Lancashire authorities 

Although we are a Lancashire authority, West Lancashire's 

geographical position means we benefit from our active engagement 

with the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. Within 

Lancashire, the ‘shadow’ Combined Authority has been in operation 

since July 2016. It has a focus on economy, skills and transport 

matters. One democratically accountable body will avoid duplication 

and provide more efficient services; create a stronger basis for bidding 

for funding; make best use of Council and Government money; and 

speed up decision-making on a pan-Lancashire basis. Despite some 

Lancashire Council's doubts over the existing proposals, West 

Lancashire remains involved in the process and is working with 

Lancashire Authorities to take this project forward. In 2018/19 we will: 
 

 Play an active role as an Associate Member of Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority. 

 Further develop the Lancashire Plan based on the five core 
themes – Skilled Lancashire; Better Homes for Lancashire; 
Connected Lancashire; Prosperous Lancashire and Public 
Services Working for Lancashire. 

 Continue to play an active role in the Housing theme of the 
Shadow Combined Authority for Lancashire. 

 

There are other work streams also supporting this priority. We will 
continue to work through the Private Sector Housing Strategy to 
provide residents of West Lancashire decent homes which are safe, 
secure, warm, and in good repair. Progress the Economic 
Development delivery plan actions with partners to address 
employment opportunities, availability of housing, environmental 
improvements, raising skills and training levels, provide support for 
indigenous businesses and attract new investment 

Engage and empower our local 

communities  

We will: 

 develop our parks and countryside sites for wider health and 
wellbeing, economic and social value  

 sustain leisure facilities where possible through different 
models of service delivery and budget control 

 support the uptake of basic online skills and access to the 
internet 

 increase awareness and uptake of digital Council services 

 utilise Overview & Scrutiny to examine the potential of 
community groups' involvement in service delivery. 

Delivering the Master Plan for Tawd Valley 

park  

P
age 1443



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

14 

 

The local community has been integral to progressing the Tawd Valley 

project. Significant environmental and recreational enhancements will 

see improvements to footpaths and landscapes, cycle paths, wetland 

habitat areas, a heritage trail, picnic spaces and the creation of an 

informal event space in the amphitheatre. Such an extensive scheme 

has required collaboration between a number of partners: 

Groundwork, the Environment Agency, Lancashire County Council, 

the River Douglas Catchment Partnership, SHARES and West Lancs 

CVS. In the summer of 2017, extensive public consultation through 

public events and presentations, school and college workshops, press 

coverage, a visioning event, and an on-line survey resulted in a draft 

masterplan. External funding has been secured to take the plan 

forward and further consultation held on an updated plan. Over a 3-5 

year period the park can be developed to instil pride in the local 

community and significantly contribute to the wider health and 

wellbeing of Skelmersdale. In 2018/19 we will: 

 

 Develop scheme implementation plans. 

 Establish sustainable staffing and community support via a 
Friends of Tawd Valley Park group. 

 

Piloting volunteer engagement at Abbey Lakes 

and exploring opportunities to roll out this 

approach  

We have explored alternative ways to maintain and develop our parks 
and countryside sites for wider economic and social value whilst 
minimising the draw on Council resources. A trial project at Abbey 
Lakes in Up Holland involved volunteers from EDs Place, a community-
based organisation that provides help and support to ex-forces 
personnel. Working with the Parks and Countryside Ranger service, 
the participants gained new skills whilst upgrading the site, for 

example through tree management, drainage works, de-silting streams 
and establishing a new fishing club. Discussions are taking place with 
West Lancashire College to identify possible Land Management 
courses that would allow students to gain both academic and 
vocational qualifications, whilst helping to maintain our Countryside 
Parks. Other potential partnerships will be explored in order to 
replicate the success of Abbey Lakes. It is anticipated that this will 
commence with Tawd Valley Park.  In 2018/19 we will: 
 

 Review the Abbey lakes pilot. 

 Establish timelines for project(s)  

Facilitating the asset transfer of existing 

leisure facilities in North Meols 

We are working with key partners (Department of Health, West Lancs 
Community Leisure, North Meols Parish Council and the West Lancs 
School Sports Partnership) to identify a cost-effective delivery model 
which will facilitate the continued operation of Banks Leisure Centre. 
In 2018/19 we will: 

 Explore options for community transfer with key partners.  
• Review proposals and  business plans.  
• Reduce the Leisure Management Contract fee, if the transfer 

takes place. 
 

Delivering digital inclusion initiatives 

Our work around digital development continues to expand to meet 
both efficiency and public expectations. We are also encouraging the 
use of digital technology with those members of community who are 
less confident in this area, with the aim of increasing basic online skills 

P
age 1444



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

15 

 

and access to the internet and therefore increasing the uptake of West 
Lancashire Borough Council’s digital services. Initiatives include 
engaging with customers at customer service points to understand 
why they are using face to face contact, attending local events to 
showcase on line services and providing further support at sheltered 
housing schemes, which will help promote self-service and further 
strengthen our customer service.  In 2018/19 we will: 

 Monitor needs and attitudes of residents around their digital 
aspirations via survey. 

 Encourge and support direct uptake of online UC claims.  
 

There are other work streams also supporting this priority. Our 
financial inclusion strategy for tenants helps those affected by welfare 
reforms to sustain their tenancy and to increase their opportunities for 
employability through the Money Advice Service. We are a partner in 
the Well Skelmersdale project, a diverse collaboration across 
community, voluntary, faith, charitable, business, enterprise and 
public sectors committed to creating conditions that allow the 
community to reach its full potential by creating healthy environments 
for healthy living. Implementing the Homelessness Strategy will 
extend the range of housing advice services to meet current and 
future challenges, enhance the housing offer to all homeless 
applicants in the Borough and improve health and wellbeing. Our 
Health and Wellbeing delivery plan targets the reduction of health 
inequalities in the borough, for example through the More Positive 
Together programme directed at tenants in the most deprived areas to 
improve their health, activity levels, skills and employability. 

 

Monitoring Progress 
 

The plan projects are resourced and managed through budget and 

service action planning. They are monitored directly by the relevant 

service areas and through budget reports, service action plans, the 

corporate risk register and individual project reports to committees 

and working groups as appropriate. In addition, progress on the 

projects are reported to Members half-yearly and as an annual report. 

A set of performance indicators spanning various service areas are also 

reported quarterly to Members to help the authority understand how 

well it is performing.  

Our priorities and resulting projects are informed by working closely 

with partners and through various consultation and stakeholder 

engagement activities. We recognise that people who provide and use 

our services come from diverse backgrounds and have different 

experiences and needs. We develop, commission and deliver services 

in a way that will help overcome discrimination and disadvantage.  

 

We aim to keep the public well informed about all our services, how 

we run things and how we are working to achieve value for money. As 

well as specific consultation for particular proposed projects, we have 

a continuous customer engagement programme for housing services 

and an annual citizen and stakeholder survey. The annual survey is 

used to gather views about Council spending, better understand the 
usage and opinions of Council services, gauge community safety 

perceptions, and receive views on the Council as a whole. Public 

opinion was directly sought to inform significant projects including the 

Tawd Valley Park Project and the Open Space Study as a piece of evidence 

for the emerging West Lancashire Local Plan. During 2017/18 we also 

undertook a Meeting the Budget Challenge consultation to inform our 

approach to service reviews and balancing the budget. 

 

P
age 1445



West Lancashire Borough Council Plan 2018-21 

16 

 

 

If you require any further information, or copies of this document in 
an alternative format, please contact: 

 

Partnership & Performance, West Lancashire Borough Council,  

Elson House, 49-51 Westgate, Sandy Lane Centre, Skelmersdale, 

WN8 8LP 

transformation@westlancs.gov.uk 

01695 577177 

P
age 1446

mailto:transformation@westlancs.gov.uk


 Appendix B 

 
1 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate: Housing & Inclusion Service: Partnership & Performance 

Completed by: Alison Grimes Date: 15 January 2018 

Subject Title: Council Plan 2018/19-2020/21 

1. DESCRIPTION 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or 
revised: 

Yes 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or 
cutback: 

 
No 

Is a commissioning plan or contract 
specification being developed: 

 
No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated: No 

Is a programme or project being planned: No 

Are recommendations being presented to 
senior managers and/or Councillors: 

 
Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our 
duties under the Equality Act 2010 and Public 
Sector Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful 

discrimination/harassment, advancing equality of 
opportunity, fostering good relations): 

 
 
Yes 

Details of the matter under consideration:  
The assessment is for the Council Plan 2018/19 - 2020/21. The Council Plan reflects the Council’s vision, values 
and priorities.  
 
The Council Plan is the overarching strategy for the Council and sets the vision and priorities for the Council, 
summarising the main actions/projects to achieve this. The Plan sets well-defined priorities to be used during 
service planning and when shaping future budget decisions. The plan includes items (actions) which may 
themselves involve service design, redesign or cutback, or contract specification development, or require 
budget considerations.  
If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on 
service users, staff or Councillors 
(stakeholders): 

Yes  

If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on 
service users, staff or Councillors 
(stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

Delivery of the vision and priorities is through a 
variety of actions. Specifying priorities assists with 
managing resources. Outcomes and outputs will 
impact on a variety of customers, service users, 
communities, Councillors and employees depending 
on the action. 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2 
provide details of why there is no impact on 
these three groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this form. 

 

Page 1447



 Appendix B 

 
2 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, 
i.e. who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

Given the wide range of actions included in the 
Plan, there is unlikely to be a disproportionate 
effect on any single group with protected 
characteristics, or on any stakeholder group.  The 
plan directly or indirectly impacts on all Council 
services and therefore all who work for the Council, 
those who use Council services or engage with the 
Council. Any actions that may impact upon equality 
groups should be subject to an individual EIA by the 
relevant service.  

If the work being carried out relates to a 
universal service, who needs or uses it most? 
(Is there any particular group affected more 
than others)?  

As above. 
 
The current wide-range of actions included in the 
whole plan across many service areas means that 
there is unlikely to be a ‘most relevant’ protected 
characteristics affected, or any particular group 
affected more than others. This may change with 
content in the lifetime of the plan. 

Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 

Age No 

Gender No 

Disability No 

Race and Culture No 

Sexual Orientation No 

Religion or Belief No 

Gender Reassignment No 

Marriage and Civil Partnership No 

Pregnancy and Maternity No 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 

The plan applies borough-wide and beyond. Given 
the wide range of actions included, the work 
detailed in the plan will therefore likely impact on a 
variety of stakeholders in different ways. 

What will the impact of the work being carried 
out be on usage/the stakeholders? 

By having a clear statement of priorities through 
the Plan, attention and resources can be 
effectively focussed on achieving the Council's 

core objectives. The overall impact should be 
positive since the priorities of the plan aim for a 
positive impact on the borough. Negative impact 

will be mitigated through individual EIAs by the 
relevant service.  

What are people’s views about the services?  
Are some customers more satisfied than others, 
and if so what are the reasons?  Can these be 
affected by the proposals? 

Council priorities are informed by the 
Citizen/Stakeholder Survey which gathers views on 
a range of issues including the Council’s budget. The 
survey results assist the Council in making plans to 
deliver services and make efficiency improvements.  
 

Page 1448



 Appendix B 

 
3 

The most recent survey results are from the survey 
conducted in March 2017. Results from the 
Citizen/Stakeholder Survey provide information 
about satisfaction with certain Council services and 
these can be broken down into protected 
characteristics (other than beliefs, culture, 
marriage/ partnership, pregnancy/ maternity).  The 
reason for levels of satisfaction is not explored.  
 
Responses to the Policy Options consultation (July-
September 2017) also provided a wide range of 
views on the impact the policy options would have 
on Council services and around the financial 
constraints that the Council works within.  

What sources of data including consultation 
results have you used to analyse the impact of 
the work being carried out on 
users/stakeholders with protected 
characteristics? 

As above. Individual projects that may impact upon 
equality groups should be the subject of EIAs 
themselves by the relevant service with 
involvement/consultation as appropriate.   

If any further data/consultation is needed and is 
to be gathered, please specify:  

As above. 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people 
with particular protected characteristics (either 
positively or negatively or in terms of 
disproportionate impact)? 

Outlining the Council’s priorities should provide 
reassurance that resources are being carefully 
managed. There is unlikely to be a disproportionate 
effect on any single group with protected 
characteristics, or on any stakeholder group.  The 
plan can be provided in alternative formats on 
request. Impacts of changes resulting from 
individual actions will be dealt with by the relevant 
service. 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or 
desirable to take actions to reduce the impact, 
explain why this is the case (e.g. legislative or 
financial drivers etc.). 

Any initiatives within the plan that may impact upon 
equality groups should be subject to an individual 
EIA by the relevant service.  

What actions do you plan to take to address 
any other issues above?  

No actions. 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and 
who will review it? 

The assessment will be reviewed as part of the 
Council Plan annual refresh process. This will 
include review by the senior management team.   

 
 

 
 

Page 1449





 

 
 

 
CABINET: 13- MARCH 2018 
 
 

 
Report of: Director Development and Regeneration  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran 
 
Contact for further information: Mr Ian Gill (Extn. 5094)  
    (E-mail: ian.gill@westlancs.gov.uk) 
                                                      Mr Colin Brady (Extn. 5125) 
                                                      (E-mail: colin.brady@westlancs.gov.uk) 
   

 
SUBJECT:  ORMSKIRK NIGHT MARKETS AND TOWN CENTRE EVENTS 
 

 
Wards affected: Ormskirk Wards (Derby, Knowsley and Scott)  
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek a way forward to facilitate the successful implementation of a series 

of night markets and other events in Ormskirk Town Centre in conjunction 
with the Ormskirk Business Action Group and other appropriate 
community/business organisations. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That the Director of Development and Regeneration, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder, be authorised to submit an application for a Premises 
Licence under the Licensing Act 2003 and to authorise regulated 
entertainment and sale of alcohol which would enable the night markets and 
other themed events in Ormskirk Town Centre to proceed. 

 
2.2 That the Director of Development and Regeneration be authorised to develop 

a code of conduct under which any night market or other event must operate 
for agreement with the organising body and to review these as appropriate. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1451

Agenda Item 7i

mailto:ian.gill@westlancs.gov.uk
mailto:colin.brady@westlancs.gov.uk


3.0 BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 Recent national studies have emphasised how town centres are changing and 
that leisure activities and events are key to driving forward town centre footfall. 

3.2 The Ormskirk Town Centre Strategy recognised that the development of an 
events calendar was important and a key action was to work with partners to 
develop and promote events.  This was reinforced by the further work 
undertaken by Thinking Place, place specialists. Thinking Place found in their 
street surveys research that a lack of events was one of Ormskirk's 
challenges with a key feeling that Ormskirk needed such events to improve its 
vibrancy.  Alongside the need for events their research also suggested adding 
a variety of markets to the towns offer. This was the key finding from residents 
and students, however even when taking on board external perceptions, they 
also noted they would want to see more events. 

3.3 The recent Ormskirk BID research, whilst targeted solely at businesses, 
showed that 82% of respondents found events important to their business, 
with 61% stating it was very important.  

 
3.4 In 2017 the Council was approached by Ormskirk Business Action who 

wished to trial a 'night market' in the town centre. The intention was to use 
local businesses as far as possible to sell food and drink to create a vibrant 
event in the town centre. 

 
3.5 Two night market events were trialled, one on a Friday and one on a Saturday 

evening.  These ran from approximately 5.30pm to 9pm.  Both were mainly 
run by the Ormskirk Business Action Group, although advice and assistance 
was given by Council Officers as part of our partnership role. The first event 
held on a Saturday was extremely successful although some difficulties were 
experienced due to the existing market having to be taken down before the 
'night market' could be set up.  The second night market was trialled on a 
Friday evening to avoid this difficulty, and was still very successful despite a 
train strike on that day. 

 
3.6 Businesses reported that not only was the night market very successful in its 

own right, but the town centre was very busy after the night market finished 
and it was very good for town centre trade. 

 
3.7 The night market sold alcohol under a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) issued 

under the Licensing Act 2003 (the Act), which proved to cause some issues 
due to the difficulties in controlling the number of attendees in the licensed 
area that are required by a TEN.  There were also some issues in terms of 
litter clearance and disposal of waste. Accordingly, Officers asked that no 
more markets be held whilst these licensing and operational issues were 
resolved. 

 
3.8 There were no public disorder issues relating to the two trial night markets 

and this was helped by the fact that they ended at 9pm. 
 

Page 1452



3.9 At the Council meeting on 18th October 2017 the efforts of local businesses in 
holding the night markets were recognised and it was agreed that a letter of 
thanks be sent to businesses and that officers support the initiative in any way 
possible within available resources. 

 
 
4.0  CURRENT POSITION 
 
4.1 Discussions have taken place with the Council's Commercial, Safety and 

Licensing Manager and Ormskirk Business Action to find the most suitable 
way forward.  It would appear that the best solution is for the Director of 
Development and Regeneration to hold a Premises Licence (issued under the 
Act) to authorise both the sale of alcohol and the provision of regulated 
entertainment within a certain area of the Town Centre.  This would give the 
Council control over events in the Town Centre. The hours permitted by the 
licence can be different for the sale of alcohol than for entertainment, which 
would also allow greater flexibility depending upon the nature of the proposed 
event. This would need to be based upon restrictions in terms of hours of 
operation, but further restrictions may be placed upon the night market 
operator. For example, whilst a licence could cover Monday - Thursday 5pm -
9.30pm and Friday - Sunday 12.00noon - 9.30pm, the Council may impose 
further restrictions on a night market event if it saw fit (for example, Fridays 
5pm – 9pm), but the Council would maintain the flexibility under the licence.  It 
would also give the Council, or other operators, the ability to hold further 
events if so desired, but any other operators would have to operate under a 
code of conduct developed by the Council. A Premises Licence that covered 
the town centre area would also will be useful for other events such as the 
Christmas lights switch on. 

 
4.2 Ormskirk Business Action (or specially constituted committee of businesses 

and the Council) would run the night market event. In order for alcohol sales 
to take place, the Premises Licence must state the name of the Designated 
Premises Supervisor (DPS). Under the Act, the DPS must hold a Personal 
Licence (also issued under the Act) and be the person in operational control 
of a premises or an event. It is proposed that a representative from Ormskirk 
Business Action would be the DPS, but who would then need to conform to 
the restrictions of the licence and any other stipulations that the Council 
wished to place on the event. This would be stated in the code of conduct that 
would include times of operation, food hygiene and health and safety 
requirements, street trading consents for stallholders, street cleansing etc. 

 
4.3 A DPS is not required where the Premises Licence solely authorises 

entertainment, it is only for alcohol sales that a DPS must be stipulated. The 
Premises Licence can only stipulate one DPS at a time, but this can be 
changed through a formal application prior to a given event, and with the 
aforementioned consent of the Council under the proposed code of conduct. 

 
 
 

Page 1453



4.4 Any direct costs incurred by the Council in connection with the running of 
these events would need to be covered by the charges to stallholders. 

 
 
5.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
5.1 Authority is being sought to obtain the necessary delegations for the Director 

of Development and Regeneration to submit an application for a Premises 
Licence. If granted, the Premises Licence would authorise the sale of alcohol 
and the provision of regulated entertainment to enable night market and other 
such events to take place in Ormskirk town centre.   

 
5.2 This process will involve further liaison with the Council's Commercial, Safety 

and Licensing Manager, Legal Services and the Police to develop a draft 
Premises Licence application, which would be presented to the Council's Multi 
Agency Licensing Team for further comment. However, once the application is 
finalised and submitted, it will be important to demonstrate transparency and 
an absence of bias in the determination of the application. The application 
would be determined by the Council's Licensing Service in accordance with 
existing procedures prescribed by the Act. This requires that the application 
be subject to public consultation and could include determination by the 
Council's Licensing and Gambling Committee (or Sub-Committee thereof) if 
representations against the grant of the licence were received.  

 
5.3 Officers are also looking at the potential use of Street Trading Consents to 

regularise the conditions under which it possible for businesses to trade on 
the town centre streets. 

 
5.4 Officers will work with Ormskirk Business Action to take forward a series of 

Night Markets and monitor their success. 
  
 
6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 A series of events will enhance Ormskirk's offer and make the town centre a 

more vibrant place.  Controls will need to be put in place to ensure that crime 
and disorder implications, public nuisance and public safety are considered 
and controlled. 

 
 
7.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no significant financial or resource implications arising from this 

report.  Any direct Council costs will need to be covered by the receipts from 
the night markets. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1454



8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 Under the proposals contained in this report, the Council would be ultimately 
and legally responsible for any activities provided under the Premises 
Licence, but would seek to obviate any risk posed by an event through the 
stipulations placed on the DPS and/or event organiser under a code of 
conduct. 

 
8.2 Accordingly, given that there would be alcohol sold on the street, events will 

need to be strictly controlled in terms of hours of operation, safety and security 
etc. Organisers will need to abide by a code of conduct which will specify the 
criteria under which any event will operate, and this can be reviewed as 
necessary.  Given the night markets are only operating in the early evening 
and will be aimed at the family market, they are not considered to pose a high 
risk.  The two trial events in 2017 passed without incident.  Officers will, 
however, liaise with the Police, and other partners as appropriate, to ensure 
that events are appropriately managed. 

 
 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 
 
None 

Page 1455





 

 
 

 
 
CABINET:  13 MARCH 2018 

 

 
Report of: Director of Housing and Inclusion  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor J. Forshaw 
                
Contact for further information: Mr W. Berkley (Extn. 5259)  

(E-mail: william.berkley@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  PROPERTY COMPLIANCE POLICIES 
 

 
Wards affected: All 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To present policies in relation to the main five areas of property compliance. 
 
1.2 To seek cabinet approval of the policies for implementation. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That the policies set out at Appendices A to E be approved. 
 
2.2 That the Director of Housing and Inclusion be given delegated authority to make 

minor amendments to the policies in line with any legislative changes in the 
future. 

 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Following a procurement exercise, Pennington Choices were recently appointed 

to assist Property Services with the development of policies with a view to 
achieving compliance best practice.  

 
3.2 The review identified some policy improvement areas relating to areas of 

property compliance so we have now used this opportunity to ensure that we set 
high standards in delivering our health and safety obligations. 

 
 
  

Page 1457

Agenda Item 7j

mailto:william.berkley@westlancs.gov.uk


4.0 CURRENT POSITION 
 
4.1 Five new policies have now been developed which are included as Appendices A 

to E of this report.  
 
4.2 The policies detail regulatory standards, legislation, codes of practice and legal 

obligations. In addition they detail how the Council proposes to address these 
areas with a view to achieving best practice, this includes inspection 
programmes, key roles and responsibilities and how performance will be 
monitored / reported. 

 
 
5.0  FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The costs relating to implementing the policies will be met from existing 

established budgets. 
 
 
6.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 The Council has a legal duty to ensure that properties it manages are safe and 

comply with all applicable statutory requirements. The policies this report seeks 
to approve set out these responsibilities and how the Council will be working to 
achieve compliance best practice. Cabinet approval of the policies would be 
taking a top down approach to compliance management, set clear expectations 
and ensure accountability throughout the organisation. Failure to adopt clear 
policies could result in ambiguity and compliance failures, potentially putting 
tenants and residents at risk. 

  

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and / 
or stakeholders, therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required.  A formal equality 
impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report, the results of which have 
been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Gas Safety Policy 
Appendix B - Electrical Safety Policy 
Appendix C - Asbestos Policy 
Appendix D - Fire Safety Policy 
Appendix E - Water Hygiene Policy 
Appendix F - Equality Impact Assessment  
 

Page 1458



  Page 1 of 10 

Appendix A 

Gas Safety Policy 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2 Scope................................................................................................................. 2 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice ................................. 3 

4 Additional Legislation ......................................................................................... 3 

5 Obligations ......................................................................................................... 4 

6 Statement of Intent ............................................................................................ 5 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes ........................ 6 

8 Compliance Follow up Work .............................................................................. 7 

9 Record Keeping ................................................................................................. 8 

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities .......................................................................... 8 

11 Competent Persons ........................................................................................... 9 

12 Training .............................................................................................................. 9 

13 Performance Reporting .................................................................................... 10 

14 Non-Compliance .............................................................................................. 10 

 

Page 1459



  Page 2 of 10 

1 Introduction 

1.1 West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) owns and manages approximately 
6,000 council homes and other public and commercial buildings. 

1.2 Council and Cabinet develop and set Corporate strategy.  Directors/Heads of 
Service are responsible for implementing the strategy including observing 
relevant compliance requirements impacting their services.  The most senior 
management team of the Council provides a forum for consideration of both 
development and delivery of strategy.   

1.3 WLBC is responsible for the maintenance and repairs to its 6,000 homes and 
other buildings, many of which will contain gas installations and appliances. 
The Gas (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 specifically deal with the 
installation, maintenance and use of gas appliances, fittings and flues in 
domestic properties and certain commercial premises.  The regulations also 
place a legal duty on landlords to ensure that gas appliances, fittings and flues 
provided for tenants’ use are safe. 

1.4 WLBC is also responsible for maintaining other types of heating systems to 
ensure that all appliances, fittings and flues provided for tenants’ use are safe.  
These may include oil fired, solid fuel, biomass, air source and other types of 
heating systems. 

2 Scope  

2.1 WLBC must establish a policy which meets the requirements of the Gas Safety 
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998.  In addition to this, the policy must 
provide assurance to WLBC that measures are in place to ensure compliance 
with these regulations and to identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated 
with gas fittings, appliances and flues.   

2.2 WLBC must ensure compliance with gas safety legislation is formally reported 
at Cabinet level, including the details of any non-compliance and planned 
corrective actions. 

2.3 The policy is relevant to all WLBC employees, tenants, contractors and other 
persons or other stakeholders who may work on, occupy, visit, or use its 
premises, or who may be affected by its activities or services.   

2.4 It should be used by all to ensure they understand the obligations placed upon 
WLBC to maintain a safe environment for tenants and employees within the 
home of each tenant and within all non-residential premises or areas of 
buildings.   

2.5 The policy is also relevant for maintaining a safe environment for all tenants 
and employees within all WLBC non-domestic properties. 

 

Page 1460



  Page 3 of 10 

2.6 Where legal obligations relating to this area of compliance have been 
transferred to a tenant/leaseholder (e.g. Commercial Lets). The appropriate 
Director will endeavour to ensure that tenants/leaseholders are complying with 
the terms of the lease and their statutory obligations. 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice 

3.1 Regulatory Standards - the application of this policy will ensure compliance 
with the regulatory framework and consumer standards (Home Standard) for 
social housing in England. 

3.2 Legislation - the principal legislation applicable to this policy is The Gas Safety 
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 (as amended).  WLBC has a legal 
obligation under Part F, Regulation 36 of the legislation (Duties of Landlords) 
and is the ‘Landlord’ for the purposes of the legislation.   

3.3 Code of Practice – the principal codes of practice applicable to this policy are 
as follows: 

3.3.1 ACoP L56 - ‘Safety in the installation and use of gas systems and appliances’ 
(4th edition 2013). 

3.3.2 INDG285 - ‘A guide to landlords’ duties: Gas Safety (Installation and Use) 
Regulations 1998’. 

3.4 Sanctions - WLBC acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities in 
accordance with the regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice and 
that failure to discharge these responsibilities properly could lead to a range of 
sanctions including prosecution by the Health & Safety Executive under the 
Health & Safety at Work Act 1974, prosecution under the Corporate 
Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 and via a serious detriment 
judgement from Homes England. 

3.5 Tenants - WLBC will use the legal remedies available within the terms of 
the tenancy agreement, lease or licence should any tenant refuse access 
to carry out essential gas safety checks, maintenance and safety related 
repair works.   

3.6 In exceptional cases and where it is clearly identified that wider welfare risks 
exist to others, the organisation will consider the use of forced entry to 
safeguard against the risk.  The Director of Housing and Inclusion will approve 
any such cases.   

4 Additional Legislation  

4.1 This gas safety policy also operates in the context of legislation including the 
following legislation: 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 

Page 1461



  Page 4 of 10 

 The Workplace (Health Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 

 Gas Safety (Management) Regulations 1996 (as amended) 

 Dangerous Substances and Explosive Atmospheres Regulations 2002 

 Pressure Systems Safety Regulations 2000 

 Pipelines Safety Regulations 1996 

 Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996 

 Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 

 Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 

 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 

 Data Protection Act 1998 

 RIDDOR 2013 

5 Obligations 

5.1 The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 impose duties on 
landlords to protect tenants’ safety in their homes with respect to gas safety. 
The main duties as a landlord are set out in Regulation 36 requiring landlords 
to: 

 Ensure gas fittings and flues are maintained in a safe condition.  Gas 
appliances should be serviced in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instructions.  If these are not available it is recommended that they are 
serviced annually unless advised otherwise by a Gas Safe registered 
engineer 

 Ensure the annual safety check is carried out on each gas appliance and 
flue within 12 months of the previous safety check  

 Have all installation, maintenance and safety checks carried out by a Gas 
Safe registered engineer 

 Keep a record of each safety check for at least 2 (two) years 
 Issue a copy of the latest safety check record to existing tenants within 28 

days of the check being completed, or to any new tenant when they move 
in  

 Display a copy of the latest safety check record in a common area of a 
building where the gas appliance serves a communal heating system to 
multiple homes. 

5.2 In addition, landlords must ensure that no gas fitting of a type that would 
contravene Regulation 30 (e.g. certain gas fires and instantaneous water 
heaters) is fitted in any room occupied or to be occupied as sleeping 
accommodation after the Regulations came into force.  This includes any room 
converted into such accommodation after that time. 

 

Page 1462



  Page 5 of 10 

6 Statement of Intent 

6.1 WLBC acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities under the Gas Safety 
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998. 

6.2 WLBC will hold accurate records against each property it owns or manages 
setting out the requirements for gas safety checks and servicing of all gas 
fittings, appliances and flues. 

6.3 WLBC will periodically (not more than intervals of 5 years) commission an 
independent external asset data review to ensure adequate assurance is 
provided that gas supply data held against the organisation’s property assets is 
accurate and up to date.   

6.4 WLBC will ensure that each property requiring a gas safety check and/or 
service will have a landlords’ gas safety record (LGSR) that has a completion 
date not more than 12 months following the completion date of the previous 
LGSR relating to the property or installation date of new installations. 

6.5 WLBC will ensure that copies of all LGSRs are provided to tenants within 28 
days of completion or displayed in a common area where necessary upon 
completion of the LGSR. 

6.6 WLBC will cap off gas supplies to all properties when the property becomes 
void and a new tenant is not moving in immediately following the previous 
tenant leaving. 

6.7 WLBC will cap off gas supplies to all new build properties at handover if the 
new tenancy is not commencing immediately at the point of handover. 

6.8 WLBC will reinstate gas supplies to void properties and new build properties at 
commencement of the new tenancy and will undertake a gas safety check and 
issue a new LGSR. 

6.9 WLBC will ensure that gas safety checks are carried out prior to, or 
immediately following the commencement of any new tenancy (void 
properties), mutual exchange and/or transfer and that the tenant receives a 
copy of the LGSR prior to, or immediately after moving in.  

6.10 WLBC will test and replace as necessary hard wired smoke alarms as part of 
the annual gas safety check visit.  This may include replacement with battery 
operated smoke alarms. 

6.11 WLBC will supply carbon monoxide detectors to all homes through a planned 
programme in 2018-19. 

6.12 WLBC will carry out an annual gas safety check to all properties where the gas 
supply is inactive (capped) at the request of the tenant. This is to ensure that 
gas supplies have not been reconnected by the tenant. 

Page 1463



  Page 6 of 10 

6.13 WLBC will carry out annual assessments of properties where tenants have 
chosen for personal reasons not to use the gas supply in the property. This is 
to check on the tenant’s wellbeing and also to assess that the lack of gas 
heating is not adversely affecting the condition of the property. 

6.14 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent Gas Safe accredited engineers 
undertake gas works for the organisation. 

6.15 WLBC will remove any open flue gas appliances found in any rooms that are 
being used as bedrooms. 

6.16 WLBC will carry out a gas safety check and issue a new LGSR for the whole 
property following the installation of new gas appliances. 

6.17 WLBC will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to manage 
works to void and occupied properties that may affect existing gas installations. 

6.18 WLBC will have a robust process in place to gain access to properties where 
tenant vulnerability issues are known or identified whilst ensuring the 
organisation can gain timely access to any property in order to be compliant 
with this policy and safeguard the wellbeing of the tenant.   

6.19 WLBC will establish and maintain a plan of all continuous improvement activity 
undertaken with regards to gas safety. 

6.20 WLBC will ensure that where applicable all solid fuel, chimney stacks, oiled fire 
appliances and flues are inspected and maintained at least annually and that 
this work is completed by a suitably competent engineer. 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes 

7.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a risk assessment for gas safety operations.  
This risk assessment will set out all of the organisations’ key gas safety risks 
together with appropriate mitigations.  

7.2 To comply with the requirements of the Construction, Design and Management 
Regulations 2015 (CDM) a Construction Phase Plan will be completed for all 
void works (at the start of the contract and annually thereafter), component 
replacement works and refurbishment projects.  This plan will detail any gas 
installations that may be affected by the works and detail all necessary gas 
work required to make safe and reinstate gas installations including the 
requirement for a new gas safety check, maintenance service and LGSR. 

7.3 WLBC will carry out a programme of annual gas safety checks and services to 
all its domestic properties. This check will include all gas fittings, appliances 
and flues in the property and will be completed 12 months from the date of the 
previous LGSR. This safety check is driven from the anniversary date of the 
most recent LGSR which may have been carried out at the start of a new 
tenancy or following installation of new gas appliances. 

Page 1464



  Page 7 of 10 

7.4 WLBC will ensure robust management processes are in place to take 
advantage of proposed changes to Part F, Regulation 36 (3) of the Gas 
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 that will provide landlords with some 
flexibility around the anniversary date of LGSRs. The proposal is that if a new 
gas safety check is completed within 10 months and 1 day of the previous 
safety check then the new LGSR can be dated as the 12-month anniversary 
date of the previous LGSR. This is likely to come into effect in April 2018 
subject to the changes coming into force. 

7.5 WLBC will carry out a programme of annual gas safety checks and services to 
all non-domestic, public and commercial properties (where it has the legal 
obligation to do so). These checks will include all gas fittings, appliances and 
flues in the property and will be completed no longer than 12 months from the 
date of the previous LGSR, these safety checks and maintenance services will 
be carried out by a suitably competent engineer. These installations may 
include catering equipment, boilers serving communal heating systems, 
combined heat and power systems and water heating boilers. 

7.6 WLBC will carry out where applicable a programme of annual safety checks 
and services to all oil fired and solid fuel systems.  This check will include all 
fittings, appliances and flues in the property in accordance with all relevant 
British Standards and will be completed no longer than 12 months from the 
date of the previous safety check / service.  These safety checks and 
maintenance services will be carried out by a suitably competent engineer.  

8 Compliance Follow up Work 

8.1 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place for the management of any 
follow-up works required following the completion of a gas, oil or solid fuel 
safety check. 

8.2 WLBC will ensure that there is a robust process in place to collate and store all 
warning notices and associated records of completed remedial works.  

8.3 WLBC will replace any faulty hard wired smoke alarms and carbon monoxide 
detectors (once these have been fitted during 2018-19) in a property where 
faults are identified as part of the annual safety check.  

8.4 A safety check will be carried out on completion of any repair and/or 
refurbishment works to occupied or void properties where works may have 
affected any gas fittings, appliances or flues.  

8.5 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place to investigate and manage 
all RIDDOR notices issued with regard to gas safety. 

 

Page 1465



  Page 8 of 10 

9 Record Keeping 

9.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a core asset register of all properties that 
have an active or inactive gas supply.  This register will also hold data against 
each property asset of gas, oil and solid fuel inspection and servicing 
requirements, where applicable, for all domestic and non-domestic property 
assets. 

9.2 WLBC will ensure the Gas Safe registered engineer records the details of all 
appliances and other equipment which is served by the gas supply in every 
domestic and non-domestic property. 

9.3 WLBC will establish and maintain accurate records of all completed safety 
records, warning notices and associated remedial works and keep these for a 
period of not less than two years.  

9.4 WLBC will hold and maintain accurate records on the qualifications of all 
engineers undertaking gas works for the organisation.  

9.5 WLBC will ensure robust processes and controls are in place to provide and 
maintain appropriate levels of security for all gas safety related data.  

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities 

10.1 WLBC Cabinet will have overall governance responsibility for ensuring the gas 
policy is fully implemented to ensure full compliance with the regulatory 
standards, legislation and codes of practice.  As such the Cabinet will formally 
approve this policy and review should there be a material change in regulation, 
legislation or codes of practice). 

10.2 The Cabinet will receive regular updates on gas safety performance along with 
notification of any non-compliance issue which is identified. This is so they 
have assurance that the policy is operating effectively in practice. 

10.3 The Council's most senior officer team will receive reports in respect of gas 
management performance and ensure compliance is being achieved.  They will 
also be notified of any non-compliance issue identified. 

10.4 The Director of Housing and Inclusion has strategic responsibility for the 
management of gas safety and ensuring compliance is achieved and 
maintained. The Property Services Manager and Deputy Property Services 
Manager will oversee the implementation of the gas safety policy.  

10.5 The Property Services Manager and Deputy Property Services Manager will be 
responsible for overseeing the delivery of the gas servicing and safety check 
programmes; completion of any works arising from gas safety checks or 
reported by tenants and the maintenance of sufficient records in respect of 
works completed to gas appliances, fittings and flues. 

Page 1466



  Page 9 of 10 

10.6 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will provide key support in gaining 
access into properties where access is proving difficult and use standard 
methods to do so. They will also facilitate the legal process to gain access as 
necessary.   

11 Competent Persons 

11.1 WLBC will ensure that the manager with lead responsibility for operational 
delivery is appropriately qualified; holding a recognised gas safety 
management qualification.  In addition to this they should have or be working 
towards gaining the CORGI Level 4 VRQ in Gas Safety Management and full 
membership of the Association of Gas Safety Managers.  If they do not have 
these already, they should obtain them within 12 months of the approval of this 
policy 

11.2 WLBC will ensure that all operatives (internal or external contractors) maintain 
Gas Safe accreditation for all areas of gas works that they undertake. The 
operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the relevant 
accreditations for the work that they are carrying out. These checks will be 
undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

11.3 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent Accredited Certification Scheme 
(ACS) gas accredited engineers are employed by the organisation to undertake 
works to gas fittings, appliances and flues. The operational team with 
responsibility for delivery will check the relevant qualifications of employees 
working for WLBC to ensure that all persons are appropriately qualified and 
accredited for the work that they are carrying out.  These checks will be 
undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

11.4 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent Gas Safe accredited contractors 
are procured and appointed to undertake works to gas fittings, appliances and 
flues. The operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the 
relevant qualifications of employees working for these contractors to ensure 
that all persons are appropriately qualified and accredited for the work that they 
are carrying out. These checks will be undertaken on an annual basis and 
evidenced appropriately. 

11.5 WLBC will ensure that where applicable, only suitably competent Oil Firing 
Technical Association (OFTEC) and/or accredited contractors are procured 
and appointed to undertake works to oil fired and solid fuel fittings, appliances 
and flues.  The operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the 
relevant qualifications of employees working for these contractors to ensure 
that all persons are appropriately qualified and accredited for the work that they 
are carrying out. These checks will be undertaken on an annual basis and 
evidenced appropriately. 

12 Training  

Page 1467



  Page 10 of 10 

12.1 This policy and the procedures that support it will be subject to a range of 
training across WLBC and will involve all relevant stakeholders.  The training 
will be bespoke to the individual stakeholders and refresher training will be 
provided as appropriate. 

12.2 Training will include team briefings for those employees who need to have a 
basic understanding and awareness of gas safety but who may not be actively 
involved in the delivery of the gas safety policy.  This will be basic gas safety 
awareness training and will be covered in team meetings.   

12.3 On the job training will be provided to those employees who will be responsible 
for managing the programme of gas safety checks and repair works to gas 
fittings, appliances and flues as part of their daily job.  The manager(s) with 
lead responsibility for operational delivery will hold the CORGI Level 4 VRQ in 
Gas Safety Management and will ideally be a full member of the Association of 
Gas Safety Managers (AGSM).  WLBC will fund training as necessary so they 
gain this qualification and membership. This will happen within 12 months of 
approval of this policy.   

12.4 Regular tool box talks will be given to operatives in the form of appropriate gas 
safety training.  WLBC’s partner contractors will be expected to do this with 
their operatives and evidence this to WLBC on request. 

12.5 Briefings will be provided to those employees involved in the monitoring of 
compliance performance in relation to gas safety.   

13 Performance Reporting 

13.1 Robust key performance indicator (KPI) measures will be established and 
maintained to ensure WLBC is able to report on performance in relation to gas 
safety.   

13.2 KPI measures will be produced and provided at the Council's most senior 
management team level on a regular basis and at Cabinet level within the 
performance suite of KPI's.  These KPI measures will include reporting on:  

13.2.1 The number (and percentage) of properties with a valid LGSR for all homes 

and buildings owned or managed by WLBC which require one. 

13.3 WLBC will carry out independent third party quality assurance audits of gas 
safety checks, gas appliance services and gas appliance repair works as 
required by the WLBC gas safety compliance risk assessment.  Best practice 
suggests this should be a 5% sample of the total gas safety works carried out.   

13.4 WLBC will carry out an independent audit of gas safety at least once every five 
years.  This audit will specifically test for compliance with the regulation, 
legislation and codes of practice and identify any non-compliance issues for 
correction. 

14 Non-Compliance 

Page 1468



  Page 11 of 10 

14.1 Any non-compliance issue identified at an operational level will be formally 
reported to the Director of Housing and Inclusion in the first instance. 

14.2 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will agree an appropriate course of 
corrective action with the operational team in order to address the non-
compliance issue and report details of the same to the Council's most senior 
management team. 

14.3 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will ensure the Cabinet are made aware 
of any non-compliance issue so they can consider the implications and take 
action as appropriate. 

14.4 In cases of any serious non-compliance issues the Director of Housing and 
Inclusion and the relevant Portfolio Holder will consider whether it is necessary 
to disclose the issue to Homes England in the spirit of co-regulation as part of 
the Regulatory Framework.    

 

Page 1469





  Page 1 of 10 

Appendix B 

Electrical Safety Policy 

 

  
Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2 Scope................................................................................................................. 2 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice ................................. 3 

4 Additional Legislation ......................................................................................... 3 

5 Obligations ......................................................................................................... 4 

6 Statement of Intent ............................................................................................ 5 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes ........................ 6 

8 Compliance Follow up Work .............................................................................. 7 

9 Record Keeping ................................................................................................. 7 

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities .......................................................................... 8 

11 Competent Persons ........................................................................................... 9 

12 Training .............................................................................................................. 9 

13 Performance Reporting .................................................................................... 10 

14 Non-Compliance .............................................................................................. 10 

 

Page 1471



  Page 2 of 10 

1 Introduction 

1.1 West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) owns and manages approximately 
6,000 council homes and other public and commercial buildings. 

1.2 Council and Cabinet develop and set Corporate strategy.  Directors/Heads of 
Service are responsible for implementing the strategy including observing 
relevant compliance requirements impacting their services.  The most senior 
management team of the Council provides a forum for consideration of both 
development and delivery of strategy.   

1.3 WLBC is responsible for the maintenance and repairs to its 6,000 and other 
buildings, all of which will contain electrical installations and appliances.  The 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 and the Housing Act 2004 place duties on 
landlords to ensure that these electrical installations are safe at the start of any 
tenancy and are maintained in a safe condition throughout the tenancy. 

1.4 WLBC is also responsible for maintaining electrical installations and equipment 
including communal parts of domestic premises in addition to non-domestic 
buildings and offices. 

2 Scope  

2.1 WLBC must establish a policy which meets the requirements for electrical 
safety under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, the Housing Act 2004, the 
Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 and the Electrical Equipment (Safety) 
Regulations 1994.  In addition to this the Policy must provide assurance to 
WLBC that measures are in place to ensure compliance with these regulations 
and to identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated with electrical 
installations and electrical portable appliances. 

2.2 WLBC will also ensure compliance with electrical safety legislation is formally 
reported at CMT and Cabinet level, including the details of any non-compliance 
and planned corrective actions. 

2.3 The policy is relevant to all WLBC employees, tenants, contractors and other 
persons or other stakeholders who may work on, occupy, visit, or use its 
premises, or who may be affected by its activities or services.  Where legal 
obligations relating to this area of compliance have been transferred to a 
tenant/leaseholder (e.g. Commercial Lets). The appropriate Director will 
endeavour to ensure that tenants/leaseholders are complying with the terms of 
the lease and their statutory obligations. 

2.4 It should be used by all to ensure they understand the obligations placed upon 
WLBC to maintain a safe environment for tenants and employees within the 
home of each tenant including communal parts of domestic premises. 

 

 

  

Page 1472



  Page 3 of 10 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice 

3.1 Regulatory Standards - the application of this policy will ensure compliance 
with the regulatory framework and consumer standards (Home Standard) for 
social housing in England. 

3.2 Legislation - the principal legislation applicable to this policy is the Landlord 
and Tenant Act 1985; the Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 and the 
Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994.  Section 8 of the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1985 sets out implied terms as to fitness for human habitation and 
Section 11 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 places repairing obligations in 
short leases.  The Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 places duties on 
employers to ensure that all electrical equipment used within the workplace is 
safe to use.  The Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994 requires 
Landlords to ensure that any appliances provided as part of a tenancy are safe 
when first supplied.   

3.3 Code of Practice – the principle codes of practice applicable to this policy are: 

3.3.1 IET Wiring Regulations British Standard 7671: 2008 (as amended 2015) 

3.3.2 The Code of Practice for In-Service Inspection and Testing of Electrical 
Equipment (ISITEE) 

3.3.3 HSE INDG236: ‘Maintaining portable electrical equipment in offices and other 
low risk environments’  

3.3.4 Electrical Safety Council: ‘Landlords’ Guide to Electrical Safety 2009’. 

3.3.5 Sanctions – WLBC acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities in 
accordance with the regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice and 
that failure to discharge these responsibilities properly could lead to a range of 
sanctions including prosecution by the Health & Safety Executive under the 
Health & Safety at Work Act 1974, prosecution under the Corporate 
Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 and  a serious detriment 
judgement from the regulator Homes England. 

3.3.6 Tenants – WLBC will use the legal remedies available within the terms of the 
tenancy agreement, lease or licence should any tenant refuse access to carry 
out essential electrical safety checks, maintenance and safety related repair 
works.   

4 Additional Legislation  

4.1 This electrical safety policy also operates in the context of the following 
additional legislation: 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 

 The Workplace (Health Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 

Page 1473



  Page 4 of 10 

 Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 
2006 

 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

 The Building Regulations for England and Wales (Part P) 

 The Housing Act 2004 

 The Occupiers’ Liability Act 1984 

 Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996 

 Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998 

 Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 

 The Building Regulations for England and Wales 2005 (Part P) 

 Data Protection Act 1998 

 RIDDOR 2013 

5 Obligations 

5.1 The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 places duties on landlords to ensure that 
electrical installations in rented properties are: 

 
 Safe when a tenancy begins, Section 8 (1a) 
 Maintained in a safe condition throughout the tenancy, Section 11 (1b) 

5.2 In order to be compliant under these duties electrical installations are required 
to be periodically inspected and tested. The intervals between inspections are 
not absolutely set within any regulations, however, best practice guidance from 
the Electrical Safety Council and from BS7671:2008 states that electrical 
installations should be tested at intervals of no longer than 5 years from the 
previous inspection. Any deviation from these intervals should be at the 
recommendation of a competent NICEIC qualified (or equivalent) person and 
should be backed up by sound engineering evidence to support the 
recommendation.   

5.3 All electrical installations should be inspected and tested prior to the 
commencement of any new tenancies (void properties), mutual exchanges and 
transfers and a satisfactory Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICR) 
should be issued to the tenant prior to them moving in.  

5.4 The Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 places duties on employers that all 
electrical installations and appliances within the workplace are safe and that 
only competent persons work on the electrical installations, systems and 
equipment (Section 16).   

Page 1474



  Page 5 of 10 

5.5 The Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994 requires Landlords to 
ensure that any electrical appliances provided as part of a tenancy are safe 
when first supplied. 

6 Statement of Intent 

6.1 WLBC acknowledge and accept its legislative responsibilities with regard to 
electrical safety including that under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, the 
Housing Act 2004, the Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 and the Electrical 
Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994. 

6.2 WLBC will hold accurate records against each property it owns or manages 
identifying when the electrical installation was last inspected and tested and 
listing all electrical portable appliances that the organisation owns held at each 
property together with details of Portable Appliance Tests (PATs) undertaken. 

6.3 WLBC will ensure that all domestic properties owned or managed by the 
organisation have a valid EICR that is no older than 10 years from the date of 
the previous EICR by no later than 31st March 2018.  Thereafter WLBC will 
deliver a comprehensive programme of testing and inspection of all domestic 
properties on a rolling 5-year cycle commencing on 1st April 2018.   

6.4 WLBC will ensure that all non-domestic, public and commercial properties and 
offices, including communal parts of domestic premises, owned or managed by 
the organisation have a valid Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICR) that 
is no older than 5 years from the date of the previous EICR by no later 31st 
March 2018.  Thereafter WLBC will deliver a comprehensive programme of 
testing and inspections of all non-domestic including communal, public and 
commercial properties; and offices, on a rolling 5-year cycle commencing on 1st 
April 2018. 

6.5 WLBC will ensure that all electrical installations shall be in a satisfactory 
condition following completion of an electrical installation inspection and test. 

6.6 WLBC will ensure that electrical installation inspection and tests are carried out 
prior to the commencement of any new tenancies (void properties), mutual 
exchanges and transfers and that a satisfactory EICR is issued to the tenant 
prior to them moving in.  

6.7 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent NICEIC electrical contractors 
and engineers (or equivalent) undertake electrical works for the organisation. 

6.8 WLBC will ensure that all electrical portable appliances owned and/or provided 
by the organisation are tested periodically in accordance with the testing 
guidance set out in ‘The Code of Practice for In-Service Inspection and Testing 
of Electrical Equipment’. 

6.9 WLBC will carry out electrical installation inspection and tests and issue new 
satisfactory EICRs when completing planned component replacement works 
within domestic properties.  In the case of a rewire WLBC will receive an 
installation certificate and following minor works, a minor works certificate. 

Page 1475



  Page 6 of 10 

6.10 WLBC will test and replace as necessary hard wired smoke alarms and heat 
detectors which are not covered as part of the annual gas safety check visit (i.e. 
the property does not have gas) on an annual basis. 

6.11 WLBC will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to manage 
the completion of follow up works identified during inspection and testing of 
electrical installations and electrical portable appliances. 

6.12 WLBC will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to ensure 
that all electrical works are properly notified and approved under Part P of the 
Building Regulations for England and Wales where this is required. 

6.13 WLBC will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to manage 
works to void and occupied properties that may affect existing electrical 
installations. 

6.14 WLBC will have a robust process in place to gain access to properties where 
tenant vulnerability issues are known or identified whilst ensuring the 
organisation can gain timely access to any property in order to be compliant 
with this policy and safeguard the wellbeing of the tenant.   

6.15 WLBC will establish and maintain a plan of all continuous improvement activity 
undertaken with regards to electrical safety. 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes 

7.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a risk assessment for electrical safety 
operations. This risk assessment will set out all the organisation’s key electrical 
safety risks together with appropriate mitigations.  

7.2 To comply with the requirements of the Construction, Design and Management 
Regulations 2015 (CDM) a Construction Phase Plan will be completed for all 
void property (at the start of the contract and annually thereafter), component 
replacement and refurbishment works. This plan will detail any electrical 
installations that may be affected by the works and detail all necessary 
electrical work required to make safe and reinstate electrical installations 
including the requirement for inspection and testing. 

7.3 WLBC will carry out a programme of electrical installation inspection and testing 
to all offices, public buildings, commercial properties and common areas of 
non-domestic properties where there is a landlords’ electrical installation (and 
WLBC has the legal obligation to do so).  This inspection and test will be 
carried out at intervals of no more than 5 years and will include the issuing of a 
new satisfactory Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICR).  This inspection 
and test is driven from the anniversary date of the most recent EICR which may 
have been carried out following planned component replacement works. 

Page 1476



  Page 7 of 10 

7.4 WLBC will carry out a programme of electrical installation inspection and testing 
to all domestic properties. This inspection and test will be carried out at 
intervals of no more than 5 years commencing on 1st April 2018 and will include 
the issuing of a new satisfactory Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICR).  
This inspection and test is driven from the anniversary date of the most recent 
EICR which may have been carried out at the start of a new tenancy or 
following planned component replacement works. 

7.5 WLBC will carry out a programme of portable appliance testing (PAT) to all 
electrical portable appliances owned and/or provided by the organisation.  
These appliances will be tested in accordance with the testing guidance set out 
in ‘The Code of Practice for In-Service Inspection and Testing of Electrical 
Equipment’. 

8 Compliance Follow up Work 

8.1 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place for the management of any 
follow-up works required following the completion of a periodic inspection and 
test of an electrical installation or electrical portable appliance. 

8.2 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place to collate and store all 
Electrical Installation Condition Reports (EICRs) and associated records and 
certification of completed remedial works.  

8.3 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place to collate and store all 
Electrical Portable Appliance Tests (PATs) and associated records and 
certification of completed remedial works.  

8.4 WLBC will as a minimum make safe and/or where possible endeavour to repair 
all code 1 and code 2 defects identified by a periodic electrical installation 
inspection and test before leaving site after completing the inspection and 
testing works.  Any further remedial works to code 1 and 2 defects will be 
completed within 5 working days and an EICR will be issued stating that the 
installation is in a satisfactory condition.  Code 3 and FI type works will be 
referred back to WLBC and considered for inclusion in future works 
programme. 

8.5 WLBC will establish and implement programmes of electrical installation 
upgrading works to improve electrical installations, that have been identified as 
not meeting current standards but are in a satisfactory condition for the 
purposes of an EICR, up to a standard that meets all current requirements of 
BS7671.  

8.6 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place to investigate and manage 
all RIDDOR notices issued with regard to electrical safety. 

9 Record Keeping 

Page 1477



  Page 8 of 10 

9.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a core asset register of all properties that 
have an active electrical supply and electrical installation (Aareon QL).  This 
register should identify electrical installations within all domestic properties and 
electrical installations within non-domestic (communal) properties, public 
buildings, commercial properties and offices.  

9.2 WLBC will establish and maintain a register against each property asset of any 
electrical portable appliances owned by the organisation and the portable 
appliance testing (PAT) requirements. 

9.3 WLBC will establish and maintain accurate records of all completed Electrical 
Installation Condition Reports (EICRs), Minor Electrical Works Certificates 
(MEW) and Building Regulation Part P notifications associated with remedial 
works from these reports and Electrical Installation Certificates and keep these 
for a period of not less than 10 years.  These will be held against the individual 
property on the organisation’s shared drive.  

9.4 WLBC will establish and maintain accurate records of all completed electrical 
Portable Appliance Test reports and details of associated completed remedial 
works and keep these for a period of not less than 5 years.  

9.5 WLBC will ensure robust processes and controls are in place to provide and 
maintain appropriate levels of security for all electrical safety related data.  

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities 

10.1 WLBC Cabinet will have overall governance responsibility for ensuring the 
electrical safety policy is fully implemented to ensure full compliance with the 
regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice.  As such the Cabinet 
will formally approve this policy and review should there be a material change 
in regulation, legislation or codes of practice). 

10.2 The Cabinet will receive regular updates on electrical safety performance along 
with notification of any non-compliance issue which is identified. This is so they 
have assurance that the policy is operating effectively in practice.  

10.3 The Council's most senior officer team will receive reports in respect of 
electrical safety management performance and ensure compliance is being 
achieved.  They will also be notified of any non-compliance issue identified. 

10.4 The Director of Housing and Inclusion has strategic responsibility for the 
management of electrical safety and ensuring compliance is achieved and 
maintained. The Property Services Manager and Deputy Property Services 
Manager will oversee the implementation of the electrical safety policy. 

10.5 The Property Services Manager and Deputy Property Services Manager will be 
responsible for overseeing the delivery of the electrical installation periodic 
inspection and testing and electrical portable appliance testing (PAT) 
programmes, completion of any works arising from Electrical Installation 
Condition Reports (EICRs) or PAT tests or faults reported by tenants together 
with the maintenance of sufficient records in respect of works completed to 
electrical installations and portable electrical appliances. 

Page 1478



  Page 9 of 10 

10.6 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will provide key support in gaining 
access into properties where access is proving difficult and use standard 
methods to do so.  They will also facilitate legal process to gain access as 
necessary.  

11 Competent Persons 

11.1 WLBC will ensure that the manager(s) with lead responsibility for operational 
delivery is appropriately qualified; holding a recognised electrical safety 
management qualification, as per 12.3. 

11.2 WLBC will ensure that the manager with lead responsibility for operational 
delivery maintain Approved Electrical Contractor accreditation with the National 
Inspection Council for Electrical Inspection Contracting (NICEIC) or equivalent 
for all areas of electrical inspection, testing, installation and repair works that 
they undertake.  The operational team with responsibility for delivery will check 
the relevant accreditations for the work that they are carrying out.  These 
checks will be undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

11.3 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent NICEIC Approved Electrical 
Contractors (or equivalently accredited) contractors are procured and appointed 
to undertake electrical inspection, testing, installation and repair works.  The 
operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the relevant 
accreditations for the work that they are carrying out.  These checks will be 
undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

11.4 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent engineers are employed or 
appointed to undertake electrical portable appliance testing (PAT).  The 
operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the relevant 
qualifications of persons undertaking PAT testing for the organisation to ensure 
that they are certified as competent to carry out PAT testing.  These checks will 
be undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

12 Training  

12.1 This policy and the procedures that support it will be subject to a range of 
training across WLBC and will involve all relevant stakeholders.  The training 
will be bespoke to the individual stakeholders and refresher training will be 
provided as appropriate. 

12.2 Training will include team briefings for those employees who need to have a 
basic understanding and awareness of electrical safety but who may not be 
actively involved in the delivery of the electrical safety policy.  This will be basic 
electrical safety awareness training and covered in team meetings. 

Page 1479



  Page 10 of 10 

12.3 On the job training will be provided to those employees who will be responsible 
for managing the programme of electrical installation inspections and repair 
works to electrical installations and portable appliances as part of their daily job.  
The manager(s) with lead responsibility for operational delivery will hold the 
Level 4 VRQ in Electrical Safety Management in Social Housing and will ideally 
be a full member of the Association of Electrical Safety Managers.  WLBC will 
fund training as necessary so they gain this qualification and membership.   

12.4 Regular tool box talks (quarterly) will be given to operatives in the form of 
appropriate electrical safety training.  WLBC will ask their contractor partners to 
do this and evidence this upon request. 

12.5 Monitors briefings will be provided to those employees involved in the 
monitoring of compliance performance in relation to electrical safety.   

13 Performance Reporting 

13.1 Robust key performance indicator (KPI) measures will be established and 
maintained to ensure WLBC is able to report on performance in relation to 
electrical safety.   

13.2 KPI measures will be produced and provided at the Council's most senior 
management team level on a regular basis and at Cabinet level within the 
performance suite of KPI's.  The KPI measure will be: 
  

 The number (and percentage) of properties with a valid Electrical 
Installation Condition Report (EICR) for all homes and buildings 
owned or managed by WLBC which require one. 

13.3 WLBC will carry out independent third party quality assurance audits of 
electrical installation condition reports and completed electrical repair and 
installation works as required by the electrical safety compliance risk 
assessment.  Best practice suggests this should be a 5% sample of the total 
electrical safety works carried out. 

13.4 WLBC will carry out an independent audit of electrical safety at least once 
every five years.  This audit will specifically test for compliance with the 
regulation, legislation and codes of practice and identify any non-compliance 
issues for correction. 

14 Non-Compliance 

14.1 Any non-compliance issue identified at an operational level will be formally 
reported to the Director of Housing and Inclusion in the first instance. 

14.2 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will agree an appropriate course of 
corrective action with the operational team in order to address the non-
compliance issue and report details of the same to the Council's most senior 
management team. 

Page 1480



  Page 11 of 10 

14.3 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will ensure the Cabinet are made aware 
of any non-compliance issue so they can consider the implications and take 
action as appropriate. 

14.4 In cases of a serious non-compliance issue the Director of Housing and 
Inclusion and the relevant Portfolio Holder will consider whether it is necessary 
to disclose the issue to Homes England in the spirit of co-regulation as part of 
the Regulatory Framework.    

 

Page 1481





  Page 1 of 10 

Appendix C 

Asbestos Policy 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2 Scope................................................................................................................. 2 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice ................................. 3 

4 Additional Legislation ......................................................................................... 3 

5 Obligations ......................................................................................................... 4 

6 Statement of Intent ............................................................................................ 5 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes ........................ 6 

8 Compliance Follow up Work .............................................................................. 7 

9 Record Keeping ................................................................................................. 7 

10 Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................. 8 

11 Competent Persons ........................................................................................... 8 

12 Training .............................................................................................................. 9 

13 Performance Reporting ...................................................................................... 9 

14 Non-Compliance .............................................................................................. 10 

 

Page 1483



  Page 2 of 10 

1 Introduction 

1.1 West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) owns and manages approximately 
6,000 council homes and other public and commercial buildings. 

1.2 Council and Cabinet develop and set Corporate strategy.  Directors/Heads of 
Service are responsible for implementing the strategy including observing 
relevant compliance requirements impacting their services.  The most senior 
management team of the Council provides a forum for consideration of both 
development and delivery of strategy.   

1.3 Breathing in air containing asbestos fibres can lead to asbestos-related 
diseases, mainly cancers of the lungs and chest lining.  Asbestos is only a risk 
to health if asbestos fibres are released into the air and breathed in.     

1.4 Any WLBC home or building built or refurbished before the year 2000 may 
contain asbestos.  As long as the asbestos containing material (ACM) is in 
good condition and is not going to be disturbed or damaged, there is negligible 
risk.  However, if it is disturbed or damaged it can become a danger to health, 
because people may breathe in any asbestos fibres released into the air.  
Workers who carry out repairs and maintenance work are at particular risk.  If 
asbestos is present and can readily be disturbed, is in poor condition and not 
managed properly, others who may be occupying the homes or buildings could 
be put at risk. 

1.5 WLBC is responsible for the maintenance and repairs to its 6,000 homes, 
public, corporate and other buildings, many of which will contain asbestos 
containing materials. As such, the organisation has a legal ‘duty to manage’ 
asbestos in its  non-domestic stock.. 

2 Scope  

2.1 WLBC must establish a policy which meets the requirements of the Control of 
Asbestos Regulations 2012, which came into force on 6th April 2012.  In 
addition to this, the policy must provide assurance to WLBC that measures are 
in place to identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated with asbestos.   

2.2 WLBC must also ensure compliance with asbestos is formally reported to the 
most senior level of officers management team and Cabinet, including the 
details of any non-compliance and planned corrective actions. 

2.3 The policy is relevant to all WLBC employees, tenants, contractors and other 
persons or other stakeholders who may work on, occupy, visit, or use its 
premises, or who may be affected by its activities or services.   

2.4 It should be used by all to ensure they understand the obligations placed upon 
WLBC to maintain a safe environment for tenants and employees within the 
home of each tenant and within all communal areas of buildings.   

2.5 The policy is also relevant for maintaining a safe environment for all tenants 
and employees within all WLBC non-domestic properties 

Page 1484



  Page 3 of 10 

2.6 Where legal obligations relating to this area of compliance have been 
transferred to a tenant/leaseholder (e.g. Commercial Lets). The appropriate 
Director will endeavour to ensure that tenants/leaseholders are complying with 
the terms of the lease and their statutory obligations. 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice 

3.1 Regulatory Standards - the application of this policy will ensure compliance 
with the regulatory framework and consumer standards (Home Standard) for 
social housing in England. 

3.2 Legislation - the principal legislation applicable to this policy is the Control of 
Asbestos Regulations (CAR) 2012, which came into force on 6th April 2012.  
WLBC has a legal obligation under Part 2, Section 4 of the legislation (Duty to 
manage asbestos in non-domestic properties) and is the ‘Duty Holder’ for the 
purposes of the legislation.    

3.3 Approved Codes of Practice and Guidance – the principle codes of practice 
and guidance applicable to this policy are: 

3.3.1 ACoP L143 - ‘Managing and working with Asbestos’ (Second edition December 
2013) 

3.3.2 HSG264 - ‘Asbestos: The survey guide’ (Second edition 2012, this holds ACoP 
status) 

3.3.3 HSG247 - ‘Asbestos:  The licensed contractors’ guide’ (First edition 2006)  

3.3.4 HSG227 - ‘A comprehensive guide to managing asbestos in premises’ (First 
edition 2002) 

3.3.5 HSG210 - ‘Asbestos Essentials – A task manual for building, maintenance and 
allied trades and non-licensed asbestos work’ (Third edition 2012) 

3.4 Sanctions - WLBC acknowledge and accept its responsibilities in accordance 
with the regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice and that failure 
to discharge these responsibilities properly could lead to a range of sanctions 
including prosecution by the Health & Safety Executive under the Health & 
Safety at Work Act 1974, prosecution under the Corporate Manslaughter and 
Corporate Homicide Act 2007 and via a serious detriment judgement from the 
regulator Homes England 

3.5 Tenants and Leaseholders - WLBC will use the legal remedies available 
within the terms of the tenancy/lease agreement should any tenant/leaseholder 
refuse access to carry out essential asbestos related inspection and 
remediation works.   

4 Additional Legislation  

4.1 This asbestos policy also operates in the context of the following additional 
legislation: 

Page 1485



  Page 4 of 10 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 

 The Workplace (Health Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 

 Personal Protective Equipment at Work Regulations 1992 

 Hazardous Waste (England & Wales) Regulations 2005 (Amendment 2009) 

 Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) Regulations (as 
amended) 2002 

 Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 

 Defective Premises Act 1972 

 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 

 Data Protection Act 1998 

 RIDDOR 2013 

5 Obligations 

5.1 The duty to manage asbestos is included in the Control of Asbestos 
Regulations (CAR) 2012.  The duty requires WLBC to manage the risk from 
asbestos by: 

 Finding out if there is asbestos in the homes and buildings owned and 
managed by the organisation (or assessing if asbestos containing materials 
are liable to be present and making a presumption that materials contain 
asbestos, unless the organisation has strong evidence that they do not), 
identifying its location and identifying what condition it is in.  If the home or 
building was built prior to the year 2000 the organisation will assume 
asbestos is present.  If the home or building was built after the year 2000 
asbestos is unlikely to be present and no further action will be required. 

 Making and keeping an up-to-date record of the location and condition of 
the asbestos containing materials or presumed asbestos containing 
materials in the homes and buildings owned and managed by the 
organisation. 

 Assessing the risk from the asbestos containing materials found. 

 Preparing a plan that sets out in detail how the organisation is going to 
manage the risk from the asbestos containing materials. 

 Taking the steps needed to put the plan into action. 

 Reviewing and monitoring the plan and the arrangements made to put it in 
place; and 

Page 1486



  Page 5 of 10 

 Setting up a system for providing information on the location and condition 
of the asbestos containing materials to anyone who is liable to work on or 
disturb these materials. 

5.2 Anyone who has information on the whereabouts of asbestos in homes and 
buildings is required to make this available to the organisation as the ‘duty 
holder’, but the organisation then have to assess its reliability. 

5.3 Those who are not duty holders, but control access to the organisation’s homes 
or buildings, have to co-operate with the organisation in managing the asbestos 
present. 

6 Statement of Intent 

6.1 WLBC recognises that the main hazard in relation to asbestos is the non-
identification of asbestos and asbestos containing materials and as such will 
protect those persons potentially exposed to asbestos as far as is reasonably 
practical by minimising the exposure through the use of appropriate control 
measures and working methods. 

6.2 WLBC accepts that asbestos is likely to be present in the majority of its 
properties built prior to the year 2000 and will therefore manage these 
properties accordingly. 

6.3 In order to fully comply with the legislation WLBC has a Cabinet approved 
Asbestos Policy. In addition the organisation will have an Asbestos 
Management Plan and an Asbestos Register which will hold records of the 
assets which have asbestos containing materials in them. 

6.4 WLBC will employ competent external contractors (UKAS accredited) to 
undertake asbestos management surveys. Licensed asbestos removal 
contractors will be employed to carry out remediation works (where necessary) 
to non-domestic and domestic properties including communal parts of domestic 
properties as outlined in section 8.4 to 8.7.   

6.5 Domestic properties will include all void properties where repairs or 
maintenance work is taking place and is likely to disturb any asbestos 
containing materials within these properties.  Domestic properties will also 
include any tenanted properties where repairs or maintenance work is taking 
place and is likely to disturb any asbestos containing materials within these 
properties. 

6.6 WLBC will also undertake an intrusive refurbishment and demolition (R&D) 
survey to domestic and non-domestic properties prior to planned maintenance 
works taking place, to the areas within the property that are likely to be 
disturbed as part of the proposed works.  They will also undertake a 
management survey to the remainder of the property as part of the same R&D 
survey.  This will be in accordance with the criteria set out in the WLBC 
Asbestos Management Plan, which should be read in conjunction with this 
policy.     

Page 1487



  Page 6 of 10 

6.7 WLBC consider good communication essential in the safe delivery of asbestos 
management and will therefore ensure that information about asbestos 
containing materials (known or suspect) is provided to every person liable to 
disturb it, accidentally or during the course of the work.  This includes 
employees and tenants.   

6.8 WLBC will ensure all employees and contractors have adequate asbestos 
survey information to enable them to manage and/or work safely with asbestos. 

6.9 WLBC will provide advice to customers regarding asbestos containing materials 
through information held on the organisations website. 

6.10 WLBC will ensure where appropriate, that all visitors are made aware of the 
Asbestos Register and emergency arrangements on site. 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes 

7.1 Non-Domestic Stock – WLBC will review existing asbestos management 
survey information prior to carrying out any repairs or planned maintenance 
works which may involve working on or adjacent to any asbestos containing 
materials within a non-domestic (communal) property.  This is to ensure that 
any asbestos containing materials likely to pose a risk are identified prior to 
works commencing and the details passed onto the relevant operatives or 
external contractors and managed in an appropriate way. 

7.2 WLBC will ensure that all non-domestic (communal) public and commercial 
properties in ownership or management have an initial asbestos management 
survey carried out.  All surveys will comply with the CAR 2012 legislation and 
therefore be dated after 6th April 2012 when the legislation came into effect.     

7.3 Thereafter all non-domestic (communal) public and commercial properties will 
have a re-inspection survey and an assigned re-inspection date where 
applicable.  This date will be in accordance with the specific needs of the 
building.  Re-inspection dates may change following the re-categorisation of a 
property or a building.      

7.4 WLBC will not need to re-inspect any non-domestic (communal) public or 
commercial properties built after the year 2000, or where the initial asbestos 
management survey confirms that there are no asbestos containing materials 
present.   

7.5 Domestic Stock - WLBC will review existing asbestos management survey 
information prior to carrying out any void repairs, day to day repairs or planned 
maintenance works which may involve working on or adjacent to any asbestos 
containing materials within a domestic property.  This is to ensure that any 
asbestos containing materials likely to pose a risk are identified prior to works 
commencing and the details passed onto the relevant contractors and 
managed in an appropriate way.  

Page 1488



  Page 7 of 10 

7.6 Where there is no previous asbestos related information in respect of a 
domestic property which requires an asbestos survey ahead of void repairs, 
day-to-day repairs or planned maintenance work, a survey will be undertaken 
and the scope of the survey agreed in accordance with the works due to be 
carried. 

7.7 Refurbishment Work - WLBC will undertake an intrusive refurbishment and 
demolition (R&D) survey to domestic and non-domestic properties prior to 
planned maintenance works taking place to the areas property that are likely to 
be disturbed as part of the proposed works.  They will also undertake a 
management survey to the remainder of the property as part of the same R&D 
survey.  This will be in accordance with the criteria set out in WLBC’s Asbestos 
Management Plan, which should be read in conjunction with this policy. 

8 Compliance Follow up Work 

8.1 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place for the management of any 
follow-up works required following the completion of an asbestos management 
survey. 

8.2 WLBC will ensure that following asbestos surveys, any asbestos containing 
materials that are found to be in a poor condition or that are likely to be 
regularly/easily damaged or disturbed through the normal use of a dwelling will 
be repaired, protected, or removed at the earliest opportunity. 

8.3 Where there is any doubt as to the composition of the material uncovered, a 
sample will be taken and analysed in order to facilitate the instruction of 
remedial works where required.  

8.4 Where asbestos is positively identified and as a result of a risk assessment 
(conducted in accordance with published guidance) removal, sealing or 
encapsulation is recommended, this will be carried out for: 

8.5 Non-licensed works – as defined in regulation 2 of the CAR 2012 – by 
specifically trained contractors with appropriate equipment and working 
procedures in place which are sufficient to comply with the CAR 2012. 

8.6 Notifiable non-licensed works – as defined in regulation 2 of the CAR 2012 – 
by a licensed asbestos removal contractor (LARC) licensed by the Health & 
safety Executive in compliance with the CAR 2012, or 

8.7 Licensed works - as defined in regulation 2 of the CAR 2012 – by a licensed 
asbestos removal contractor (LARC), licensed by the Health & safety Executive 
in compliance with the CAR 2012. 

8.8 Where an asbestos containing material has been removed in whole or in part, it 
will be replaced with a material that has no asbestos content and fulfils the 
equivalent function of the original asbestos material, e.g. for fire protection. 

9 Record Keeping 

Page 1489



  Page 8 of 10 

9.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a programme of non-domestic surveys and 
re-inspections and an Asbestos Register. 

9.2 The Asbestos Register will be used to record the details of all asbestos surveys 
undertaken on WLBC’s non-domestic (communal), public, commercial and 
domestic properties.  This will include the date of the inspection, the findings 
from the survey, any remediation works identified and subsequently completed.  
The database and register should also record the date of any subsequent re-
inspection required, where applicable.  

9.3 WLBC will hold and maintain accurate records against every non-domestic 
(communal), public, commercial and domestic property where applicable and 
all survey reports will be stored on the organisation’s shared drive.  

9.4 Appropriate asbestos information will be made available to all interested 
stakeholders as required. 

10 Roles and Responsibilities 

10.1 WLBC Cabinet will have overall governance responsibility for ensuring the 
asbestos policy is fully implemented to ensure full compliance with the 
regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice.  As such the Cabinet 
will formally approve this policy and review should  there be a material change 
in regulation, legislation or codes of practice). 

10.2 The Cabinet will receive regular updates on the asbestos performance along 
with notification of any non-compliance issue which is identified.  This is so they 
have assurance that the policy is operating effectively in practice.   

10.3 The Council's most senior officer team will receive reports in respect of 
asbestos management performance and ensure compliance is being achieved.  
They will also be notified of any non-compliance issue identified. 

10.4 The Director of Housing and Inclusion has strategic responsibility for the 
management of asbestos and ensuring compliance is achieved and 
maintained.  The Property Services Manager and the Deputy Property Services 
Manager will oversee the implementation of the asbestos policy. 

10.5 The Property Services Manager and the Deputy Property Services Manager will 
be responsible for overseeing the delivery of the agreed survey inspection 
programmes and the prioritisation and implementation of any works arising 
from the surveys. 

10.6 The Director of Housing and Inclusion and Housing Operations Manager will 
provide key support in gaining access into properties where access is proving 
difficult and use standard methods to do so.   

11 Competent Persons 

Page 1490



  Page 9 of 10 

11.1 WLBC will ensure that the manager with lead responsibility for operational 
delivery is suitably qualified. In addition to this they should have achieved or be 
working towards gaining one of the asbestos management qualifications (P407 
or W504).  If they do not have P405 or one of the additional qualifications 
already, they should obtain them within 12 months of the approval of this policy. 

11.2 WLBC will ensure that competent (UKAS accredited) contractors are procured 
and appointed to deliver initial asbestos management surveys and the ongoing 
programme of surveys thereafter.  The operational team with responsibility for 
delivery will check the relevant qualifications of employees working for these 
contractors on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

11.3 WLBC will ensure that competent licensed asbestos removal contractors 
(LARC) are procured and appointed for all notifiable non-licensed work or 
licensed works.  The operational team with responsibility for delivery will check 
the relevant qualifications of employees working for these contractors on an 
annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

12 Training  

12.1 This policy and the asbestos management plan that supports it will be subject 
to a range of training across WLBC. 

12.2 Training will include team briefings for those employees who need to have a 
basic understanding and awareness of asbestos but who may not be actively 
involved in the delivery of the asbestos policy, plan and programmes of surveys 
and works.  This will be basic asbestos awareness training and will include 
delivery at team meetings.   

12.3 On the job training will be provided to those employees who will be responsible 
for managing the programme of surveys and remediation works as part of their 
daily job.   

12.4 Regular tool box talks will be given to operatives and WLBC’s contractor 
partners will conduct these in the form of appropriate asbestos awareness 
training and provide evidence of the same. 

12.5 Briefings will be provided to those employees involved in the monitoring of 
compliance performance in relation to asbestos.   

13 Performance Reporting 

13.1 Robust key performance indicator (KPI) measures will be established and 
maintained to ensure WLBC is able to report on performance in relation to 
asbestos.   

13.2 KPI measures will be produced and provided at the Council's most senior 
management team level on a regular basis and at Cabinet level within the 
performance suite of KPI's.  These KPI measures will include reporting on: 

Page 1491



  Page 10 of 10 

 The total number of non-domestic (communal) and ‘other’ asset numbers 
‘at risk’ that require an asbestos management survey/re-inspection. 

13.3 WLBC will require external contractors to provide the results of their own 5% 
quality assurance audit checks, as required by UKAS, on a monthly basis. 

13.4 WLBC will carry out an independent audit of asbestos at least once every five 
years.  This audit will specifically test for compliance with the regulation, 
legislation and codes of practice and identify any non-compliance issues for 
correction. 

14 Non-Compliance 

14.1 Any non-compliance issue identified at an operational level will be formally 
reported to the Director of Housing and Inclusion in the first instance. 

14.2 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will agree an appropriate course of 
corrective action with the operational team in order to address the non-
compliance issue and report details of the same to the Council's most senior 
management team. 

14.3 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will ensure the Cabinet are made aware 
of any non-compliance issue so they can consider the implications and take 
action as appropriate. 

14.4 In cases of a serious non-compliance issue the Director of Housing and 
Inclusion and the relevant Portfolio Holder will consider whether it is necessary 
to disclose the issue to Homes England in the spirit of co-regulation as part of 
the Regulatory Framework.    

 

Page 1492



  Page 1 of 10 

Appendix D 

Fire Safety Policy 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2 Scope................................................................................................................. 2 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice ................................. 3 

4 Additional Legislation ......................................................................................... 3 

5 Obligations ......................................................................................................... 4 

6 Statement of Intent ............................................................................................ 4 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Programmes ..................................... 6 

8 Compliance Follow up Work .............................................................................. 7 

9 Record Keeping ................................................................................................. 7 

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities .......................................................................... 8 

11 Competent Persons ........................................................................................... 9 

12 Training .............................................................................................................. 9 

13 Performance Reporting .................................................................................... 10 

14 Non-Compliance .............................................................................................. 10 

 

Page 1493



  Page 2 of 10 

1 Introduction 

1.1 West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) owns and manages approximately 
6,000 council homes and other public and commercial buildings. 

1.2 Council and Cabinet develop and set Corporate strategy.  Directors/Heads of 
Service are responsible for implementing the strategy including observing 
relevant compliance requirements impacting their services.  The most senior 
management team of the Council provides a forum for consideration of both 
development and delivery of strategy.   

1.3 Most fires are preventable.  Those responsible for buildings to which the public 
have access can avoid them by taking responsibility for and adopting the right 
behaviours and procedures.  In October 2006, the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 (FSO) came into force.  This FSO places a duty on persons 
responsible for buildings to carry out risk assessments and implement 
adequate fire prevention measures to their buildings. 

2 Scope  

2.1 WLBC must establish a policy which meets the requirements of the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO), which came into force in October 
2006. In addition to this, the Policy must provide assurance to WLBC that 
measures are in place to identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated with 
fire.   

2.2 WLBC must also ensure compliance with fire safety legislation is formally 
reported to the most senior level of officers management team and Cabinet, 
including the details of any non-compliance and planned corrective actions. 

2.3 The policy is relevant to all WLBC employees, tenants, contractors and other 
persons or other stakeholders who may work on, occupy, visit, or use its 
premises, or who may be affected by its activities or services.   

2.4 It should be used by all to ensure they understand the obligations placed upon 
WLBC to maintain a safe environment for tenants and employees within the 
home of each tenant and within all communal areas of buildings.   

2.5 The policy is also relevant for maintaining a safe environment for all tenants 
and employees within all WLBC non-domestic properties. 

 

2.6 Where legal obligations relating to this area of compliance have been 

transferred to a tenant/leaseholder (e.g. Commercial Lets). The appropriate 

Director will endeavour to ensure that tenants/leaseholders are complying with 

the terms of the lease and their statutory obligations. 

 

  

Page 1494



  Page 3 of 10 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice 

3.1 Regulatory Standards - the application of this policy will ensure compliance 
with the regulatory framework and consumer standards (Home Standard) for 
social housing in England.  

3.2 Legislation - the principal legislation applicable to this policy is the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO), which came into force in October 
2006. These regulations place a duty on the ‘responsible person’ to take 
general fire precautions to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, the 
safety of the people on their premises and in the immediate vicinity.   

3.3 Code of Practice – the principal codes of practice applicable to this policy are: 

 LACORS - Housing - Fire Safety: Guidance on fire safety provisions for 

certain types of existing housing 

 HHSRS Operating Guidance - Housing Act 2004: Guidance about 

inspections and assessment of hazards given under Section 9 

 Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA) - Fire Safety in Specialist Housing – 
April 2017, covers sheltered schemes, supported schemes and extra care 
schemes 

3.4 Sanctions - WLBC acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities in 
accordance with the regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice and 
that failure to discharge these responsibilities properly could lead to a range of 
sanctions including prosecution by the Health & Safety Executive under the 
Health & Safety at Work Act 1974, prosecution under the Corporate 
Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 and via a serious detriment 
judgement from Homes England. 

3.5 Tenants - WLBC will use the legal remedies having regard to within the terms 
of the tenancy agreement should any tenant refuse access to carry out 
essential fire safety related inspection and remediation works.  

3.6 Leaseholders - WLBC will use the legal remedies available within the terms of 
the lease agreement should any leaseholder refuse permission and/or access 
to carry out essential fire safety related inspection and remediation works  

4 Additional Legislation  

4.1 This fire safety policy also operates in the context of the following additional 
legislation including: 

 Housing Act 2004 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 

 Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 

Page 1495



  Page 4 of 10 

 Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other 
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 

 Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 

 The Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 

 The Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996 

 The Building Regulations 2000: Approved Document B Fire Safety 

 Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994 

 Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 

 Data Protection Act 1998 

 RIDDOR 2013 

5 Obligations 

5.1 The responsible person, WLBC, must carry out a fire risk assessment for the 
purpose of identifying the general fire precautions and other measures needed 
to comply with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO).  
Although under the FSO this requirement only applies to the common parts of 
premises, in practice the responsible person will need to take into account the 
entire premises - including, if necessary, the units of residential 
accommodation.  

5.2 The responsible person, WLBC, must implement all necessary general fire 
precautions and any other measures identified by a fire risk assessment. 

5.3 The responsible person, WLBC, must put in place a suitable system of 
maintenance and appoint competent persons to implement any procedures that 
have been adopted.  

5.4 The responsible person, WLBC, must periodically review fire risk assessments 
in a timescale appropriate to the premises and/or occupation fire risk level. This 
timescale is determined by the fire risk assessor carrying out the fire risk 
assessment. 

6 Statement of Intent 

6.1 WLBC acknowledge and accept its responsibilities under the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO). 

6.2 WLBC will hold accurate records against each property it owns or manages 
setting out the requirements for having a fire risk assessment in place. 

Page 1496



  Page 5 of 10 

6.3 WLBC will hold accurate records against each property it owns or manages 
setting out the requirements for servicing, maintenance and repair of fire 
prevention, detection and firefighting equipment.  These include fire alarm 
systems, emergency lighting, smoke/heat detectors, hose reels, dry and wet 
risers, auto window/door openers, fire extinguishers, fire blankets, sprinkler 
systems and any other equipment relating to fire safety. 

6.4 WLBC will establish and manage programmes to deliver servicing and 
maintenance in accordance with all relevant British Standards for all fire 
detection, prevention and firefighting systems and equipment within buildings 
owned or managed by the organisation. 

6.5 WLBC will periodically undertake an asset data review to ensure adequate 
assurance is provided that fire safety data held against the organisations’ 
property assets is accurate.  

6.6 WLBC will ensure that each property requiring a fire risk assessment has a fire 
risk assessment in place that is PAS79 compliant (Publicly Available 
Specification) from the British Standards Institute (BSI) and that has been 
carried out by a competent fire risk assessor. 

6.7 WLBC will ensure that all fire risk assessments are reviewed no later than the 
review date set by the fire risk assessment and that this review is carried out by 
a competent fire risk assessor.  

6.8 WLBC will ensure that the fire risk assessment to a building is reviewed 
following a fire, change in building use, change in working practices that may 
affect fire safety, following refurbishment works to the building or if required 
following an independent fire safety audit and that this review is carried out by a 
competent fire risk assessor.  

6.9 WLBC will ensure that robust processes are in place to implement all 
mandatory fire precaution measures identified by fire risk assessments.  
Remedial actions will be carried out in accordance with the fire risk 
assessments recommendations. WLBC will also give due consideration to all 
non-mandatory recommendations.    

6.10 WLBC will implement a programme of regular property inspections to all 
properties with a fire risk assessment in place to audit that all required 
management actions are taking place. These inspections will be undertaken at 
regular intervals and inspection records will be kept against each property. 

6.11 WLBC will ensure that robust processes are in place to record and action any 
‘near miss’ reports with regard to fire safety.  A ‘near miss’ is an unplanned 
event which does not result in an injury but had the potential to do so. 

6.12 WLBC will test and replace as necessary hard wired smoke alarms in domestic 
dwellings on an annual basis.  The majority of properties can be done as part of 
the annual gas safety check visit. 

Page 1497



  Page 6 of 10 

6.13 WLBC will ensure that all disabled residents and/or employees within buildings 
requiring a fire risk assessment, where there is a member of staff in residence 
(i.e. sheltered housing or supported housing schemes), will have a Personal 
Emergency Evacuation Plan (PEEP) and that this PEEP will be reviewed 
annually by a competent person.  This will be kept in the Fire Safety Log held 
securely on site and made available to the fire service in the event of an 
evacuation. 

6.14 WLBC will have robust processes and controls in place to ensure that 
consideration is made when letting properties to the suitability of the 
accommodation for the prospective tenant with regards to fire safety. 

6.15 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent fire risk assessors and fire 
safety engineers appropriately certified under BAFE and UKAS accredited 
certification schemes undertake fire safety assessments or works for the 
organisation. 

6.16 WLBC will have robust processes in place to gain access should any tenant or 
leaseholder refuse access to carry out essential fire safety related inspection 
and remediation works. 

6.17 WLBC will have robust processes in place to gain access to properties where 
tenant vulnerability issues are known or identified whilst ensuring the 
organisation can gain timely access to any property in order to be compliant 
with this policy and safeguard the wellbeing of the tenant.   

6.18 WLBC will establish and maintain a plan of all continuous improvement activity 
undertaken with regards to fire safety and is committed to working with relevant 
Fire Services to create safer places to live and work. Joint working will include 
sharing information, the fire service reviewing risk assessments and providing 
training to WLBC staff. 

6.19 WLBC considers good communication essential in the safe delivery of fire 
safety and will therefore ensure that information about fire safety and fire 
prevention measures is available to residents and building users on the 
organisation’s website. 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Programmes 

7.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a risk assessment for fire safety management 
and operations.  This risk assessment will set out the organisations’ key fire 
safety risks together with appropriate mitigations.  

7.2 To comply with the requirements of the Construction, Design and Management 
Regulations 2015 (CDM) a Construction Phase Plan will be completed for all 
void property, component replacement and refurbishment works.  This plan will 
detail any fire safety installations and/or other fire prevention measures that 
may be affected by the works and detail all necessary work required to make 
safe and reinstate fire safety prevention installations and measures including 
any requirement for review of the fire risk assessment. 

Page 1498



  Page 7 of 10 

7.3 WLBC will complete a programme of initial fire risk assessments to all 
communal blocks in its management and ownership. 

7.4 Thereafter, WLBC will carry out a programme of fire risk assessment reviews 
ensuring that all fire risk assessments are reviewed no later than the review 
date set by the fire risk assessment and that this review is carried out by a 
competent fire risk assessor. 

7.5 WLBC will ensure that each property requiring a fire risk assessment has a fire 
risk assessment in place that is PAS79 compliant (Publicly Available 
Specification) from the British Standards Institute (BSI) and that has been 
carried out by a competent fire risk assessor. 

7.6 WLBC will carry out a programme of regular property inspections to all 
properties with a fire risk assessment in place to audit that all required 
management actions are taking place.  These inspections will be undertaken at 
regular intervals and inspections records will be kept. 

7.7 WLBC will carry out a programme of servicing and maintenance, in accordance 
with all relevant British Standards to all fire detection, prevention and firefighting 
systems and equipment within buildings owned or managed by the 
organisation. 

7.8 WLBC will carry out a programme of annual inspection and testing of smoke 
alarms where they are fitted within domestic properties. 

8 Compliance Follow up Work 

8.1 WLBC will ensure that robust processes are in place to implement all 
mandatory fire precaution measures identified by fire risk assessments.  
Remedial actions will be carried out in accordance with the fire risk 
assessments recommendations. WLBC will also give due consideration to all 
non-mandatory recommendations.    

8.2 WLBC will ensure that robust processes are in place to implement all fire 
precaution measures identified by monthly property inspections. 

8.3 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place for the management of any 
follow-up works required following the completion of servicing and maintenance 
checks to fire detection, prevention and fire-fighting systems and equipment. 

8.4 WLBC will ensure they install if required a battery powered smoke alarm in all 
domestic properties as part of the annual gas safety check, or if recommended 
as part of any fire risk assessment.  They will also test and renew these as 
required as part of the annual gas safety check. 

9 Record Keeping 

9.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a core asset register of all buildings that 
require a fire safety risk assessment.  This register should identify all fire safety 
equipment, systems and installations within each building.  

Page 1499



  Page 8 of 10 

9.2 WLBC will establish and maintain a register against each property asset of any 
smoke/heat detection equipment contained within domestic dwellings.  

9.3 WLBC will establish and maintain accurate records of all completed fire risk 
assessments, fire risk assessment reviews and associated completed remedial 
works from these reports and keep these for a period of not less than 10 years.   

9.4 WLBC will establish and maintain accurate records of all completed servicing 
and maintenance checks on fire safety equipment, systems and installations 
and details of associated completed remedial works and keep these for a 
period of not less than 5 years.  

9.5 WLBC will maintain an appropriate Fire Safety Log Book and keep securely on 
site, where practical, for all buildings requiring a fire risk assessment. 

9.6 WLBC will establish and maintain records of all fire safety related training 
undertaken by staff. 

9.7 WLBC will ensure robust processes and controls are in place to provide and 
maintain appropriate levels of security for all fire safety related data.  

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities 

10.1 WLBC Cabinet will have overall governance responsibility for ensuring the fire 
safety policy is fully implemented to ensure full compliance with the regulatory 
standards, legislation and codes of practice.  As such the Cabinet will formally 
approve this policy and review should there be a material change in regulation, 
legislation or codes of practice). 

10.2 The Cabinet will receive regular updates on fire safety performance along with 
notification of any non-compliance issue which is identified. This is so they have 
assurance that the policy is operating effectively in practice.  

10.3 The Council's most senior management team will receive reports in respect of 
fire safety management performance and ensure compliance is being achieved.  
They will also be notified of any non-compliance issue identified. 

10.4 The Director of Housing and Inclusion has strategic responsibility for the 
management of fire safety and ensuring compliance is achieved and 
maintained.  The Property Services Manager and Deputy Property Services 
Manager will oversee the implementation of the fire safety policy. 

10.5 The Property Services Manager and Deputy Property Services Manager will be 
responsible for overseeing the delivery of the agreed fire risk assessment and 
re-assessment programmes, and the prioritisation and implementation of any 
works arising from the fire risk assessments. They are also responsible for 
overseeing the delivery of service, maintenance and repair programmes to all 
fire detection, alarms and firefighting equipment within property assets owned 
or managed by WLBC. 

Page 1500



  Page 9 of 10 

10.6 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will provide key support in gaining 
access into properties where access is proving difficult and use standard 
methods to do so.  They will also initiate appropriate legal process to gain 
access as necessary.  

11 Competent Persons 

11.1 WLBC will ensure that the manager with lead responsibility for operational 
delivery is appropriately qualified; holding a recognised fire safety management 
qualification (e.g. NEBOSH National Certificate in Fire Safety and Risk 
Management).  

11.2 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent Fire Risk Assessors, certified by 
BAFE and on a UKAS accredited certification scheme that meets the 
competency criteria established by the Fire Risk Assessment Competency 
Council, are procured and appointed to undertake fire risk assessments.  The 
operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the relevant 
accreditations for the work that they are carrying out.  These checks will be 
undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

11.3 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent contractors and engineers, 
certified by a UKAS accredited certification scheme, are procured and 
appointed to undertake works to fire safety equipment, systems and 
installations.  The operational team with responsibility for delivery will check the 
relevant accreditations for the work that they are carrying out.  These checks 
will be undertaken on an annual basis and evidenced appropriately. 

12 Training  

12.1 This policy and the procedures that support it will be subject to a range of 
training across WLBC and will involve all relevant stakeholders.  The training 
will be bespoke to the individual stakeholders and refresher training will be 
provided as appropriate. 

12.2 Training will include team briefings for those employees who need to have a 
basic understanding and awareness of fire safety but who may not be actively 
involved in the delivery of the fire safety policy.  This will be basic fire safety 
awareness training. 

12.3 On the job training will be provided to those employees who will be responsible 
for managing the programme of fire risk assessments (FRAs) and FRA reviews 
and programmes of servicing and maintenance to fire safety equipment, 
systems and installations as part of their daily job.  The manager(s) with lead 
responsibility for operational delivery will hold the NEBOSH National Certificate 
in Fire Safety and Risk Management.  WLBC will fund training as necessary so 
they gain this qualification and membership.  This will happen within 12 months 
of the approval of this policy.    

12.4 Training will be provided to all WLBC employees with specific duties regarding 
fire safety such as Fire Wardens, Estate Managers and Scheme Managers.  

Page 1501



  Page 10 of 10 

12.5 Regular tool box talks will be given to operatives and WLBC contractor partners 
will be required to do this in the form of appropriate fire safety training and 
evidence the same. 

12.6 Briefings will be provided to those employees involved in the monitoring of 
compliance performance in relation to fire safety.   

13 Performance Reporting 

13.1 Robust key performance indicator (KPI) measures will be established and 
maintained to ensure WLBC is able to report on performance in relation to fire 
safety.   

13.2 KPI measures will be produced and provided at the Council's most senior 
management team level on a regular basis and at Cabinet level within the 
performance suite of KPI's.  These KPI measures will include reporting on: 

 The number (and percentage) of properties with a valid in date fire risk 
assessment (FRA) in place for all buildings owned or managed by WLBC 
which require one 

13.3 WLBC will carry out an independent audit of fire safety at least once every five 
years. This audit will specifically test for compliance with the regulation, 
legislation and codes of practice and identify any non-compliance issues for 
correction. 

14 Non-Compliance 

14.1 Any non-compliance issue identified at an operational level will be formally 
reported to the Director of Housing and Inclusion in the first instance. 

14.2 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will agree an appropriate course of 
corrective action with the operational team in order to address the non-
compliance issue and report details of the same to the Council's most senior 
management team. 

14.3 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will ensure the Cabinet are made aware 
of any non-compliance issue so they can consider the implications and take 
action as appropriate. 

14.4 In cases of a serious non-compliance issue the Director of Housing and 
Inclusion and the relevant Portfolio Holder will consider whether it is necessary 
to disclose the issue to Homes England in the spirit of co-regulation as part of 
the Regulatory Framework.    

 

Page 1502



  Page 1 of 9 

Appendix E 

Water Hygiene Policy 

 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 2 

2 Scope................................................................................................................. 2 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice ................................. 3 

4 Additional Legislation ......................................................................................... 3 

5 Obligations ......................................................................................................... 4 

6 Statement of Intent ............................................................................................ 4 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes ........................ 6 

8 Compliance Follow up Work .............................................................................. 6 

9 Record Keeping ................................................................................................. 7 

10 Key Roles and Responsibilities .......................................................................... 7 

11 Competent Persons ........................................................................................... 8 

12 Training .............................................................................................................. 8 

13 Performance Reporting ...................................................................................... 9 

14 Non-Compliance ................................................................................................ 9 

 

Page 1503



  Page 2 of 9 

1 Introduction 

1.1 West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) owns and manages approximately 
6,000 council homes and other public and commercial buildings. 

1.2 Council and Cabinet develop and set Corporate strategy.  Directors/Heads of 
Service are responsible for implementing the strategy including observing 
relevant compliance requirements impacting their services.  The most senior 
management team of the Council provides a forum for consideration of both 
development and delivery of strategy.   

1.3 Legionellosis is a collective term for diseases caused by legionella bacteria 
including the most serious Legionnaires’ disease, as well as the similar but less 
serious conditions of Pontiac fever and Lochgoilhead fever. Legionnaires’ 
disease is normally contracted by inhaling small droplets of water suspended in 
the air containing the bacteria.  

1.4 Therefore, it is important that WLBC control the risks by introducing measures 
which reduce and/or control the risk of legionella growth and proliferation of 
legionella bacteria and other organisms in the water systems and reduce, so far 
as is reasonably practicable, exposure to water droplets and aerosol in non-
domestic and domestic stock as required.  This will reduce the possibility of 
creating conditions in which the risk from exposure to legionella bacteria is 
increased. 

2 Scope  

2.1 WLBC must establish a policy which meets the requirements of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974 and the Management of Health and Safety at Work 
Regulations 1999 (the Management Regulations).  In addition to this, the policy 
must provide assurance that measures are in place to demonstrate compliance 
with the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (as 
amended) and to identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated with hot and 
cold water systems and any other systems that may cause exposure to 
legionella bacteria.   

2.2 WLBC must also ensure compliance with water hygiene legislation is formally 
reported the most senior level of officers management team and Cabinet, 
including the details of any non-compliance and planned corrective actions. 

2.3 The policy is relevant to all WLBC employees, tenants, contractors and other 
persons or other stakeholders who may work on, occupy, visit, or use its 
premises, or who may be affected by its activities or services.   

2.4 It should be used by all to ensure they understand the obligations placed upon 
WLBC to maintain a safe environment for tenants and employees within the 
home of each tenant and within all non-residential premises or areas of 
buildings.   

Page 1504



  Page 3 of 9 

2.5 The policy is also relevant for maintaining a safe environment for all tenants 
and employees within all WLBC properties. 

2.6 Where legal obligations relating to this area of compliance have been 

transferred to a tenant/leaseholder (e.g. Commercial Lets). The appropriate 

Director will endeavour to ensure that tenants/leaseholders are complying with 

the terms of the lease and their statutory obligations. 

3 Regulatory Standards, Legislation and Codes of Practice 

3.1 Regulatory Standards - the application of this policy will ensure compliance 
with the regulatory framework and consumer standards (Home Standard) for 
social housing in England. 

3.2 Legislation - the principle legislation applicable to this policy is the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974, the Management of Health and Safety at Work 
Regulations 1999 (the Management Regulations) and the Control of 
Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (as amended) (COSHH).  
WLBC has a legal obligation under COSHH to prevent or control exposure to 
biological agents.  Being harmful to human health, legionella falls within the 
scope of these regulations. 

3.3 Code of Practice – the principle codes of practice applicable to this policy are: 

3.3.1 ACoP L8 - ‘Legionnaires’ disease: The control of legionella bacteria in water 
systems’ (4th edition 2013). 

3.3.2 HSG274 - Legionnaires’ disease: Technical guidance Part 2: The control of 
legionella bacteria in hot and cold water systems (2014). 

3.3.3 HSG274 - Legionnaires’ disease: Technical guidance Part 3: The control of 
legionella bacteria in other risk systems (2013). 

3.3.4 INDG458 - Legionnaires’ disease: A guide for dutyholders Leaflet (HSE Books 
2012). 

3.4 Sanctions - WLBC acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities in 
accordance with the regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice and 
that failure to discharge these responsibilities properly could lead to a range of 
sanctions including prosecution by the Health & Safety Executive under the 
Health & Safety at Work Act 1974, prosecution under the Corporate 
Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 and via a serious detriment 
judgement from the Homes England. 

3.5 Tenants - WLBC will use the legal remedies available within the terms of the 
tenancy agreement, lease or licence should any tenant or leaseholder refuse 
access to carry out essential safety checks, maintenance and safety related 
repair works.   

4 Additional Legislation  

Page 1505



  Page 4 of 9 

4.1 This water hygiene policy also operates in the context of the following 
legislation: 

 The Workplace (Health Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 

 Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 

 Housing Act 2004 

 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 

 Data Protection Act 1998 

 RIDDOR 2013 

5 Obligations 

5.1 The Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (as 
amended) (COSHH), the Management of Health and Safety at Work 
Regulations 1999 and the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 place a duty, as 
an employer or person in control of a premises (e.g. a landlord), to take suitable 
precautions to prevent or control the risk of exposure to legionella.  

5.2 To carry out a risk assessment for all hot and cold water systems, cooling plant 
and any other systems that can produce water droplets to establish any 
potential risks and implement measures to either eliminate or control identified 
risks.  

5.3 WLBC as the ‘Duty Holder’ responsible for control of legionella and water 
hygiene safety will appoint a competent/responsible person to take managerial 
responsibility for legionella control - risk assessment, production of a written 
scheme and implementation of that scheme to prevent or control the risks.   

5.4 This ‘Duty Holder’ should also appoint a competent person or persons to take 
day-to-day responsibility for controlling any identified risks from legionella 
bacteria. 

6 Statement of Intent 

6.1 WLBC acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities with regard to water 
hygiene safety and preventing exposure to legionella. 

6.2 WLBC will hold accurate records against each property it owns or manages 
setting out the requirements for water hygiene risk assessments and safety 
checks and maintenance of all water systems that could present a risk of 
exposure to legionella. 

6.3 WLBC as the ‘Duty Holder’ responsible for control of legionella and water 
hygiene safety will appoint a competent/responsible person to take managerial 
responsibility for legionella control - risk assessment, production of a written 
scheme and implementation of that scheme to prevent or control the risks.   

Page 1506



  Page 5 of 9 

6.4 This ‘Duty Holder’ should also appoint a competent person or persons to take 
day-to-day responsibility for controlling any identified risks from legionella 
bacteria. 

6.5 WLBC will ensure that all properties are risk assessed by a competent person 
for potential to cause exposure to legionella.  This risk assessment should 
include:  

 Management responsibilities, including the name of the competent 
person carrying out the risk assessment   

 A description of the system, any potential risk sources and any controls 
currently in place to control risks 

 Monitoring, inspection and maintenance procedures 

 Records of the monitoring results, inspection and checks carried out 
and a review date. 

6.6 Where the risks are assessed to be, insignificant and are being properly 
managed to comply with the law, no further action is required.  WLBC will 
periodically review these risk assessments in case anything changes in the 
system. 

6.7 WLBC will ensure that a ‘written scheme of control’ is developed and fully 
implemented for all properties risk assessed as requiring controls to adequately 
manage the risk of legionella exposure.   

6.8 WLBC will ensure that a risk assessed approach for water hygiene safety is 
adopted as part of the void standard, when carrying out works on void 
properties prior to re-let.  These checks will be applicable on all void properties 
prior to commencing works which may affect the hot and cold water systems 
and that any identified risk control measures are fully implemented where 
identified. 

6.9 WLBC will maintain and store adequate records in respect of all risk 
assessments, written schemes of control, remedial works, water quality tests 
and audits and shall keep these records for the time they remain current and 
for at least 5 years thereafter.  WLBC will ensure that a sample audit is 
undertaken of 5% of all written schemes of control by an independent third 
party consultant to ensure that all control actions are being fully and robustly 
implemented by the competent person. 

6.10 In addition to 6.10, WLBC will ensure audits are undertaken annually, by an 
independent competent person, to all systems identified as a high risk (e.g. 
high rise buildings and older persons’ schemes) to ensure that all control 
actions are being fully and robustly implemented. 

6.11 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent consultants, surveyors, risk 
assessors and engineers undertake works for the organisation in respect of 
water hygiene safety. 

6.12 WLBC will make written schemes of control in communal areas of buildings 
available to inform occupants on how the risk of exposure to legionella bacteria 
is being managed and controlled.  

Page 1507



  Page 6 of 9 

6.13 WLBC will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to ensure 
that all remedial works identified through risk assessments and subsequent 
control activities are completed within a reasonable timescale commensurate 
with the risk identified. 

6.14 WLBC will ensure robust processes and controls are in place to ensure that 
any suspected outbreak of Legionellosis is properly reported as required under 
RIDDOR. 

6.15 WLBC will establish and maintain a plan of all continuous improvement activity 
undertaken with regards to water hygiene safety. 

7 Compliance Risk Assessment/Inspection Testing Programmes 

7.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a risk assessment for water hygiene safety 
operations.  This risk assessment will set out all of the organisation’s key water 
hygiene/legionella safety risks together with appropriate mitigations.  

7.2 To comply with the requirements of the Construction, Design and Management 
Regulations 2015 (CDM) a Construction Phase Plan will be completed for all 
void works, component replacement works and refurbishment projects.  This 
plan will detail any water installations that may be affected by the works and 
detail all necessary work required to make safe and reinstate water installations 
to ensure that they continue to comply with any written scheme of control, 
including any testing and review of controls. 

7.3 WLBC will carry out a programme of risk assessments and risk assessment 
reviews to properties containing any water system that could present a risk of 
exposure to legionella.  These risk assessments will be reviewed at least every 
2 years or after any works have been completed to the installation.  

7.4 Risk assessments will be carried out to domestic properties on a sample basis 
due to the high number of domestic properties.  This will be a representative 
proportion based on similar design, size, age heating and water systems.   

7.5 WLBC will carry out a programme of maintenance visits by competent persons 
to all properties that have a written scheme of control in place. These 
programmes will ensure that all maintenance and testing set out in the written 
scheme of control is fully completed at the times and intervals stated. 

7.6 WLBC will appoint an independent competent person to complete a 
programme of compliance audits to 5% of written schemes of control to ensure 
that all control actions are being fully and robustly implemented. In addition all 
schemes identified as high risk will receive an annual audit.  

8 Compliance Follow up Work 

8.1 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place for the management of any 
follow-up works required following the completion of a water hygiene/ legionella 
risk assessment or where identified by the competent person when undertaking 
required maintenance activities. 

Page 1508



  Page 7 of 9 

8.2 WLBC will ensure that there is a robust process in place to collate and record 
details of all remedial works and water testing completed against individual 
installations.  

8.3 WLBC will ensure there is a robust process in place to investigate and manage 
all RIDDOR notices issued with regard to water hygiene and legionella safety. 

9 Record Keeping 

9.1 WLBC will establish and maintain a core asset register of all properties that 
have a written scheme of control for water hygiene in place.  This register will 
also hold data against each property asset of the water hygiene risk 
assessment carried out. 

9.2 WLBC will establish and maintain accurate records of all written schemes of 
control and any associated remedial works and water testing and keep these 
for a period of not less than 5 years. Records should include the person or 
people responsible for conducting the risk assessment, managing, and 
implementing the written scheme; any significant findings of the risk 
assessment; the written control scheme and its implementation; and the results 
of any inspection, test or check carried out, together with the dates.  This 
should include details about the state of operation of the system, i.e. in use/not 
in use. 

9.3 WLBC will hold and maintain accurate records on the qualifications of all 
consultants, surveyors, risk assessors and engineers undertaking water 
hygiene works for the organisation.  

9.4 WLBC will ensure robust processes and controls are in place to provide and 
maintain appropriate levels of security for all water hygiene safety related data.  

10 Roles and Responsibilities 

10.1 WLBC Cabinet will have overall governance responsibility for ensuring the 
water hygiene policy is fully implemented to ensure full compliance with the 
regulatory standards, legislation and codes of practice.  As such the Cabinet 
will formally approve this policy and review should  there be a material change 
in regulation, legislation or codes of practice).   

10.2 The Cabinet will receive regular updates on the water hygiene performance 
along with notification of any non-compliance issue which is identified. This is 
so they have assurance that the policy is operating effectively in practice.  

10.3 The Council's most senior officer team will receive reports in respect of water 
hygiene management performance and ensure compliance is being achieved.  
They will also be notified of any non-compliance issue identified. 

10.4 The Director of Housing and Inclusion has strategic responsibility for the 
management of water hygiene and ensuring compliance is achieved and 
maintained.  The Deputy Property Services Manager will oversee the 
implementation of the water hygiene policy. 

Page 1509



  Page 8 of 9 

10.5 The Deputy Property Services Manager along with the Duty Holder; will be 
responsible for overseeing the delivery, implementation and audit of this policy. 

10.6 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will provide key support in gaining 
access into properties where access is proving difficult and use standard 
methods to do so.  They will also facilitate the legal process to gain access as 
necessary.   

11 Competent Persons 

11.1 WLBC will ensure that the Duty Holder and/or the manager with lead 
responsibility for operational delivery is appropriately competent; holding a 
recognised qualification in legionella control through the completion of a 
certified training course designed to meet the training needs of a ‘duty holder’ 
or ‘responsible’ person for legionella control.   

11.2 Training include courses by BOHS (British Occupational Hygiene Society), City 
and Guilds, CIBSE or HABC around the requirements of ACoP L8 - 
‘Legionnaires’ disease: The control of legionella bacteria in water systems’. 

11.3 WLBC will ensure that only suitably competent consultants and contractors, 
registered members of the Legionella Control Association (LCA) or equivalent, 
are procured and appointed to undertake risk assessments, prepare written 
schemes of control and undertake works in respect of water hygiene and 
legionella control.  The operational team with responsibility for delivery will 
check the relevant qualifications of employees working for these contractors to 
ensure that all persons are appropriately qualified for the work that they are 
carrying out.  These checks will be undertaken on an annual basis and 
evidenced appropriately. 

12 Training  

12.1 This policy and the procedures that support it will be subject to a range of 
training across WLBC and will involve all relevant stakeholders.  The training 
will be bespoke to the individual stakeholders and refresher training will be 
provided as appropriate. 

12.2 Training will include team briefings for those employees who need to have a 
basic understanding and awareness of water hygiene safety but who may not 
be actively involved in the delivery of the water hygiene policy.  

12.3 On the job training, will be provided to those employees who will be responsible 
for managing the programme of water hygiene checks and repair works as part 
of their daily job. The nominated Duty Holder and manager(s) with lead 
responsibility for operational delivery will hold a recognised qualification in 
legionella control through the completion of a certified training course designed 
to meet the training needs of a ‘duty holder’ or ‘responsible’ person for 
legionella control. 

Page 1510



  Page 9 of 9 

12.4 Regular tool box talks will be given to operatives and WLBC contractor partners 
will do this in the form of appropriate Legionella prevention and water hygiene 
training and evidence the same. 

12.5 Monitors briefings will be provided to those employees involved in the 
monitoring of compliance performance in relation to water hygiene and 
legionella safety. 

13 Performance Reporting 

13.1 Robust key performance indicator (KPI) measures will be established and 
maintained to ensure WLBC is able to report on performance in relation to 
water hygiene / legionella safety.   

13.2 KPI measures will be produced and provided at the Council's most senior 
management team level on a regular basis and at Cabinet level within the 
performance suite of KPI's.  These KPI measures will include reporting on: 

 The number (and percentage) of properties covered by a valid ‘in date’ 
water hygiene risk assessment in place for all buildings owned or 
managed by WLBC which require one. 

13.3 The number (and percentage) of properties without a valid ‘in date’ water The 
number of RIDDOR notices issued with regards to water hygiene safety. 

13.4 WLBC will carry out independent third party quality assurance audits to 5% of 
written schemes of control, including all high-risk installations, to ensure that all 
control actions are being fully and robustly implemented. 

13.5 WLBC will carry out an independent audit of water hygiene and legionella 
safety at least once every five years.  This audit will specifically test for 
compliance with the regulation, legislation and codes of practice and identify 
any non-compliance issues for correction. 

14 Non-Compliance 

14.1 Any non-compliance issue identified at an operational level will be formally 
reported to the Director of Housing and Inclusion in the first instance. 

14.2 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will agree an appropriate course of 
corrective action with the operational team in order to address the non-
compliance issue and report details of the same to the Council's most senior 
management team. 

14.3 The Director of Housing and Inclusion will ensure the Cabinet are made aware 
of any non-compliance issue so they can consider the implications and take 
action as appropriate. 

Page 1511



  Page 10 of 9 

14.4 In cases of a serious non-compliance issue the Director of Housing and 
Inclusion and the relevant Portfolio Holder will consider whether it is necessary 
to disclose the issue to the Homes England in the spirit of co-regulation as part 
of the Regulatory Framework. 

 
 

Page 1512



APPENDIX F 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate: Housing and Inclusion Service: Property Services 

Completed by: Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey Date: 21.02.18 

Subject Title: Property Compliance Policies 

 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or revised Yes 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or cutback: Yes 

Is a commissioning plan or contract specification 
being developed: 

No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated: No 

Is a programme or project being planned: No 

Are recommendations being presented to senior 
managers and/or Councillors: 

Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our duties 
under the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector 
Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful 
discrimination/harassment, advancing equality 
of opportunity, fostering good relations): 

No 

Details of the matter under consideration:   
 
 
 

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 

N/A  

If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

N/A 
 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2 provide 
details of why there is no impact on these three 
groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this form. 

N/A 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, i.e. 
who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

Staff, Service Users, tenants and Councillors 
 

If the work being carried out relates to a universal 
service, who needs or uses it most? (Is there any 
particular group affected more than others)?  
 
 

N/A 
 
 
 

Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 
 

Page 1513



 

Age No 
Gender No 
Disability No 
Race and Culture No 
Sexual Orientation No 
Religion or Belief No 
Gender Reassignment No 

Marriage and Civil Partnership No 
Pregnancy and Maternity No 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 

N/A 
 
 

What will the impact of the work being carried out be 
on usage/the stakeholders? 

N/A 
 

What are people’s views about the services?  Are 
some customers more satisfied than others, and if 
so what are the reasons?  Can these be affected by 
the proposals? 

N/A 
 
 
 

What sources of data including consultation results 
have you used to analyse the impact of the work 
being carried out on users/stakeholders with 
protected characteristics? 

N/A 
 

If any further data/consultation is needed and is to 
be gathered, please specify:  

N/A 
 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people with 
particular protected characteristics (either positively 
or negatively or in terms of disproportionate 
impact)? 

N/A 
 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or desirable 
to take actions to reduce the impact, explain why 
this is the case (e.g. legislative or financial drivers 
etc.). 

N/A 
 
 
 

What actions do you plan to take to address any 
other issues above?  

No actions  

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and who will 
review it? 

On review of the policies by the Property 
Services Manager 

 

Page 1514



 

 
 

 
CABINET: 13 MARCH 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report of: Director of Housing & Inclusion 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor K. Wright  
 
Contact for further information: Mrs L. Lea (Extn. 5196)  

(E-mail: laura.lea@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017 
 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To inform Members of the changes to homelessness legislation being brought in 

by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and to put in place appropriate 
arrangements. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That the Director of Housing and Inclusion be authorised to implement the new 

powers contained within the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 
 
2.2 That the Homelessness Prevention Fund Policy 2018 (Appendix 1 to the report) 

be approved. 
 
2.3 That the Director of Housing and Inclusion be authorised to amend the policy 

approved at 2.2 to take account of any minor amendments as a result of 
legislative changes. 

 
2.4 That the call-in procedure is not appropriate for this item as processes need to 

be in established before the legislation comes into place in April 2018.  
 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Housing Act 1996 lays down the duties on Housing Authorities to prevent 

homelessness and provide assistance to people who are either threatened with 
homelessness or who are actually homeless. 

  

Page 1515

Agenda Item 7k

mailto:laura.lea@westlancs.gov.uk


3.2 The Homelessness Act 2002 and the Homelessness (Priority Need for 
Accommodation) (England) Order 2002 amended the Housing Act 1996. The 
amendments placed a duty on Housing Authorities to produce a homelessness 
strategy and extended the priority need categories. 

 
3.3 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (the Act) significantly reforms England's 

homelessness legislation by placing duties on Housing Authorities to intervene 
earlier to prevent homelessness in their areas and to provide a service to all 
those who are homeless, not just those who have a priority need. The Act is due 
to come into force on the 3 April 2018. 

 
 
4.0 CURRENT POSITION 
 
4.1 Under the Housing Act 1996 (as amended), the Council has a duty to provide 

advice and information about homelessness, the prevention of homelessness, 
the rights of those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness as well as 
the help that is available from either the Council or other services. 

 
4.2 A person is currently considered to be threatened with homelessness if they are 

likely to become homeless within 28 days. A person is considered to be 
homeless if they do not have accommodation anywhere in the world that they 
have a legal right to access, that they are able to access and that is reasonable 
for them to occupy. 

 
4.3 If the Council believes that a person is homeless or threatened with 

homelessness, it must make inquiries to see whether a duty is owed under Part 7 
of the 1996 Act. 

 
4.4 The duty owed to a person under the 1996 Act is dependent on the decision 

made based on the facts of the case. In order to determine the duty owed, the 
Council must decide whether the person is: 

 

 homeless or threatened with homelessness; 

 eligible for assistance (certain people from abroad are not eligible for assistance); 

 in priority need; 

 homeless intentionally or unintentionally; 
 
The Council can also take into account whether the person has a local 
connection to their area. 

 
4.5 The following table outlines the duty owed based on the decision made. 
 

Decision Duty Owed 

Unintentionally threatened with 
homelessness and in priority need 

To take reasonable steps to secure that 
accommodation does not cease to be 
available for the person's occupation. 
 
Where the Council cannot prevent the 
loss of the accommodation, the duty is to 
secure alternative suitable 
accommodation. 
 

Page 1516



Unintentionally threatened with 
homelessness but not in priority need  

Ensure that the person is provided with 
advice and assistance in any attempts 
he/she may make to secure that 
accommodation does not cease to be 
available for his/her occupation. 
 
There is also a power to take reasonable 
steps to secure that accommodation does 
not cease to be available for the person's 
occupation. 

Intentionally threatened with 
homelessness and has a priority need 

Ensure that the person is provided with 
advice and assistance in any attempts 
he/she may make to secure that 
accommodation does not cease to be 
available for his/her occupation. 

Unintentionally homeless and in priority 
need  

Secure that accommodation is available 
for occupation by the person and those 
who are reasonably expected to reside 
with him/her.  
 
Referred to as the main homelessness 
duty (duty to re-house). 

Unintentionally homeless, no priority need To provide advice and assistance in any 
attempts he or she may make to secure 
that accommodation becomes available 
for his or her occupation. 

Intentionally homeless and in priority 
need  

Secure that accommodation is available 
for the person's occupation for such a 
period as it considers will give him or her 
a reasonable opportunity of securing 
accommodation for his or her occupation 
(provision of temporary 
accommodation);  
 
and 
 
Provide the person with advice and 
assistance in any attempts he/she makes 
to secure that accommodation becomes 
available for his or her occupation. 

Intentionally homeless, no priority need Provide the person with advice and 
assistance in any attempts he or she may 
make to secure that accommodation 
becomes available for his or her 
occupation. 

 
4.6 Although some of the duties outlined above can be termed as prevention or relief 

duties, they are not regarded as such and a statutory homeless assessment has 
to be made and a decision recorded. Many of the true prevention and relief cases 
are dealt with before a person is considered to be threatened with homelessness, 
i.e. they approach the Council for assistance when they have more than 28 days 
remaining in their current property, and therefore they are not considered to be 
part of the statutory framework.  

Page 1517



 
4.7 Homelessness is considered to have been prevented where steps have been 

taken that have enabled the person to stay in their current accommodation or 
move into new accommodation before they actually become homeless. 

 
4.8 Homelessness is considered to have been relieved where the person is already 

homeless but steps are taken that directly lead to the person being provided with 
accommodation. 

 
 
5.0 HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017 
 
5.1 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (the Act) places a set of duties on 

Housing Authorities to intervene at an earlier stage to prevent homelessness and 
to take reasonable steps to prevent and relieve homelessness for all eligible 
applicants not just those that have priority need. The Act brings the prevention 
and relief duties into the statutory framework and makes prevention the main 
focus with the making of a statutory homeless decision (as outlined in the table 
above) a last resort. The intention is that the number of recorded prevention and 
relief cases will increase with the number of statutory decisions decreasing. 

 
5.2 The main changes brought in by the Act are as follows: 
 

 Improved advice and information about homelessness and the prevention 
of homelessness:- 

 
Services providing advice and information must be designed to meet the needs 
of particular groups for example, care leavers, people suffering with a mental 
illness or impairment and other groups identified as being at particular risk of 
homelessness. Housing Authorities will need to work with other relevant statutory 
and non-statutory service providers to identify groups at particular risk and to 
develop appropriate, accessible provision. 
 

 Extension of the period that someone is considered to be threatened with 
homelessness:- 

 
Under current legislation, a person is only considered to be threatened with 
homelessness if they are likely to become homeless within 28 days. Under the 
new Act, the period is extended to 56 days. A person will also be considered to 
be threatened with homelessness if they have been served with a valid section 
21 notice (notice to end a tenancy) that expires in 56 days or less. The extension 
aims to encourage Council's to act quickly and proactively and to allow more time 
for prevention work. 

 

 Introduction of new duties to prevent and relieve homelessness for all 
eligible people regardless of priority need and intentionality:- 

 
All eligible people who are found to be homeless or threatened with 
homelessness will be entitled to more tailored support from Housing Authorities, 
regardless of priority need and intentionality. Support will also be available to 
everyone, regardless of whether they have a local connection. 
 

Page 1518



Where accommodation is provided to prevent or relieve homelessness, the 
accommodation must be available to the person for at least 6 months. If it is not, 
homelessness will not be considered to have been prevented or relieved. 
 

 Introduction of a duty to refer on certain public authorities 
 

Under the Act, the public authorities specified in Regulations will be required to 
notify a Housing Authority of service users they consider may be homeless or 
threatened with homelessness within 56 days. They must obtain consent and 
allow the person to identify the Housing Authority the referral is to be made to. 
The implementation of the duty to refer has been delayed to October 2018 and 
Government will issue a list of the public bodies the duty applies to. 
   

 Introduction of personalised housing plans 
 

All eligible applicants who are homeless or threatened with homelessness must 
receive an assessment and a personalised housing plan must be developed. The 
assessment should include: 

 

 the circumstances that caused the applicant to become homeless or 
threatened with homelessness; 
 

 the housing the applicant needs and the type of accommodation that would 
be suitable; 
 

 whether the applicant needs support to obtain and keep accommodation 
 

The plan must set out the steps both the applicant and the Council must take to 
enable them to remain in or find suitable accommodation for example the Council 
agrees to provide financial support to access private rented accommodation and 
the applicant agrees to seek assistance with managing their finances. The plan 
must clearly set out which steps are mandatory and which are recommendations. 
 

5.3 There are seven circumstances under which the prevention and relief duties can 
be brought to an end: 

 

 the Council is satisfied that the applicant has suitable accommodation 
available for their occupation and there is a reasonable prospect that it will be 
available for at least 6 months 

 

 the Council has complied with the prevention or relief duty and 56 days have 
passed (regardless of whether the applicant is still threatened with 
homelessness in the case of the prevention duty or whether they have 
secured accommodation in the case of the relief duty) 

 

 the applicant has refused an offer of suitable accommodation and on the date 
of refusal, there was a reasonable prospect that suitable accommodation 
would be available for the minimum prescribed period 

 

 the applicant has become homeless intentionally from any accommodation 
that has been made available to them as a result of reasonable steps taken 
by the Council during the prevention or relief duty, whichever is relevant 

 

Page 1519



 the applicant is no longer eligible for assistance 
 

 the applicant has withdrawn their application for homelessness assistance 
 

 the applicant has deliberately and unreasonably refused to co-operate 
 

5.4 In addition to the seven circumstances above, the prevention duty will end where 
the applicant has become homeless, at this point the relief duty begins. The 
Council has a duty to try and relieve homelessness for 56 days. If the authority is 
satisfied that the applicant has a priority need and is homeless unintentionally, 
the relief duty can be brought to an end on day 57 by the issue of a statutory 
decision accepting the full housing duty. The relief duty can also be brought to an 
end on refusal of a final offer of accommodation. Where the housing authority is 
satisfied that the applicant does not have a priority need or has a priority need 
and is homeless intentionally, the relief duty ends, however, the Council has the 
discretion to continue the relief duty for a longer period. 

 
 
6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
  
6.1 The implementation of the Act will increase the number of people receiving 

advice and assistance at a much earlier stage thereby reducing the number of 
people becoming homeless.  

 
 
7.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are financial implications associated with the implementation of the Act. 

Changes to the way data is recorded and reported to Government means a new 
homelessness recording system is required. Government has announced that 
funding will be available to Councils to upgrade their IT packages due to the new 
homelessness reporting burdens and this will be available before the end of this 
financial year. 

 
7.2 In addition to new IT requirements, it is anticipated that additional staff may be 

required. A Homelessness Prevention Fund policy has been devised (attached 
as Appendix 1) and funds will be required to support the prevention tools listed in 
the policy. 

 
7.3 In recognition of the burden being placed on local Housing Authorities to 

implement the new Act, additional Government funding has been announced. 
The Council already receives a Homelessness Prevention Grant annually, the 
additional grant funding as outlined below has been committed by Government 
until 2019/20.  

 
 17/18 18/19 19/20 

Homelessness Prevention Grant £49,247 £49,416 £49,663 

Flexible Homelessness Support 
Grant 

£40,000 £40,000 £0.00 

New Burdens Funding £16,997 £15,569 £20,065 

Upgrading IT Systems TBC TBC TBC 

 
 

Page 1520



 
 
8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 The new Act provides an opportunity to assist those who are threatened with 

homelessness at a much earlier stage and provides funding to enable enhanced 
prevention work to take place. The Council has a legal duty to carry out the 
functions of the Act, failure to do so is a breach of the law and leaves the Council 
open to legal challenge, incurring costs and damaging the Council's reputation. 

 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and / 
or stakeholders; therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required.  A formal equality 
impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report, the results of which have 
been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this report. 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 Homelessness Prevention Fund Policy 2018 
 
Appendix 2 Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1521



Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION FUND POLICY 
 

2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 1522



1.0 Introduction  
 

1.1 The primary homelessness legislation is Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (the 
1996 Act). The 1996 Act was amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 and the 
Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) (England) Order 2002 and has 
been amended again by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  

 
1.2 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 places a duty on Local Authorities to 

intervene at an earlier stage to prevent homelessness in their area and to provide 
services to all those affected, not just those who have a 'priority need' for 
assistance.  

 
1.3 The purpose of the Homelessness Prevention Fund Policy 2018, is to outline the 

assistance available to residents to ensure that they are prevented from 
becoming homeless wherever possible.  

 
1.4 The options in the Policy are a guide to the assistance available and are not 

exhaustive. The Homelessness and Private Sector Housing Manager has the 
discretion to authorise the release of funds for any measures not outlined 
providing they achieve the aim of preventing or relieving homelessness.  

 
1.5 The options in the Policy are to be undertaken within the constraints of the 

available budget.  
 
 
2.0 Definitions 
 
2.1 A person is considered to be threatened with homelessness if they are likely to 

become homeless within 56 days. 
 
2.2 A person is considered to be homeless if they do not have accommodation that 

they have a legal right to occupy, which is accessible and physically available to 
them and their household and which it would be reasonable for them to continue 
to live in. The accommodation can be anywhere in the world. 

 
2.3 The prevention duty means that Council's must take reasonable steps to help 

prevent any eligible person (regardless of priority need status, intentionality or 
local connection) who is threatened with homelessness from becoming 
homeless. This means either helping them stay in their current accommodation 
or helping them find somewhere else to live before they become homeless. The 
prevention duty continues for 56 days unless it is brought to an end. 

 
2.4 The relief duty applies where the person is already homeless or becomes 

homeless despite the Council trying to prevent it. The reasonable steps will focus 
on helping the person to secure accommodation. If the Council believes that the 
person is eligible for assistance and has a priority need, they must be provided 
with interim accommodation. 

 
2.5 If homelessness is not successfully prevented or relieved and the person is 

eligible, in priority need and unintentionally homeless, the Council will owe them 
the main housing duty. This means the Council must ensure that suitable 
accommodation is available for the applicant and their household until the duty is 
brought to an end. 

Page 1523



3.0 Scheme Requirements 
 

3.1 A financial assessment must always be carried out prior to use of the fund being 
considered to ensure that the accommodation will be affordable and sustainable 
and that homelessness will either be prevented or relieved. 

 
3.2 Payments will not be authorised where it is clear that homelessness will not be 

prevented or relieved. 
  

3.3 Where the applicant has poor money management skills and this has led to the 
loss of accommodation or debts that threaten the security of the accommodation, 
access to the fund will only be considered if the applicant is prepared to engage 
with an agency or support service such as the Citizens Advice Bureau or Welfare 
Rights. 

 
Payments will be made directly to the landlord/agency concerned, no 
money will be given to the applicant. 

 
The Homelessness & Private Sector Housing Manager must approve all 
expenditure. 

 
 
4.0 Homelessness Advice 
 
4.1 The Council has a duty to provide advice and information about homelessness 

and the prevention of homelessness, the rights of homeless people or those at 
risk of homelessness and the help that is available. 

 
4.2 Advice is provided in a number of ways, residents can access the homeless 

pages of the Council's website www.weslancs.gov.uk, by telephoning the 
Homelessness Advice & Prevention Team or by a pre-arranged office 
appointment. Advice is also freely available from Citizens Advice Bureau 
www.citizensadvice.org.uk or Shelter www.shelter.org.uk 

 
4.3 The Council will provide advice free of charge, to anyone who requires it even if 

they would not be eligible for any other assistance under the 1996 Act. 
 
 
5.0 Initial Assessment 
 
5.1 Every person applying to the Council for assistance with housing (the applicant) 

who states that they are homeless or threatened with homelessness will be 
offered an initial assessment. The assessment is usually conducted at a pre-
arranged office interview and is important as it allows the Council to determine 
whether the applicant is homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

 
5.2 If the applicant is not eligible for assistance or is not homeless or threatened with 

homelessness within 56 days, written notification of the decision reached will be 
provided. 

 
5.3 If the Council is satisfied that the applicant is homeless or threatened with 

homelessness and eligible for assistance, a full assessment will be carried out 

Page 1524

http://www.weslancs.gov.uk/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
http://www.shelter.org.uk/


and the Council will make inquiries to see whether the applicant is owed a duty 
under the 1996 Act. The assessment will include: 

 
a) The circumstances that have caused the homelessness or threatened 

homelessness; 
 

b) The type of accommodation that will be suitable for the applicant and their 
household; 
 

c) The support needed to help them sustain accommodation 
 

The outcome of the assessment will inform the personalised housing plan. 
 
 
6.0 Personalised Housing Plans 
 
6.1 The personalised housing plan will identify the steps to be taken by both the 

applicant and the Council to help them retain or secure suitable accommodation. 
The steps will be tailored to the household and a copy of the plan will be 
provided. 

 
6.2 Examples of reasonable steps are: 
 

a) Attempting mediation/conciliation where an applicant is threatened with 
parent/family exclusion 

 
b) Assessing whether applicants with rent arrears might be entitled to discretionary 

housing payment 
 

c) Providing support to applicants, whether financial or otherwise to access private 
rented accommodation 

 
d) Assisting people at risk of violence and abuse wishing to stay safely in their 

home through provision of 'sanctuary' or other measures 
 

e) Helping people who are sleeping rough to secure an immediate safe place to 
stay  

 
6.3 Every effort should be made to secure the agreement of the applicant to their 

personalised housing plans as this will improve the likelihood of the plan being 
successful in preventing or relieving homelessness. If agreement cannot be 
reached, this should be recorded along with the reasons why it has not been 
agreed. 

 
6.4 The plan will be kept under review with any amendments notified to the applicant. 
 
6.5 The applicant has a right to request a review of the reasonable steps in the plan 

within the prevention and relief stages. 
 

The duty to prevent homelessness exists whether or not the applicant has 
a local connection to West Lancashire. 

 
 

Page 1525



 
 
7.0 Homelessness Prevention / Relief Tools 
 
7.1 Where the applicant has been assessed as being threatened with homelessness 

and is eligible for assistance, the following options can be considered to prevent 
or relieve the applicant's homelessness. The option(s) used will depend on the 
identified cause of the homelessness / threatened homelessness. These options 
are available irrespective of priority need or intentionality. 

 
 Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) 

 
Discretionary housing payments are available to help people who are in severe 
financial hardship or their tenancy is at risk, to pay their rent when their housing 
benefit does not cover the full amount of rent being charged. 

 
DHPs are typically provided on a temporary basis but longer term awards can be 
made provided they are reviewed on a regular basis. 

 
Advice on the availability of a DHP should be sought to enable the applicant to 
remain in their current home pending a full assessment of their financial 
circumstances or while alternative, more affordable accommodation is sought. 

 
 Disabled Adaptations 

 
Where the cause of the threatened homelessness is due to the current home being 
unsuitable due to adaptations being required, officers should consult with the Private 
Sector Housing Team on the likelihood of a disabled facilities grant being available 
to the applicant.  

 
 Sanctuary Scheme 

 
Where the cause of the threatened homelessness is domestic violence, an 
application to the Sanctuary Scheme should be considered. The scheme is available 
to applicants who wish to remain in their current home, where it is safe for them to 
do so, and where the perpetrator of the violence does not live at the address. 

 
 Payment of deposits on private rented accommodation 

 
Most private landlords require a cash deposit to be paid, usually equivalent to one 
months' rent. Since 6 April 2007, landlords have been legally required to protect 
such deposits in a Government backed tenancy deposit protection scheme. This 
means that landlords are not able to hold the deposit themselves (unless they are 
using an insurance backed scheme). 

 
Where the landlord requires a deposit to be paid, there are two options available: 

 

 Rent Deposit Guarantee Scheme 
 

Where the landlord will accept a written guarantee from the Council instead of 
asking for a cash deposit, the rent deposit guarantee scheme should be used. The 
Council will guarantee the deposit for a maximum of 12 months and is open to any 
eligible applicant who is owed a duty to prevent or relieve homelessness, 

Page 1526



irrespective of priority need, intentionality, local connection or the location of the 
property. 

 

 Payment of the deposit directly to the landlord 
 

Where the landlord will not accept a written guarantee, a cash deposit can be paid to 
the landlord subject to the following conditions: 

 
 Landlord must protect the deposit on receipt and provide evidence of this to the 

Council 
 

 The deposit must not equal more than 6 weeks' rent 
 

In both cases the property must be in a condition suitable to be let, all required 
certificates must be in place, the property must be affordable for the applicant, at 
least a 6 month tenancy must be offered. 

 
 Rent in advance 

 
Where the applicant is unable to meet the rent in advance requested by the landlord, 
this can be paid in addition to the deposit. The amount requested must not be more 
than one months' rent. 

 
 Lettings Agents Fees 

 
Where an applicant is being assisted into private rented accommodation but they are 
unable to meet the administration fee requested by the lettings agency, 
consideration can be given to providing that fee in addition to any deposit or months' 
rent in advance. The fees must be clearly provided to the Council and must be 
reasonable. Payment will not be covered where it is just to register the applicant with 
the agency. 

 
Government is expected to introduce new legislation banning letting agents' 
fees. This section will be updated once the legislation comes into effect. 
 
 Private Sector, Local Authority, Housing Association Rent Arrears or 

Mortgage Arrears 
 

Where the cause of the threatened homelessness is rent or mortgage arrears, a 
single payment can be made to the landlord / mortgage company in order to clear 
the arrears. 
 
In order to consider this option, officers must be satisfied that the cause of the 
arrears has been resolved i.e. was it the loss of a job  or a period of illness and the 
applicant is now in work, are benefits now being claimed that were not previously 
etc.  

 
Officers must also be satisfied that all other options have been considered or have 
failed i.e. lender assistance, any mortgage support schemes and the applicant is 
able to pay the rent / mortgage going forward and the landlord / mortgage company 
must be willing to withdraw any action. 

 

Page 1527



Where the property is privately rented and the current tenancy has expired or is due 
to expire, the landlord must agree to grant a new assured shorthold tenancy with a 
term of at least 6 months. 

  
Where appropriate, applicants should be referred to support agencies such as 
Citizens Advice Bureau or Welfare Rights to look at income maximisation and debt 
management. 

 
The maximum amount that can be paid in any one case to clear arrears is 
£5,000. Any amount above this must be approved by the Director of Housing 
and Inclusion.  

 
Where possible, all parties should be prepared to compromise on the debt owed. For 
example, payment could be offered to reduce arrears to a level below which the 
lender / landlord can take action without clearing in full. The lender / landlord could 
then consider writing off the remaining debt or setting up a payment plan to clear the 
remaining balance. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1528



Appendix 2 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate: Housing and Inclusion Service:  Homelessness & Private Sector 
Housing 

Completed by: Laura Lea Date: 1 December 2017 

Subject Title: Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

1. DESCRIPTION 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or revised: Yes 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or cutback: Yes 

Is a commissioning plan or contract specification 
being developed: 
 

No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated: 
 

No 

Is a programme or project being planned: 
 

No 

Are recommendations being presented to senior 
managers and/or Councillors: 
 

Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our duties 
under the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector 
Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful 
discrimination/harassment, advancing equality 
of opportunity, fostering good relations): 
 

No 

Details of the matter under consideration:  The implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 
 

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 

 *delete as appropriate 
Yes/No*  

If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on service 
users, staff or Councillors (stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

 
 
 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2 provide 
details of why there is no impact on these three 
groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this form. 

 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, i.e. 
who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

Members of the public who are threatened with 
homelessness or homeless 
 

If the work being carried out relates to a universal 
service, who needs or uses it most? (Is there any 
particular group affected more than others)?  
 

Single males aged 25-44 
 

Page 1529



Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 

 
 

Age Yes 
Gender No 
Disability Yes 
Race and Culture No 
Sexual Orientation No 
Religion or Belief No 
Gender Reassignment No 

Marriage and Civil Partnership No 
Pregnancy and Maternity No 

 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 
 

The majority of people currently presenting as 
homeless are single males aged 25-44 
 

What will the impact of the work being carried out be 
on usage/the stakeholders? 

Reduce the number of people becoming 
homeless  
 

What are people’s views about the services?  Are 
some customers more satisfied than others, and if 
so what are the reasons?  Can these be affected by 
the proposals? 
 

N/A 
 
 
 

What sources of data including consultation results 
have you used to analyse the impact of the work 
being carried out on users/stakeholders with 
protected characteristics? 
 

N/A 
 
 

If any further data/consultation is needed and is to 
be gathered, please specify:  
 

N/A 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people with 
particular protected characteristics (either positively 
or negatively or in terms of disproportionate 
impact)? 
 

The changes will increase the number of people 
receiving tailored advice to prevent them 
becoming homeless 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or desirable 
to take actions to reduce the impact, explain why 
this is the case (e.g. legislative or financial drivers 
etc.). 
 

This will be kept under review periodically 
 
 
 
 

What actions do you plan to take to address any 
other issues above?  

No actions 
 
 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and who will 
review it? 

Laura Lea – April 2019 
 

 

Page 1530



The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

 
 

WEST LANCASHIRE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN 
CONSTITUTION 6, RULE 15 (GENERAL EXCEPTION) 

 
 
To: Chairman of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
I hereby give notice that, in accordance with the above Regulations and 
Constitutional Rules the following matter is to be considered at the meeting of 
Cabinet scheduled to take place at the Council Offices, 52 Derby Street, Ormskirk on 
13 March 2018. 
 

“Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
 
 
The matter is likely to be the subject of a key decision, which has not been included 
on the Forward Plan and the general exception procedure set out at rule 15 of the 
Constitution cannot be followed.  In accordance with rule 16 of the Constitution the 
Leader has obtained the agreement of the Chairman of the Executive Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and this notice setting out the reasons that the decision is urgent 
and cannot reasonably be deferred is being made available on the Council’s website 
and at the offices of the Council.   
 
The reasons that the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred is that it 
is necessary in order to have processes in place before the legislation comes into 
place in April 2018. 
 
 
 
Dated:   14 February 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
Kim Webber 
Chief Executive 
 
 

 

Page 1531




	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 PUBLIC SPEAKING
	Public Speaking Form Dec 17

	5 MINUTES
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 28/02/2018 Cabinet
	Minutes


	6 FLOODING IN THE BOROUGH - ITEM REFERRED FROM CORPORATE & ENVIRONMENTAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
	7a Use of S106 Monies in Skelmersdale
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7b Risk Management
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	7c General Revenue Account Budget Monitoring
	7d HRA Revenue and Capital Monitoring
	7e Developing an Ormskirk Business Improvement District
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	7f Quarterly Performance Indicators (Q3 2017/18)
	ii_Q3_QPIs_17-18_AppendixA
	iii_Q3_QPIs_17-18_AppB1_R1Ctax_R3NNDR
	iv_Q3_QPIs_17-18_AppendixC_Implementation
	APPENDIX D

	7g Corporate Performance Management 2018/19
	Appendix A

	7h Council Plan 2018/19 - 2020/2021
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	7i Ormskirk Night Markets and Town Centre Events
	7j Property Compliance Policies
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F

	7k Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
	Homelessness Reduction Act Exception Notice


